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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

JANE ROE, et al.,

Plaintiffs,

v.

SFBSC MANAGEMENT, LLC, et al.,

Defendants.

______________________________________

JANE ROE 1 and 2, et al.,

Plaintiffs,

v.

DEJA VU SERVICES, et al.,

Defendants.

Civil Case No. 14-cv-03616-LB

Related to: 19-cv-03960-LB

RELEASE AND SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT

The Honorable Laurel Beeler

_____________________________________________________________________________
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RELEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

ARTICLE I

INTRODUCTION

1.1 This Release and Settlement Agreement (which, together with all attached exhibits,

is referred to collectively herein as the “Agreement”):

a) Is made and entered into to resolve Claims1 that have been brought, or could

have been brought, in two class and collective action lawsuits: Jane Roes 1-

2 v. SFBSC Management, LLC, Civil Case No. 3:14-cv-03616-LB (the “San

Francisco Action”), and Jane Roe 1 and 2 v. Deja Vu Services, Inc., et al.,

Civil Case No. 19-cv-03960-LB (the “San Diego Action,” together with the

San Francisco Action being the “Actions”);

b) Is by and between Plaintiffs Jane Roes 1 and 3 of the San Francisco Action

and Jane Roes 1 and 2 of the San Diego Action (sometimes the “Named

Plaintiffs” or the “Class Representatives”) on behalf of themselves and all

others similarly situated (the Named Plaintiffs and all Class Members are

collectively referred to hereinafter simply as the “Plaintiffs”), and

Defendants SFBSC Management, LLC (“SFBSC”), Deja Vu Services, Inc.

(“Services”), and Harry Mohney (“Mohney”), along with all of the

Defendant Entities identified in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated

by reference (SFBSC, Services, Mohney, and the Defendant Entities are

1 Capitalized terms and phrases contained in this Introduction are specifically defined in Article II
herein or elsewhere in this Agreement. Terms and phrases are underlined when they are first
defined in this Agreement.
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collectively referred to in the balance of this Agreement as the

“Defendants,” and shall be designated as such in the Amended Complaints

for Settlement); and

c) Settles – except for those matters specifically excluded from this Agreement

– collective Claims against the Released Defendants brought pursuant to the

provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act (29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. -- the

“FLSA”) and class action Claims against the Released Defendants under

various California labor, and labor-related, laws pursuant to Federal Rule of

Civil Procedure Rule 23 (“Rule 23”), as well as Claims brought on behalf

of the California Labor and Workforce Development Agency (“LWDA”)

under the California Private Attorney General Act, Labor Code § 2698 et.

seq. (“PAGA”). Upon execution of this Agreement, Final Approval by the

Court, and the Judgment becoming Final, it is the express intent of the

Parties to resolve all Released Claims during the Class Periods which were

brought (both initially and by way of the amendments permitted under this

Agreement), or which could have been brought based upon the facts pled,

by the Class Representatives, by all “Opt-in” Class Members who submit a

Consent to Join these Actions, and by all Class Members who fail to Opt-

Out of the Settlement and who therefore constitute part of the Rule 23

Settlement Class. The Settlement shall become fully operative upon the

Effective Date.

Case 3:14-cv-03616-LB   Document 239-1   Filed 02/11/22   Page 50 of 270



3

RELEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the promises and mutual

covenants contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the adequacy of which is

acknowledged, it is hereby agreed by and among the Parties as follows:

ARTICLE II

DEFINITIONS

As used in this Agreement, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings

specified in this Article II. Capitalized words and phrases contained in such definitions that have

not been previously explained are defined elsewhere later in this Agreement.

2.1 “Administrative Costs” means the administrative costs and expenses of the

Settlement incurred and charged by the Settlement Administrator. In order to provide for the

prompt and equitable distribution of all Settlement Payments, the full amount of the Administrative

Costs shall be predetermined and specifically set forth in the contract entered into with the

Settlement Administrator. The Notice and Administration Fund as defined herein is part of the

Administrative Costs.

2.2 “Amended Complaints for Settlement” means amended complaints in the San

Francisco Action and the San Diego Action, in all material respects identical to Exhibits B and C,

that are submitted in furtherance, and to effectuate the purposes and intent, of this Agreement.

2.3 “Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses Award” means the attorneys’ fees and

expenses/costs that may be awarded by the Court to Class Counsel to compensate them for their

attorneys’ fees and expenses/costs related to the Actions and obtaining this Settlement.

2.4 “CAFA Notice” means notice sent by Defendants that complies with the

requirements of the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005, 28 U.S.C. § 1711, et seq.
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2.5 “Cash Payment” means the amount of money to be paid pursuant to the terms of

this Agreement to a Cash Pool Recipient. Although the term “cash” is used, Cash Payments will

be paid via check, and may be paid and distributed in installments pursuant to the terms of this

Agreement.

2.6 “Cash Pool” means the amount of four million dollars ($4,000,000) and the amount

of the Unclaimed Dance Fee Pool, if any, that is to be made available by the Defendants to pay:

a) Settlement Class Members’ Cash Payments; b) the Enhancement Payments; c) the PAGA

Payments; d) the Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses Award; and e) the Administrative Costs.

2.7 “Cash Pool Recipient” means a Settlement Class Member who has not selected to

receive her Settlement Payment in the form of Dance Fee Payments through execution and Timely

Submission of a Properly Completed Dance Fee Payment Election Form.

2.8 “Claim(s)” means, when used alone herein and not as a part of another specifically

defined phrase, any and all past and present actions, demands, causes of action, suits, debts,

obligations, damages, and rights or other assertions of liability or wrongdoing, of any conceivable

kind, nature and description whatsoever, whether existing or potential, whether fixed or

contingent, whether currently asserted or not, recognized now or hereafter, and whether expected

or unexpected.

2.9 “Class” means the group of all Entertainers who Performed at one or more of the

Clubs at any time during the applicable Class Periods, but does not include those individuals who

provide or who have provided services as “headliner” or “feature” performers unless such

individual was otherwise a party to a Dancer Contract with one or more of the Clubs during the

Class Periods.
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2.10 “Class Counsel” means the law firms of The Tidrick Law Firm, LLP, and

specifically Joel Young and Steven Tidrick; Sommers Schwartz, P.C., and specifically attorneys

Trenton Kashima and Jason Thompson thereof; and Pitt McGehee Palmer & Rivers, P.C., and

specifically Megan Bonanni thereof.

2.11 “Class Member” means any individual who Performed as an Independent

Professional Entertainer (independent contractor) at one or more of the Clubs at any time during

the applicable Class Periods, but does not include those individuals who provide or who have

provided services as “headliner” or “feature” performers unless such individual was otherwise a

party to a Dancer Contract with a Club during the Class Periods.

2.12 “Class Notice” means a notice of settlement of class and collective action to be

submitted for review and approval by the Court as part of the motion for preliminary approval set

forth herein, which shall conform in all material respects to the document attached as Exhibit D.

2.13 “Class Notices” means the Class Notice, the Posted Notice, the Website Notice, the

Electronically Posted Notice, and the Social Media Notice, as well as any other notices to the Class

ordered or approved by the Court.

2.14 “Class Period(s)” means, for purposes of the Settlement and this Agreement: a) the

time period from August 8, 2010 to November 16, 2018 for Entertainers who Performed as

Independent Professional Entertainers (independent contractors) at one or more of the San

Francisco Clubs (the “San Francisco Class Period”); and b) the time period from February 8, 2017

to November 16, 2018 for Entertainers who Performed as Independent Professional Entertainers

(independent contractors) at one or more of the Greater California Clubs (the “Greater California

Class Period”). An Entertainer may be subject to both Class Periods if she Performed at one or
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more of the San Francisco Clubs during the San Francisco Class Period and at one or more of the

Greater California Club during the Greater California Class Period.

2.15 “Class Representatives” includes, in addition to those individuals identified above,

any other individual(s) duly appointed as additional or successor representatives of the Settlement

Class.

2.16 “Clubs” means collectively the San Francisco Clubs and the Greater California

Clubs defined herein, which are all identified on Exhibit A attached hereto, with each one being a

“Club.”

2.17 “Consent to Join” means a Class Member’s agreement to join these Actions as a

party plaintiff to the FLSA Claims asserted therein through either the issuance to her of a

Settlement Check or the Timely Submission of a Properly Completed Dance Fee Payment Election

Form.

2.18 “Court” means the United States District Court for the Northern District of

California.

2.19 “Dance Fee(s)” mean the established and published cost of personal entertainment

Performances or sessions engaged in by Entertainers at the Clubs negotiated between the Clubs

and Entertainers and set as mandatory charges that customers are required to pay in order to

purchase such Performances or sessions.

2.20 “Dance Fee Claim” mean the submission made by a Class Member using the Dance

Fee Payment Election Form on which she elects to receive her Settlement Payment in the form of

Dance Fee Payments.
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2.21 “Dance Fee Claimant” means a Settlement Class Member who Timely Submits a

Properly Completed Dance Fee Payment Election Form, whereby she elects to receive her

Settlement Payment in the form of Dance Fee Payments.

2.22 “Dance Fee Payments” means the amount of money to be paid to a Dance Fee

Claimant in the form of certain Dance Fees that would, but not for the terms of this Agreement, be

collected and retained by a Club as part of its gross income. Dance Fee Payments shall be paid to

Dance Fee Claimants as additional commissions.

2.23 “Dance Fee Payment Collection Period” means a period of one (1) year from the

Effective Date.

2.24 “Dance Fee Payment Election Form” means a form that is approved by the Court

in all material respects consistent with Exhibit E, through which Settlement Class Members may

elect to receive their Settlement Payment in the form of Dance Fee Payments.

2.25 “Dance Fee Payment Election Period” means a period of sixty (60) days from the

Notice Date.

2.26 “Dance Fee Payment Request Form” means a form in all material respects in

accordance with Exhibit F, that permits a Class Member to commence receiving her Dance Fee

Payments.

2.27 “Dance Fee Pool” means the total sum of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars

($500,000), that is to be made available during the Dance Fee Payment Collection Period to

Settlement Class Members who select to obtain their Settlement Payment in the form of Dance

Fee Payments. Unpaid Dance Fee Pool Payments (defined in Section 2.93) will be distributed to

Dance Fee Claimants pursuant to Section 7.6.
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2.28 “Dancer Contract” means a contract entered into between an Entertainer and a Club

which permitted or permits the Entertainer to Perform and to engage in the sale of personal

entertainment Performances or sessions for remuneration upon the Club’s premises.

2.29 “Date(s) of Performance” means a date during which an Entertainer Performs or

intends to Perform at a Club.

2.30 “Defendant Entities” means those business entities that are identified on the

attached Exhibit A, with each one being a “Defendant Entity.” Those entities are businesses that

currently are, or that at any time during the Class Periods were, or are or were alleged to be, as

may be applicable, either: a) Parties to an agreement or contract with Services or SFBSC whereby

they receive(d), or are alleged to have received, either consulting, management, or business

support services, or licensing rights, from either Services or SFBSC; b) Parties to an agreement or

contract with Global Licensing, Inc. (“Global”), whereby they receive(d), or are alleged to have

received, licensing rights from Global; c) owned, either wholly or in any part, directly or indirectly,

and in any manner, interest, or fashion whatsoever, by either Mohney or Jason Cash Mohney or

by any company or entity which they own or in which they have any interest or association

whatsoever; or d) tenants of Mohney or Jason Cash Mohney, either directly or indirectly, or of any

company or entity which Mohney or Jason Cash Mohney own or in which they have any interest

or association whatsoever.

2.31 “Defense Counsel” means the law firms of Long & Levit LLP, and specifically

Douglas Melton and Shane Cahill; Bowman and Brooke LLP, and specifically Tammara

Bokmuller; and Shafer & Associates, P.C., and specifically Bradley Shafer.
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2.32 “Due Diligence Declaration” means a declaration from the Settlement

Administrator verifying that the Class Notices required by this Agreement have been effectuated.

2.33 “Effective Date” means the day when Final Approval Order and Judgment have

both become Final.

2.34 “Electronically Posted Notice” means notice of the Settlement which shall conform

in all material respects to the document attached as Exhibit G attached hereto, which shall be

submitted to the Court for approval and which shall be used to communicate notice of the

Settlement through various online message boards and relevant organizations.

2.35 “Enhancement Payments” means the payments that are approved by the Court to

be paid to the Class Representatives and certain Settlement Class Members, and which shall be in

addition to their respective Settlement Payment.

2.36 “Entertainer(s)” means an individual who dances, Performs, and/or entertains, or

who has danced, Performed or entertained, on the premises of an exotic dance nightclub or

“gentlemen’s club” or other adult entertainment facility (including but not limited to one of the

Clubs).

2.37 “ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Securities Act of 1974, 29

U.S.C. § 1001 et seq.

2.38 “Exclusion/Objection Deadline” means the final date, established and set forth in

the Preliminary Approval Order, by which a Class Member may either: a) object to any aspect of

the Settlement; or b) request to be excluded from (to Opt-Out of) the Settlement.

2.39 “Fairness Hearing” means the hearing that is to take place after the entry of the

Preliminary Approval Order and after the Notice Date for purposes of determining whether the
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Agreement should be approved. The Fairness Hearing shall be set for a date that is in compliance

with the provisions of 28 U.S.C. § 1715(d).

2.40 “Final,” when referring to the Judgment, the Final Approval Order, or to the

Settlement, means that: a) the Judgment is a Final, appealable Judgment; and b) either i) no appeal

has been taken from the Judgment as of the date on which all times to appeal therefrom have

expired, or ii) an appeal or other review proceeding of the Judgment having been commenced,

such appeal or other review has been concluded and is no longer subject to review by any Court,

whether by way of appeal, petitions for rehearing or re-argument, petitions for rehearing en banc,

petitions for writ of certiorari, or otherwise, and such appeal or other review has been completed

in such manner that affirms the Judgment and the Final Approval Order in their entireties.

2.41 “Final Approval” means entry by the Court of both the Final Approval Order and

the Judgment.

2.42 “Final Approval Order” means the order of the Court memorializing its definitive,

complete, and non-contingent, approval of the Settlement in a form that is approved by and

acceptable to all Parties.

2.43 “FLSA Claims” means any and all Claims that a Settlement Class Member may

have against the Released Defendants, or against any one or group of them, under, or pursuant to,

the FLSA, including but not limited to Claims seeking wages (regular and/or overtime), tip returns,

damages, liquidated damages, attorneys’ fees, and/or costs.

2.44 “Form 1099 Payments” means the total compensation paid to a Settlement Class

Member by all Clubs in the aggregate during the respective Class Periods (as applicable to each

Club), as reflected in the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) Forms 1099-MISC issued to her and
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the Internal Revenue Service by the Clubs. For purposes of these calculations: a) all income

reflected in an IRS Form 1099-MISC for a calendar year shall be included irrespective of the fact

that part of the year may fall outside of the Class Periods; and b) Class Members who were not

issued any IRS Forms 1099-MISC during the Class Periods shall be assigned a Form 1099

Payment number of $599.

2.45 “Greater California Clubs” means those Clubs identified as such on Exhibit A;

those being Grapevine Entertainment, Inc., d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls; Cathay Entertainment, Inc.,

d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls; Nite Life East, LLC, d/b/a Little Darlings; Coldwater, LLC, d/b/a Deja

Vu Showgirls; 3610 Barnett Ave., LLC, d/b/a Adult Superstore; Jolar Cinema of San Diego, LTD,

d/b/a Jolar Cinema Showgirls; Showgirls of San Diego, Inc., d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls; Stockton

Enterprises, LLC, d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls; Hollywood & Vine Club, LLC, d/b/a Deja Vu

Showgirls; Deja Vu Showgirls-Sacramento, LLC, d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls; DV of LA, LLC, d/b/a

Deja Vu of LA – Main St.; and EF5 Acquisitions Group, LLC, d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls Torrance.

2.46 “IEAU” means the International Entertainment Adult Union.

2.47 “IPE” means Independent Professional Entertainer; that being an Entertainer who

Performed as an independent contractor or other form of non-employee, as opposed to working as

an employee.

2.48 “Judgment” means the final judgment to be entered in these Actions following entry

of the Final Approval Order in a form that is approved by and acceptable to all Parties.

2.49 “Legally Authorized Representative” means an administrator/administratrix,

personal representative, or executor/executrix of a deceased Class Member; a guardian,

conservator, or next friend of an incapacitated Class Member; and/or any other legally appointed
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Person responsible for handling the business affairs of a Class Member. All rights, duties and

obligations of Class Members, Settlement Class Members, Participating Class Members, and Class

Representatives as set forth in this Agreement extend to their Legally Authorized Representatives

as well.

2.50 “Limited National Settlement” means the settlement in the case of Jane Does 1-2

v. Déjà Vu Services, Civil Case No. 1:16-cv-10877, Eastern District of Michigan. A copy of the

Limited National Settlement will be available for review on the Settlement Website.

2.51 “Litigation Expenses” means any costs or expenses incurred by Class Counsel in

connection with the preparation, prosecution and resolution/settlement of these Actions, and

includes all Court-approved litigation costs and expenses.

2.52 “LWDA PAGA Payment” means that portion of the PAGA Payment that is to be

paid to the LWDA.

2.53 “Net Cash Fund” means the Cash Pool less the Enhancement Payments, the PAGA

Payments, the Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses Award, and the Administrative Costs.

2.54 “Notice and Administration Fund” means a non-refundable fund consisting of

$90,000 advanced by Defendants (which will constitute part of the Settlement Consideration if the

Settlement becomes Final) to be used by the Settlement Administrator to pay for the costs of

administering the Agreement. The monies paid by the Defendants into the Notice and

Administration Fund shall constitute part of the Administrative Costs and shall be deducted from

Defendants’ funding obligations of the Cash Pool. That amount spent up to the Fairness Hearing

will not be refunded to Defendants if Final Approval is not granted for any reason.
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2.55 “Notice Date” means the date of the initial mailing of the Notice Packet to Class

Members.

2.56 “Notice Packet” means the Class Notice and the Dance Fee Payment Election Form.

2.57 “Opt-Out” or “Opted-Out” means the mechanism for a Class Member to be

excluded from, or to opt-out of, the Settlement.

2.58 “Opt-Out Form” means a document in any fashion where a Class Member Timely-

Submits a writing expressing a clear intention to be excluded from the Settlement.

2.59 “Opt-Out List” means the list of all Class Members who Timely-Submitted an Opt-

Out Form.

2.60 “Opt-Out Period” means a period of at least sixty (60) days from the Notice Date

and as ordered by the Court in the Preliminary Approval Order.

2.61 “PAGA Claims” mean all civil penalties sought against the Defendants pursuant to

California’s Labor Code Private Attorneys General Act of 2004, Cal. Lab. Code § 2698, et seq.

2.62 “PAGA Payments” means all payments made in accordance with the terms of this

Agreement to resolve all PAGA Claims.

2.63 “Participating Class Member(s)” means those Class Members who are issued a

Settlement Check or who Timely Submit a Properly Completed Dance Fee Payment Election

Form. All Class Representatives are automatically considered to be a Participating Class Member.

2.64 “Participating Class Members’ Released Claims” means, for a Participating Class

Member, her Settlement Class Members’ Released Claims together with any and all FLSA Claims

she may have from the beginning of her applicable Class Period(s) up to and including November
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16, 2018, as well as any and all related attorneys’ fees and costs except as otherwise provided for

in this Agreement.

2.65 “Parties” mean, collectively, the Settlement Class Members and the Defendants,

and “Party” means any one of them.

2.66 “Perform(s),” “Performed,” “Performing,” and “Performances” means all acts of

entertaining, dancing, and/or engaging in entertainment services, and all activities related thereto,

at an exotic dance nightclub or “gentlemen’s club,” or other adult entertainment facility (including

but not limited to at the Clubs or at any one or group of them).

2.67 “Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, association, affiliate, joint

stock company, estate, trust, unincorporated association, entity, government and any political

subdivision thereof, or any other type of business or legal entity.

2.68 “Plan of Allocation” means the plan for allocating the Cash Payments, Dance Fee

Payments, and the Settlement Class Members’ PAGA Payments, between and among Settlement

Class Members as set forth in Articles VI and VII.

2.69 “Posted Notice” means a notification in a form attached as Exhibit H that is to be

submitted to the Court for approval, and that is to be posted in the Entertainer dressing room of

each Club announcing the existence of the Settlement and the ability of Class Members to obtain

remuneration in the form of Cash Payments or Dance Fee Payments.

2.70 “Preliminary Approval Date” means the date on which the Court enters the

Preliminary Approval Order.

2.71 “Preliminary Approval Order” means the order that the Class Representatives will

seek from the Court that preliminarily approves the Agreement and sets the Fairness Hearing.
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2.72 “Properly Completed” means, in terms of a Dance Fee Payment Election Form and

a Dance Fee Payment Request Form, that the document is dated and personally signed by the Class

Member (which can be done electronically for an electronic submission), and provides accurate –

to the best of the Settlement Class Member’s knowledge – answers/responses to all of the

information requested in the document. For a Dance Fee Payment Election Form, whether it is

Properly Completed shall be determined by the Settlement Administrator, and for a Dance Fee

Payment Request Form that decision shall be made by the Clubs.

2.73 “Released Claims” means the Settlement Class Members’ Released Claims and the

Participating Class Members’ Released Claims. Notwithstanding any other provision of this

Agreement, “Released Claims” do not include Claims for personal injuries, which Plaintiffs are

not releasing by way of the Settlement.

2.74 “Released Defendants” means the Defendants, together with each and every one of

their respective current, former, and future: Owners (either direct or indirect, including but not

limited to partners, shareholders, members, parent companies, holding companies, trusts and/or

trustees), officers, directors, managers, employees, agents, representatives, non-Entertainer

contractors, landlords, tenants, subtenants, insurers, reinsurers, attorneys (including but not limited

to Defense Counsel), auditors, accountants, bookkeepers, experts, subsidiaries, affiliates,

divisions, licensees, licensors, consultants, heirs, executors, personal representatives, predecessors

and successors in interest, and assigns, as well as any benefit plans sponsored or administered by

any of the proceeding individuals and entities.

2.75 “Reminder Notices” means a secondary mailing of Notice Packet to Class Members

and reposting of the Electronically Posted Notice.
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2.76 “San Diego Settlement” means a settlement previously agreed upon in the San

Diego Action that was presented to the San Diego Superior Court for approval, which was denied

without prejudice (prior to the San Diego Action being removed to federal court and then

transferred to this Court) in order to permit the parties thereto the opportunity to provide certain

specified supporting information requested by that court.

2.77 “San Francisco Clubs” means those Clubs identified as such on Exhibit A; those

being Chowder House, Inc., d/b/a Hungry I; Deja Vu – San Francisco, LLC, d/b/a Centerfolds;

San Francisco - Roaring 20’s, LLC, d/b/a Roaring 20’s; San Francisco - Garden of Eden, LLC,

d/b/a Garden of Eden; S.A.W. Entertainment, Ltd., d/b/a Larry Flynt’s Hustler Club; S.A.W.

Entertainment, Ltd., d/b/a the Condor Club; Deja Vu Showgirls of San Francisco, LLC, d/b/a Little

Darlings of San Francisco; Gold Club - SF, LLC, d/b/a Gold Club; Bijou-Century LLC, d/b/a New

Century Theatre; and BT California, LLC, d/b/a The Penthouse Club & Steakhouse (f/k/a

Showgirls).

2.78 “San Francisco Settlement” means the settlement approved by the decision of Roes

v. SFBSC Management, LLC, Case No. 14-cv-03616-LB (N.D. Cal. Sept. 14, 2017), 2017 WL

4073809, but reversed at 944 F.3d 1035 (9th Cir. 2019). A copy of the San Francisco Settlement

is available at ECF No. 126 in the San Francisco Action and will be available for review on the

Settlement Website.

2.79 “Settlement” means the compromise and settlement of the Actions embodied in this

Agreement.

2.80 “Settlement Administrator” means an independent settlement administrator

mutually agreed upon by the Parties and appointed by the Court.
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2.81 “Settlement Check” means any check issued by the Settlement Administrator to a

Settlement Class Member for her Cash Payment, Settlement Class Member’s PAGA Payment,

Unpaid Dance Fee Pool Payment, or Enhancement Payment.

2.82 “Settlement Class” means all Settlement Class Members, including the Class

Representatives.

2.83 “Settlement Class Member” means any Class Member who has not timely and

properly excluded herself from the Settlement (by having Timely Submitted an Opt-Out Form) as

provided for in this Agreement. “Settlement Class Members” refers to, collectively, all such Class

Members. All Class Representatives are automatically considered to be Settlement Class

Members.

2.84 “Settlement Class Members’ PAGA Payment” means that aggregate portion of the

PAGA Payments that is to be distributed by the Settlement Administrator, pursuant to and as part

of the Plan of Allocation, among Settlement Class Members. “Settlement Class Member’s PAGA

Payment” means that portion of the Settlement Class Members’ PAGA Payment that is to be

conveyed to a specific Settlement Class Member through the Plan of Allocation as provided for

herein.

2.85 “Settlement Class Members’ Released Claims” means any and all Claims pursuant

to any theory of recovery whatsoever (whether at law, in equity or otherwise, including but not

limited to Claims based in contract, tort, common law, federal, state or local law, statute, ordinance,

or regulation, and whether for compensatory, consequential, liquidated, punitive or exemplary

damages, statutory damages, penalties, fines, interest, attorneys’ fees, costs, or other

disbursements, including those that may have been incurred or billed by Class Counsel or any

Case 3:14-cv-03616-LB   Document 239-1   Filed 02/11/22   Page 65 of 270



18

RELEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

other counsel representing the Class Representatives or any Settlement Class Members), that a

Settlement Class Member has or may have against the Release Defendants, or against any one or

group of them, from the beginning of her applicable Class Period(s) up to and including November

16, 2018, that are asserted in the Actions or that are to be asserted in the Actions by way of the

Amended Complaints for Settlement contemplated in this Agreement, as well as any and all Claims

of any conceivable kind or nature whatsoever that are or could be based on the factual allegations

contained in such pleadings or that are reasonably related thereto (excepting only for FLSA

Claims), and specifically including:

a) Any and all Claims for unpaid wages including, without limitation, Claims

for minimum wage, regular wages, overtime, waiting time, final wages,

calculation of the correct overtime or regular rate, and meal period and rest

period payments/premiums;

b) Any and all Claims to recover any allegedly retained or confiscated tip,

gratuity or other payment, or portion thereof;

c) Any and all Claims for expense reimbursement;

d) Any and all Claims for uniform/costume costs and associated cleaning

expenses;

e) Any and all Claims pursuant to the California Labor Code, including but

not limited to Claims under or pursuant to California Labor Code sections

98.6, 132A, 200-204, 206.5, 207, 208, 210-214, 216, 218, 218.5, 218.6, 221,

222.5, 223, 225.5, 226, 226.3, 226.7, 226.8, 227, 227.3, 245-249, 351, 353,
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432.5, 450, 510, 512, 551-552, 558, 1174, 1174.5, 1182.12, 1194, 1194.2,

1194.3, 1197, 1197.1, 1198, 2698 et seq. (PAGA), 2753, 2802, and 2804;

f) Any and all Claims under or pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure

section 1021.5;

g) Any and all Claims under or pursuant to California Code of Regulations,

Title 8, sections 11010 and 11040;

h) Any and all Claims under or pursuant to any California Industrial Welfare

Commission Wage Orders;

i) Any and all Claims under or pursuant to California Business and

Professions Code sections 17200, et seq. and 17500;

j) Any and all Claims asserting unfair business practices or violations of

similar laws;

k) Any and all Claims under the National Labor Relations Act, 29 U.S.C. §

151 et seq.;

l) Any and all Claims asserting any form of retaliation predicated upon a

Settlement Class Member’s assertion that any of the Release Defendants

wrongfully terminated her Dancer Contract, right to Perform, or

employment, or otherwise retaliated against her, after she or any other

Person acting on her behalf, in her interest, or for here benefit, asserted a

Claim that she was misclassified as an independent contractor and/or as a

non-employee, or that other Entertainers were misclassified as independent
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contractors and/or as non-employees, and were therefore entitled to any

form of compensation or remuneration thereby;

m) Any and all other employment, wage, or labor-related Claims that could be

brought under any statute, ordinance, regulation, rule, order, or otherwise

against the Released Defendants, or against any one or group of them, that

arise out of, relate to, are associated with, are based upon, or concern, in any

way, manner, regard or fashion whatsoever, any act or omission as pled in

the Amended Complaints for Settlement that occurred during the Class

Periods, including but not limited to any Claims under any legal or equitable

theory as a result of the alleged violation of any federal, state, or local law

or regulation, Claims brought pursuant to breach of contract, Claims

brought pursuant to common law, Claims of unjust enrichment and/or

quantum meruit, and any and all Claims pursuant to, or derived from,

ERISA that arise, or may arise, from any alleged failure to pay wages,

including any Claims for benefits under any benefit plans subject to ERISA;

n) Any and all Claims, including common law Claims, arising out of or related

to the statutory causes of action described in this Section 2.85; and

o) Any and all Claims asserting breach of contract, violation of injunctive

relief, contempt, rescission, or otherwise, with regard to the terms of

previously executed Dancer Contracts or of the Limited National

Settlement, arising out of the required conversion of the Entertainers

Performing at the Clubs to employees as mandated by § 8.1 of the San Diego
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Settlement and as incorporated and modified by Article IX of this

Agreement.

2.86 “Settlement Consideration” means the total and aggregate financial benefit of the

Settlement through the Cash Payments, Enhancement Payments, Settlement Class Members’

PAGA Payment, and the Dance Fee Payments, all which confer a direct financial benefit on the

Settlement Class Members; changes to the Defendants’ business practices which conferred and

will confer a direct financial benefit to both Settlement Class Members and other Entertainers who

Performed or Perform in the Clubs subsequent to the close of the Class Periods; the LWDA PAGA

Payment that will confer a direct financial benefit on the LWDA; the Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses

Award; and the Administrative Costs.

2.87 “Settlement Payment” means the amount of direct monetary consideration that a

Settlement Class Member will receive under this Agreement, by way of either a Cash Payment or

Dance Fee Payments.

2.88 “Settlement Website” means a website created and maintained by the Settlement

Administrator to administer the Settlement.

2.89 “Social Media Notice” means a notice of the Settlement which shall be used in the

online advertising campaigns.

2.90 “Timely Submit(ted)” or “Timely Submission” means: a) when used in the context

of a Dance Fee Payment Election Form, either the mailing of the form by a Class Member to the

Settlement Administrator and post-marking, or the electronic submission to the Settlement

Administrator through the Settlement Website, within the Dance Fee Payment Election Period; b)

in the context of a Dance Fee Payment Request Form, submission of the form as prescribed by the
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Club within the Dance Fee Payment Collection Period; and c) in the context of an Opt-Out Form,

the mailing by a Class Member to the Settlement Administrator of the form, and post-marking,

within the Opt-Out Period, or the electronic submission of an Opt-Out Form to the Settlement

Administrator through the Settlement Website or via email within the Opt-Out Period.

2.91 “Unclaimed Dance Fee Pool” means the funds from the Dance Fee Pool that are

not claimed during the Dance Fee Payment Election Period.

2.92 “Unpaid Dance Fee Pool” means Dance Fee Payments that Dance Fee Claimants

do not obtain from the Dance Fee Pool during the Dance Fee Payment Collection Period.

2.93 “Unpaid Dance Fee Pool Payment” means the payment to a Dance Fee Claimant

by the Settlement Administrator from the Unpaid Dance Fee Pool for any Dance Fee Payments

which the Dance Fee Claimant is entitled to, but does not, obtain during the Dance Fee Payment

Collection Period.

2.94 “Website Notice” means a notice of the Settlement which shall conform in all

material respects to the Class Notice attached as Exhibit D which shall be posted on the Settlement

Website.

ARTICLE III

SUBMISSION OF THIS AGREEMENT TO THE COURT FOR REVIEW AND
APPROVAL; CONDITIONAL CONSOLIDATION AND CERTIFICATION OF THE
PROPOSED CLASS FOR SETTLEMENT PURPOSES ONLY; AND STIPULATION

REGARDING AMENDMENT OF THE COMPLAINTS

3.1 Submission of the Settlement for Court Approval. Promptly following execution

of this Agreement by Class Counsel and Defense Counsel, Plaintiffs shall submit to the Court a

motion for preliminary approval of the Settlement and to both consolidate the Actions and

provisionally certify the Class for purposes of settlement only. Contemporaneously thereof,
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Plaintiffs shall also, in accordance with Cal. Labor Code § 2699(l)(2), submit this Agreement to

the LWDA.

3.2 Provisional Consolidation of these Actions and Certification of the Settlement

Class. The Parties agree that Plaintiffs’ request for provisional consolidation of the Actions and

provisional certification of the Class as a collective action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and as a

Rule 23 Class are for settlement purposes only. Each Party agrees that this stipulation shall not be

used by any Person for any purpose whatsoever in any other legal, administrative, or arbitral

proceeding. Such matters may only be submitted in a proceeding to enforce the terms of this

Agreement. The Parties do not consent to consolidation of the Actions or certification of the

Settlement Class other than to effectuate the Settlement contemplated here.

3.3 Limitations of Provisional Consolidation and Certification. The Parties

acknowledge and agree that Defendants’ consent to provisional consolidation of the Actions and

certification of the Class for purposes of this Settlement only does not constitute an admission of

wrongdoing, fault, liability, or damage of any kind to the Named Plaintiffs or to any of the other

Class Members, or an acknowledgement or concession of the propriety of such consolidation or

class/collective certification.

3.4 Additional Actions to Obtain Approval of the Settlement. Solely for purposes of

implementing this Agreement and effectuating the proposed Settlement, the Parties agree that:

a) The Named Plaintiffs shall be permitted to file the Amended Complaints

for Settlement pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule 15(a)(2). The Amended

Complaints for Settlement shall be submitted concurrently with the

submission of the motion for preliminary approval of the Settlement so that
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such complaints may be filed promptly upon preliminary approval of the

Settlement by the Court. Obtaining the Court’s approval to file the

Amended Complaints for Settlement, and the subsequent prompt filing of

the Amended Complaints for Settlement, are material conditions of this

Agreement. The Parties agree that the filing of the Amended Complaints for

Settlement will streamline the settlement process and ensure that more

money can be paid to Settlement Class Members by saving the costs of

multiple notice and approval processes. The Parties further agree and

stipulate that Defendants may seek an order from the Court establishing that

the allegations in the Amended Complaints for Settlement, and by each and

every one of them, are deemed fully controverted by Defendants such that

no further responsive pleadings from Defendants are required; and

b) Defendants shall timely send, consistent with law, the CAFA Notice (which

shall be in a form approved by Class Counsel) to all appropriate federal and

state officials pursuant to the requirements of the Class Action Fairness Act,

20 U.S.C. § 1715(b).

3.5 The Provisional Nature of the Orders of Consolidation and Certification, and the

Filing of the Amended Complaints for Settlement. If, for any reason, the Settlement and Judgment

do not become Final, the Parties agree that the Court shall rescind and strike from the record as if

they had never been entered or filed, any order of consolidation, any order certifying the Settlement

Class (provisionally or otherwise), and the Amended Complaints for Settlement, and the operative

complaints in the Actions shall revert to the first amended complaints previously filed in the San
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Francisco Action and in the San Diego Action. In such event, no prejudice shall occur to any

motions of the Defendants’ against any of the Plaintiffs to the Actions (including “opt-ins”), and/or

against any intervenors or attempted intervenors to such Actions, to compel their Claims to

individual arbitration, and/or to reconsider rulings on such motions to arbitrate, that have been

filed by the Defendants or that may be filed by them in the future; meaning specifically that the

Court shall not find that Defendants have waived, as a result of this Settlement, any of their rights

to file and/or, as applicable, have adjudicated, all such motions on their merits.

3.6 Court Submissions. Any of the Parties, Class Counsel, Defense Counsel, and any

Person objecting to this Agreement, may file with the Court, as directed by the Court in its

Preliminary Approval Order, a written brief setting forth their respective positions regarding the

fairness of the Settlement. All submissions to the Court shall comply with the provisions set forth

in the applicable rules of the Court, as well as the dates established by the Court in its Preliminary

Approval Order.

3.7 Execution by Class Representatives of this Agreement. Prior to the Fairness

Hearing, all Class Representatives shall fully execute this Agreement. Pursuant to the Court’s

January 1, 2015 order in the San Francisco Action (ECF No. 32), Plaintiffs may execute the

Agreement filed with the Court using their pseudonyms. Plaintiffs will also provide Defense

Counsel an executed Agreement under their given names and Defense Counsel and Defendants

will maintain such Agreement as confidential unless disclosure is required to enforce this

Agreement.

3.8 The Fairness Hearing. At the Fairness Hearing, Class Counsel and the Class

Representatives shall request entry of the Final Approval Order and the Judgment.

Case 3:14-cv-03616-LB   Document 239-1   Filed 02/11/22   Page 73 of 270



26

RELEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

3.10 Statutory Compliance with Notification. Within ten (10) days of entry of the

Judgment and the Final Approval Order, Class Counsel shall, in accordance with Cal. Labor Code

§ 2699(l)(3), submit such documents to the LWDA.

3.11 Cooperation of the Parties. The Parties shall act in good faith to effectuate each

and every term of this Agreement in order to obtain both preliminary and Final Approval of this

Agreement (including the providing of Class Notices), to take all acts so that the Judgment

becomes Final, and to secure a prompt, complete, and Final resolution of the Settlement of these

Actions.

ARTICLE IV

CLASS NOTICE AND DANCE FEE PAYMENT ELECTION

4.1 Information to be Supplied by each Club as Identified in Exhibit A. Within thirty

(30) days of the Preliminary Approval Date, Defendants will provide the Settlement Administrator,

to the extent available in Defendants’ records, the following information:

4.1.1 Each Class Member’s legal name;

4.1.2 Each Class Member’s last known address;

4.1.3 Each Class Member’s last known email address;

4.1.4 Each Class Member’s last known phone number; and

4.1.5 The amount of Form 1099 Payments paid to each Class Member.

4.2 Confidentiality of Information. The Parties agree that the information to be

disclosed pursuant to Section 4.1 shall be deemed CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION in

accordance with Section 15.1. The Settlement Administrator shall be required to enter into an

agreement to keep such information confidential.
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4.3 Information to be Supplied by Class Counsel. Within thirty (30) days of the

Preliminary Approval Date, Class Counsel will provide the Settlement Administrator with a

suggested World Wide Web address of the settlement website that will be established by the

Settlement Administrator.

4.4 Effectuation of Class Notice. Within twenty (20) days of the Settlement

Administrator’s receipt of the information identified in Section 4.1, the Settlement Administrator

shall mail, and email where available, the Notice Packet to each Class Member. The envelope

containing the Notice Packet will identify the Settlement Administrator’s return address only and

shall not contain any Club-related information from which a reader of the envelope could glean

that it relates to the adult nightclub industry.

4.5 Return of Class Notice. If the Class Notice mailed to a Class Member is returned

within twenty-one (21) days of the initial mailing with a forwarding address provided by the Postal

Service, the Class Notice will be re-sent by the Settlement Administrator to the forwarding address

within seven (7) days of return. If no forwarding address is provided by the Postal Service, the

Settlement Administrator shall perform a skip trace on the Class Member using the National

Change of Address (“NCOA”) database, and, if an alternative address is found, the Class Notice

will be re-sent by the Settlement Administrator to the alternative address within seven (7) days of

discovery of the additional address. Irrespective of these matters, a Timely Submitted Opt-Out

Form (in accordance with Sections 2.90 and 11.3) must have been received by the Settlement

Administrator in order for a Class Member to have properly Opted-Out.

4.6 Posted Notice. Within twenty (20) days of the Settlement Administrator’s receipt

of the information identified in Section 4.1, Defendants shall prominently display four copies of
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no less than 8x11 size printed paper of the Posted Notice in each Club’s Entertainer dressing room.

The Posted Notice shall remain displayed until ninety (90) days after the date of filing the motion

for Final Approval.

4.7 The Website Notice. Within twenty (20) days of the Settlement Administrator’s

receipt of the information identified in Section 4.1, the Settlement Administrator shall post the

Website Notice on the Settlement Website.

4.8 The Electronically Posted Notice. Within twenty (20) days of the Settlement

Administrator’s receipt of the information identified in Section 4.1, the Settlement Administrator

shall effectuate the posting of the Electronically Posted Notice on StripperWeb.com in the

“Stripping (was Stripping General)” discussion thread,2 which shall continue to be posted for a

period of eight (8) weeks thereafter. Each weekly posting shall be titled “California ‘Deja Vu’

Class Action Settlement Information.” The following text shall be included in the posting: “For

more information please click on the following link.” The referenced link shall be a click-through

hyperlink to the Settlement Website. Within the same period as provided for in this Section, the

Settlement Administrator shall also contact the IEAU and request the IEAU to post the

Electronically Posted Notice (with hyperlink) on its message board and e-mail the same to their

subscriber list.3

2 Site last visited on Mar. 12, 2021. If this thread is unavailable at the time of posting, posting
shall be made in another thread on StripperWeb.com of a general discussion nature.

3 The IEAU’s website address is
https://www.entertainmentadultunion.com/index.cfm?zone=/unionactive/contact.cfm. Last
visited Mar. 12, 2021.
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4.9 The Social Media Notice. Within twenty (20) days of the Settlement

Administrator’s receipt of the information identified in Section 4.1, the Settlement Administrator

shall effectuate the posting of the Social Media Notice through an online advertising campaign

funded in the total amount of $10,000 (the “Social Media Notice Fund”), which shall run until the

Social Media Notice Fund is exhausted. The following text shall be included in the advertisements:

“You may be eligible for a class action settlement. For more information please click on the

following link.” The referenced link shall be a click-through hyperlink to the Settlement Website.

The advertising campaign for the Social Media Notice shall be directed by the Settlement

Administrator in a manner best suited to promote the Agreement.

4.10 Reminder Notices. No later than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of the Opt-

Out Period, the Settlement Administrator shall effectuate Reminder Notices in the following

manner:

a) Mail, and e-mail where available, the Notice Packet to each Class Member

whose address: i) the Settlement Administrator was provided pursuant to

Section 4.1; or ii) ascertained under Section 4.5, whichever is most accurate.

The envelope containing the Class Notice will identify the Settlement

Administrator’s return address only and shall not contain any Club-related

information from which a reader of the envelope could glean that it relates

to the adult nightclub industry;

b) Re-post the Electronically Posted Notice on StripperWeb.com in the

“Stripping (was Stripping General)” discussion thread in the form set forth

in Section 4.8; and
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c) Contact the IEAU and request the IEAU re-post the Electronically Posted

Notice on their message board and e-mail the Electronically Posted Notice

to their subscriber list a final time.

4.11 Submission of the Dance Fee Payment Election Form. If a Settlement Class

Member decides to obtain her Settlement Payment in the form of Dance Fee Payments as provided

for herein, she must Timely Submit to the Settlement Administrator a Fully Completed Dance Fee

Payment Election Form. For Settlement Class Members who do not Timely Submit a Properly

Completed Opt-Out Form and do not Timely Submit a Properly Completed Dance Fee Payment

Election Form, they will be presumed to have selected to obtain their Settlement Payment in the

form of Cash Payments. Class Representatives shall be considered to have selected to receive

Cash Payments.

4.12 Effect of Execution of the Dance Fee Payment Election Form. The Dance Fee

Payment Election Form, if Properly Completed and Timely Submitted to the Settlement

Administrator, shall serve as that Class Member’s Consent to Join as a party plaintiff to the FLSA

Claims asserted in the Actions pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and shall effect a full and complete

release of any and all FLSA Claims that the Class Member may have during the Class Periods

against the Released Defendants.

4.13 Distribution of Dance Fee Payment Election Forms. In order to document those

Settlement Class Members who have selected to receive their Settlement Payment in the form of

Dance Fee Payments, and in order to assist in the administration of such payments, within thirty

(30) days of the end of the Dance Fee Payment Election Period the Settlement Administrator shall
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send to Class Counsel and Defense Counsel all Properly Completed and Timely Submitted Dance

Fee Payment Election Forms.

4.14 Class Notice Verification. No later than thirty (30) days after the Settlement

Administrator has completed the effectuation of the Class Notices as set forth in Sections 4.4

through 4.10, and before the Fairness Hearing, the Settlement Administrator shall file with the

Court, through Class Counsel, the Due Diligence Declaration verifying that the Class Notices set

forth in those Sections have been effectuated.

ARTICLE V

SETTLEMENT CONSIDERATION AND TERMS OF PAYMENTS

5.1 The Value of the Settlement Consideration. The value of the Settlement

Consideration is five million five hundred thousand dollars ($5,500,000), consisting of Cash

Payments, Dance Fee Payments, Enhancement Payments, the PAGA Payments, the Attorneys’

Fees and Expenses Award, Administrative Costs, and changes to the Clubs’ business practices.

Under no circumstances (with the exception of the change in business practices set forth in Article

IX) shall Defendants be responsible for making payments or conveying other remunerations or

benefits of any kind that confer an aggregate financial benefit in excess of the amount of the

Settlement Consideration. The payment of the Settlement Consideration shall be inclusive of all

payments, costs, and fees (including attorney fees) required to be remitted by the Defendants

pursuant to the Settlement and this Agreement; all to be paid without reversion to the Defendants.

5.2 Summary of the Components of the Settlement Consideration. The components of

the Settlement Consideration are as follows:

a) Cash Pool: $4,000,000, plus the Unclaimed Dance Fee Pool (if any),
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consisting of:

i) Total Enhanced Payments of $35,000 as follows:

For the San Francisco Action:

For Roes 1 and 3: $5,000 each.

For Roes 2, 10, 11, 12 13, and 22: $3,000 each.

For the San Diego Action:

$5,000 each to Roes 1 and 2.

ii) Total PAGA Payments: $125,000 (75% of which will be allocated

as the LWDA PAGA Payment and the remaining 25% of which will

be allocated as the Settlement Class Members’ PAGA Payment).

iii) Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses Award as ordered by the Court.

iv) Administrative Costs: $90,000 (est.).

v) Cash Payments.

b) Dance Fee Pool: $500,000, minus the Unclaimed Dance Fee Pool (if any).

c) Changes to Defendants’ Business Practices: valued at a minimum of

$1,000,000.

5.3 Funding of the Cash Pool. Subject to the requirements of Section 5.4 and the

Settlement having obtained Final Approval from the Court, the Cash Pool shall be funded by the

Defendants as follows:

a) Defendants shall pay the Notice and Administrative Fund within five (5)

business days of the Preliminary Approval Date. Once Defendants have, as

set forth in this Section, paid the Initial Cash Pool Deposit as defined
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immediately below, any further bills from the Settlement Administrator,

whether part of the pre-determined Administrative Costs or additional

charges as approved by all Parties, shall be paid out of the Cash Pool as

funded by the Defendants;

b) The remainder of the Cash Pool shall be paid by the Defendants to the

Settlement Administrator as follows: i) an initial payment of two million

dollars ($2,000,000), no later than by March 1, 2022 (the “Initial Cash Pool

Deposit”); ii) the sum of one million dollars ($1,000,000) no later than by

March 1, 2023 (the “Second Cash Pool Deposit”); and iii) the balance of the

Cash Pool (including the Unclaimed Dance Fee Pool, if any) no later than

by March 1, 2024 (the “Final Cash Pool Deposit”). These payments, subject

to Section 5.4, shall be deposited by the Settlement Administrator in an

interest-bearing account and the timing requirements of these payments

shall apply regardless of the filing and pendency of any appeal(s) arising

from Final Approval; and

c) The Unpaid Dance Fee Pool by March 1, 2024, if the Dance Fee Payment

Period has ended by then; if not, within thirty (30) days of the expiration of

the Dance Fee Payment Collection Period.

5.4 Conditions for Funding of the Cash Pool. The timing of payments of the Cash Pool

as set forth in Section 5.3 are conditioned on at least seventy five percent (75%) of the Clubs being

permitted, under COVID-19 pandemic Executive Orders or other legal processes, to both operate

to at least seventy five percent (75%) of normal capacity and to present exotic dance entertainment,
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by January 1, 2022. If these conditions are not met, the Parties shall immediately petition the

Court to review this payment-timing issue and to decide whether Defendants are then able to

reasonably abide by the payment schedule as set forth in Section 5.3 and, if not, what a reasonable

payment schedule would be. The Court shall conduct any hearings or proceedings as it deems

necessary and appropriate, including the permitting of reasonable and pertinent discovery

requested by Class Counsel, and may require the Defendants to produce for inspection (in camera,

but subject to confidential review by Class Counsel) any documents that it determines to be

warranted in the circumstances, including but not limited to tax returns and profit and loss

statements of the Clubs. In no event shall any order of the Court arising out of such review require

payments that are accelerated from those set forth in Section 5.3. Moreover, nothing contained in

this Section shall permit the Court to alter or reduce the total Settlement Consideration, or any

aspect thereof, as set forth in Section 5.1; these provisions applying solely to the timing of funding

payments for the Cash Pool.

5.5 Timing of Distributions from the Cash Pool. The timing of distributions from the

Cash Pool shall be as follows:

5.5.1 No distributions from the Cash Pool shall be made by the Settlement

Administrator to Settlement Class Members (including to the Class Representatives), the

LWDA, or to Class Counsel, until the Effective Date.

5.5.2 In the event that no appeal is taken from the Judgment, distributions shall

be made by the Settlement Administrator: a) for the Enhancement Payments, the LWDA

PAGA Payment, fifty percent (50%) of the Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses Award, and the

initial installment payment to Cash Pool Recipients on a pro rata basis (the “First Cash
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Payment”) within thirty (30) days of the Initial Cash Pool Deposit being received by the

Settlement Administrator; b) twenty five percent (25%) of the Attorneys’ Fees and

Expenses Award and the second installment payment to Cash Pool Recipients on a pro rata

basis (the “Second Cash Payment”) within thirty (30) days of the Second Cash Pool

Deposit being received by the Settlement Administrator; and c) twenty five percent (25%)

of the Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses Award, the third installment payment to the Cash Pool

Recipients on a pro rata basis and the Settlement Class Members’ PAGA Payment (the

“Third Cash Payment”) within thirty (30) days of the Final Cash Pool Deposit being

received by the Settlement Administrator.

5.5.3 In the event that an appeal is taken from the Judgment and the Initial Cash

Pool Deposit, the Second Cash Pool Deposit, and the Final Cash Pool Deposit have all been

received by the Settlement Administrator by the Effective Date, distributions shall be made

by the Settlement Administrator for the Enhancement Payments, the PAGA Payments, the

Cash Payments, and the Attorneys Fees’ and Expenses Award within thirty (30) days of

the Effective Date.

5.5.4 In the event that an appeal is taken from the Judgment and only the Initial

Cash Pool Deposit has been received by the Settlement Administrator by the Effective

Date, distributions shall be made by the Settlement Administrator within 30 days of the

Effective Date for: a) the Enhancement Payments, b) the LWDA PAGA Payment, c) 50%

of the Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses Award, and d) the initial installment payment to the

Cash Pool Recipients on a pro rata basis. Distributions from the Second Cash Pool Deposit
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and Final Cash Pool Deposit shall be made by the Settlement Administrator in accordance

with Section 5.5.2.

5.5.5 In the event that an appeal is taken from the Judgment and the Initial Cash

Pool Deposit and Second Cash Pool Deposit have been received by the Settlement

Administrator by the Effective Date, distributions shall be made by the Settlement

Administrator within 30 days of the Effective Date for: a) the Enhancement Payments, b)

the LWDA PAGA Payment, c) seventy five percent (75%) of the Attorneys’ Fees and

Expenses Award, and the first and second cash installment payments to Cash Pool

Recipients on a pro rata basis. Distributions from the Final Cash Pool Deposit shall be

made by the Settlement Administrator in accordance with Section 5.5.2.

ARTICLE VI

PLAN OF ALLOCATION AND DISBURSEMENTS OF PAYMENTS AND PAGA
PAYMENTS

6.1 Information to Calculate Settlement Payments and Settlement Class Members’

PAGA Payments. The Settlement Administrator shall use the information provided by the

Defendants in accordance with Section 4.1 to determine the amount of each Settlement Class

Member’s Settlement Payment and Settlement Class Members’ PAGA Payment pursuant to the

terms of this Agreement.

6.2 The PAGA Payments. Defendants shall pay, as consideration for settlement of

alleged civil penalties due pursuant to PAGA, the sum of one hundred twenty-five thousand dollars

($125,000) which shall resolve all PAGA Claims. Seventy-five percent (75%) of this, or ninety-

three thousand seven hundred fifty dollars ($93,750), shall be paid out of the Cash Pool to the

LWDA (the LWDA PAGA Payment). The remaining twenty-five percent (25%), or thirty-one
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thousand two hundred fifty dollars ($31,250), shall be distributed out of the Cash Pool, in

accordance with the provisions of Section 6.3, to the Settlement Class Members as each Settlement

Class Member’s PAGA Payment.

6.3 Computation and Determination of Settlement Payments and Settlement Class

Members’ PAGA Payments. The Settlement Administrator shall determine each Settlement Class

Member’s Settlement Payment and Settlement Class Member’s PAGA Payment as follows:

6.3.1 The amount of a Settlement Class Member’s Settlement Payment shall be

determined on a pro rata basis by first dividing her Form 1099 Payments into the amount

of Form 1099s Payments received by all Settlement Class Members, and then multiplying

that number by the combined sum of the Net Cash Fund and the Dance Fee Pool. That

amount shall then constitute the Settlement Payment that the Settlement Class Member is

entitled to receive irrespective of whether she obtains a Cash Payment or decides to receive

Dance Fee Payments.

6.3.2 The amount of a Settlement Class Member’s PAGA Payment shall be

determined on a pro rata basis by first dividing her Form 1099 Payments into the amount

of Form 1099s Payments received by all Settlement Class Members, and then multiplying

that number by the Settlement Class Members’ PAGA Payment.

6.3.3 The Settlement Administrator shall provide the calculations for each

Settlement Class Member’s Settlement Payment and Settlement Class Member’s PAGA

Payment to the Class Counsel and Defense Counsel in writing within ten (10) days of the

Exclusion/Objection Deadline. The Parties shall notify the Settlement Administrator and

opposing counsel in writing of any objections thereto within five (5) business days of
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receipt of such calculations. Thereafter, Class Counsel and the Settlement Administrator

shall seek to resolve any objections.

6.4 Distributions of the Net Cash Fund. Distributions to Cash Pool Recipients shall be

made in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.5. All checks for Cash Payments, Settlement

Class Members’ PAGA Payments, Unpaid Dance Fee Pool Payments and Enhancement Payments

shall bear the endorsement: “By cashing this check, I acknowledge that I have released any claims

under the Fair Labor Standards Act that I may have against the Released Defendants in the

consolidated cases of Roes v. SFBSC, et al. and Roe v. Deja Vu Services, Inc., et al.

6.5 Effect of Negotiating Settlement Checks. The act of a Settlement Class Member in

negotiating any Settlement Check, irrespective of any endorsement, shall serve as that Class

Member’s Consent to Join as a party plaintiff to the FLSA Claims asserted in the Actions pursuant

to 29 U.S.C. §216(b).

6.6 Uncashed or Returned Settlement Checks. Settlement Class Members shall have

180 days from the date their Settlement Checks are dated to cash the same. Any checks that are

not cashed during that time shall be void. If any Settlement Checks are returned to the Settlement

Administrator, the Settlement Administrator shall endeavor to obtain a valid mailing address for

the Settlement Class Member and resend such check (or a replacement check if the original check

has expired or is close to expiring) to the new address. If the Settlement Administrator is unable

to obtain a valid mailing address of the Settlement Class Member to send out a Settlement Check

or if any Settlement Check remains uncashed after 180 days following the distribution of the

Settlement Check by the Settlement Administrator, the Settlement Administrator will deliver the

monies represented by the check to the California State Controller’s Unclaimed Property Fund
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with a description of the amount of unclaimed funds attributable to each Settlement Class Member

in a manner that avoids any reference to the names of the Defendants or exotic dancing.

6.7 Excess Claims. There can be no excess Settlement Payments (including Cash

Payments) or Settlement Class Members’ PAGA Payments under the Plan of Allocation because

Settlement Class Members shall share 100% of the available Net Cash Fund, Dance Fee Pool, and

Settlement Class Members’ PAGA Payment pursuant to the formulas described in, and provisions

of, this Article and Article VII.

ARTICLE VII

DANCE FEE PAYMENTS

7.1 The Dance Fee Pool and Allocations Therefrom: Defendants shall make five

hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) available for use as Dance Fee Payments that can be obtained

by Dance Fee Claimants subject to the terms herein. The amount of Dance Fee Payments allocated

to each Dance Fee Claimant shall be established by the Plan of Allocation set forth in Article VI,

Section 6.3.1. If more than five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) in Dance Fee Payments are

requested, then the Dance Fee Payments shall be calculated by: (1) dividing the Dance Fee

Claimant’s Form 1099 Payments into the amount of Form 1099s Payments received by all Dance

Fee Claimants; and (2) then multiplying that number by five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000).

As for the remaining sum of the Settlement Payment to which each Dance Fee Claimant would

have been entitled under Section 6.3.1, the Settlement Administrator shall distribute a Settlement

Check to each such Dance Fee Claimant for the balance. The Settlement Administrator shall issue

all such Settlement Checks within 30 days of the Final Cash Pool Deposit, or within 30 days of

the Effective Date, whichever is later.
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7.2 Prerequisites for Obtaining Dance Fee Payments: Dance Fee Payments may be

obtained by a Dance Fee Claimant at a Club of her choice (subject to the provisions of Section

7.8), but only at that one Club. Dance Fee Claimants may not “split” their Dance Fee Payments

among Clubs. Dance Fee Claimants are required to: a) schedule a Date of Performance at the Club

of her choice, and b) submit to the Club in a manner prescribed by it a Properly Completed Dance

Fee Payment Request Form—both at least seven (7) business days before she desires to Perform

and to obtain Dance Fee Payments in order to allow Defendants time to confirm her entitlement to

such Dance Fee Payments (including the fact that she has Timely Submitted a Dance Fee Payment

Election Form and is therefore barred from receiving a Cash Payment), the amount of Dance Fee

Payments to which she is entitled, and the existence of an employment relationship between the

Dance Fee Claimant and the Club. Defendants shall provide to Class Counsel on a monthly basis,

no later than the 10th day of each month during the Dance Fee Payment Collection Period,

electronic copies of the Dance Fee Payment Request Forms submitted during the prior calendar

month.

7.3 Acquisition of Dance Fee Payments. A Dance Fee Claimant is entitled to one

hundred percent (100%) of the Dance Fees that are generated from her entertainment services for

each Date of Performance after she has completed the prerequisites for obtaining Dance Fee

Payments as specified in Paragraph 7.2 until the total amount of her Dance Fee Payments is

reached. A Club may, however, limit the number of Dance Fee Claimants receiving Dance Fee

Payments on any one Date of Performance to seven (7) such Entertainers on a first come/first

served basis.
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7.4 Collecting Dance Fee Payments from Multiple Settlements. To the extent that a

Dance Fee Claimant is also entitled to Dance Fee Payments under the Limited National Settlement,

her collection of Dance Fee Payments shall first be ascribed to the Dance Fee Payments to which

she is entitled under the Limited National Settlement and then, after she has obtained all such

Dance Fee Payments, to the Dance Fee Payments she is entitled to under this Settlement.

7.5 Period for Obtaining Dance Fee Payments: Dance Fee Claimants must obtain all

of their Dance Fee Payments (they must have Performed all necessary Dates of Performance in

order to be entitled to the full amount of their Dance Fee Payments) no later than by the last day

of the Dance Fee Payment Collection Period. Regardless of whether Dance Fee Claimants have

fully exhausted the Dance Fee Pool, Dance Fee Claimants’ entitlement to obtain Dance Fee

Payments shall terminate at the expiration of the Dance Fee Payment Collection Period.

7.6 Unpaid Dance Fee Pool and Payments. If the full amount of the Dance Fee

Payments due a Dance Fee Claimant pursuant to the Plan of Allocation has not been completely

paid to her within the Dance Fee Payment Collection Period, then the unpaid amount shall be paid

by the Defendants to the Settlement Administrator by check within 30 days of expiration of the

Dance Fee Payment Collection Period, along with a report showing the Dance Fee Claimant’s

name and the amount of the Dance Fee Payments she received. The Settlement Administrator will

then send the specified Dance Fee Claimant a check for the unpaid amount within ten (10) days.

7.7 Unclaimed Dance Fee Pool: The Unclaimed Dance Fee Pool, if any, will be

allocated to the Cash Pool.

7.8 Performing at Defendant Entities: Nothing in this Agreement requires any Club to

open for business or remain in business so that a Dance Fee Claimant can obtain a Dance Fee
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Payment, or require that any Club permit a Dance Fee Claimant the right to Perform on its premises

in order to obtain Dance Fee Payments if she is not then an employee of the Club. If a Dance Fee

Claimant desires to Perform at a Club to obtain Dance Fee Payments pursuant to this Agreement

and she is not a current employee of that Club and that Club refuses to allow her to Perform for a

legitimate business reason, that Dance Fee Claimant may obtain Dance Fee Payments at another

Club or, at her option, she may select to obtain a Cash Payment pursuant to the terms of this

Agreement.

7.9 Audit and Data Rights: Throughout the existence of the Dance Fee Pool, Class

Counsel shall be provided reasonable access to data and records used to determine any Class

Member’s eligibility, the total amount of Dance Fee Payments that she may obtain, the amount of

Dance Fee Payments that she has been paid and that remain for her to obtain, and the total amount

of the Dance Fee Pool paid and remaining to be paid. In addition, Class Counsel will be provided

monthly statements identifying those Dance Fee Claimants who received Dance Fee Payments,

the amounts thereof, and the running balance of the Dance Fee Pool until it is depleted or otherwise

unavailable.

ARTICLE VIII

TAX CONSIDERATIONS OF THE SETTLEMENT

8.1 No Tax Advice Being Given. Class Counsel represent that they are not providing

any tax advice whatsoever to the Settlement Class Members in regard to the tax consequences, tax

reporting, and remittance obligations they have in regard to the payments conveyed to them

pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, beyond what is contained in this Article. The Class

Representatives and all Participating Class Members acknowledge the same. Each Settlement
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Class Member is obligated to obtain her own independent tax advice concerning the proper income

reporting and tax remittance obligations regarding the payments and/or other remuneration she

receives or obtains pursuant to this Agreement and shall further assume the responsibility of

remitting to the Internal Revenue Service and any other relevant taxing authorities (including the

State of California) any and all amounts required by law to be paid out of any monies received, or

other remuneration obtained, under this Agreement, without any contribution whatsoever from any

of the Released Defendants or Class Counsel except for the payment of Dance Fees which shall

be paid as additional employee commissions subject to all legal withholdings.

8.2 Tax Considerations of Settlement Payments and Dance Fee Payments. Each

Settlement Class Member acknowledges and agrees that the Cash Payment and Settlement Class

Member’s PAGA Payment conveyed to her under this Agreement do not constitute “wages” within

the meaning of § 3111(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, any other applicable provisions therein,

or any applicable state tax or revenue code. A Form (or Forms, as applicable) 1099-MISC shall

be issued, as required by law, by the Settlement Administrator to each Settlement Class Member

reflecting the Cash Payment and Settlement Class Member’s PAGA Payment made to her in

accordance with this Agreement, and copies of said forms shall be duly filed with the United States

Internal Revenue Service, with the California taxing authorities, and with any other applicable

state taxing authorities, and sent to Defendants for recordkeeping purposes.

8.3 Obligation to Report Tip Income. The Class Notices shall inform Settlement Class

Members of their obligation to report all tip income that they have earned, or will earn, as either

an IPE or employee, to the Clubs, to the IRS, and to state taxing authorities.
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ARTICLE IX

DEFENDANTS’ CHANGES OF BUSINESS PRACTICES, WHICH HAS AND WILL
CONFER A DIRECT AND SUBSTANTIAL FINANCIAL BENEFIT TO THE

SETTLEMENT CLASS

9.1 Conversion of Class Members and Entertainers to Employees. As a result of the

filing of the San Diego Action and settlement negotiations to resolve the same undertaken

between and among the plaintiffs thereof and the Defendants, the Clubs agreed to convert all

Class Members who were a party to a Dancer Contract with any one of the Clubs (and who

desired to continue to Perform at that Club) to, and to treat all Entertainers who would be

Performing in their facilities in the future as, employees in accordance with applicable law.

Pursuant to this Settlement and a prior iteration of it in the San Diego Action memorialized as the

San Diego Settlement, such conversion has already taken place, with the conversion process

having been completed by November 16, 2018. For Settlement Class Members and for other

Entertainers who commence or commenced Performing at a Club after the end of the Class

Periods, their employment has been on monetary terms that are at least as favorable as specified

for employee-Entertainers in the Limited National Settlement (§ 8.20 thereof, but with 40% dance

fee commissions) for the Greater California Clubs and in the San Francisco Settlement (§139

thereof, but with 40% dance fee commissions) for the San Francisco Clubs (collectively, the

“Enhanced Terms of Employment”); with these Enhanced Terms of Employment being available

to those qualified individuals through at least the one (1) year anniversary after the Final Approval

Date, subject to Section 9.10, which permits for conversion to non-employee status if permitted

by changes in the law. In such case, the monetary compensation paid by the Clubs to qualified

individuals shall not be less, if conversion occurs during such one (1) year period, than what
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would be afforded under the Enhanced Terms of Employment in this Section 9.1. Irrespective of

anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, the Enhanced Terms of Employment

provided for in this Agreement and in the Limited National Settlement shall not be binding upon

any legitimate third-party successor of any of the Defendants.

9.2 Employing Clubs. The Defendants may permit a Class Member to be an employee

of more than one Club or may limit her to employment to only a single Club. Similarly, the

Defendants may permit any Entertainer in the future to be an employee of more than one Club or

may limit her to employment only at a single Club of the Defendants’ choosing. Nothing

contained in this Agreement or in the Limited National Settlement shall require the Defendants

to permit any Class Member to work at more than one Club following the conversion of the

Entertainers who performed at the Clubs to employees in accordance with Section 9.1 above.

9.3 No Contract of Employment / “At Will” Employment Only. Nothing in this

Agreement shall constitute or require any contract of employment between any Class Member or

Entertainer and any Defendant. The employment terms set forth herein and in the Limited

National Settlement shall be “AT WILL,” and shall permit the Clubs to terminate the employment

of any Class Member or Entertainer for any reason not precluded by law (including for no specific

reason). Just by way of example only, the Clubs shall be permitted to terminate the employment

of any Class Member or Entertainer in the future if she fails to appear as scheduled, does not

abide by directives of management, or does not generate sufficient income for the Defendant-

employer to justify retaining her as an employee.

9.4 Rights of Class Members and Entertainers. Following the conversion to

employees as set forth in Section 9.1, Class Members and other subsequent Entertainers have
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been and will be eligible, as employees and as may be legally applicable, for Social Security,

Medicare, Worker’s Compensation and unemployment insurance, as well as to protection under

all federal, state and local laws applying to or affecting employees, including but not limited to,

as may be legally applicable, the National Labor Relations Act, Title VII of Civil Rights Act of

1964, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA), the Older Workers Benefits

Protection Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Family Medical Leave Act and the Fair

Labor Standards Act, for claims arising out of, or related in any way to, their employment or

separation of employment save only for the limitations provided for in this Agreement.

9.5 Rights of Defendant-Employers. Nothing contained in this Agreement or in the

Limited National Settlement shall be construed in any way to restrict the rights of the Defendants

as employers that they can exercise over Class Members and any Entertainers hired as employees.

Just by way of example only and in no way restricting the rights of the Defendants, the Clubs

may impose training; set performance goals; establish appearance standards; regulate clothing

and costuming; determine work schedules and hours of work; establish and modify job

responsibilities; select the music to which Entertainers Perform; mandate Performing for certain

customers; determine the nature, content, character, manner and means of Performances; require

the participation in advertising; require attendance at meetings; set meal and rest breaks; require

the execution of arbitration agreements with class and collective action waivers; and the like.

9.6 Prerequisites to Employment. Prior to conversion to employees as set forth in

Section 9.1, all Class Members who desired to continue to Perform in one or more of the Club

have been and shall be required to remit to the Club or Clubs at which they are to be employed,

all information, documents and materials that are legally required as a condition for employment
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(including but not limited valid identification, valid Social Security Card or other documentation

permitting the Class Member to work in the United States, I-9, and W-4). Nothing contained in

this Agreement shall require a Club to hire a Class Member as an employee who does not possess,

has not produced, or has not remitted, as applicable, all such required information, documents

and materials, and nothing contained in this Agreement permits a Class Member to continue to

Perform at a Club as an IPE following the date on which Defendants converted Entertainers

Performing in the Clubs to employees as set forth in Section 9.1.

9.7 Financial Viability of the Clubs. Nothing in this Agreement shall require any Club

to remain open for business following the conversion of Entertainers and Class Members to

employees or to present female performance dance entertainment upon its premises; the Parties

acknowledging that some of the Clubs may not be able to operate in a financially profitable

manner following the conversion of the Entertainers and Class Members to employee status or

may have to remain closed following the Covid-19 global pandemic. If any Club in fact closes

and that closure precludes a Dance Fee Claimant from being able to avail herself to Dance Fee

Payments, Defendants shall cure that problem by offering reasonable access to other Clubs that

are open.

9.8 Verification of Conversion. Until the date of the Final Approval Order, Class

Counsel will be permitted, and shall undertake steps, to verify that the conversion to employees

of the Class Members (and other Entertainers who may have started, or who may start Performing

at the Clubs after conversion) has in fact taken place. Verification will consist of, at a minimum,

Defendants providing Class Counsel with a schedule of conversion dates and a representative

sample of paychecks and other documents demonstrating conversion; accompanied (by Defense
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Counsel or their designees) site visits by Class Counsel to any of the Clubs identified on Exhibit

A; and interviews by Class Counsel with any Entertainers of their choosing who are then

Performing in one or more of the Clubs. All fees and costs associated with the obligations of

Class Counsel pursuant to this Section 9.8 shall be exclusively borne by Class Counsel but may

be included as part of their request for the Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses Award.

9.9 No Violations of Prior Settlements. The Parties acknowledge and agree that

nothing contained in this Agreement, and in particular the terms of Section 9.1 that required

conversion of the Entertainers and Class Members still Performing in the Clubs to be employees,

shall be considered to constitute a violation or breach of the terms of the Limited National

Settlement, and more specifically of the terms set forth in Article VIII thereof.

9.10 Changes of Law. Only in the event that there is a change of law in the State of

California in the future concerning the distinction between employees and independent

contractors that modifies or invalidates, in whole or in part, the “ABC” test adopted in Dynamex

Operations West, Inc. v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County, (2018) 4 Cal.5th 903 and

subsequently codified by statute, and/or that modifies, clarifies or specifies either those workers

who may be subject to the “ABC” test adopted in Dynamex or subsequently in statute, or any

exemptions therefrom, including changes by legislation, regulation, wage order adoption or the

judiciary, shall the Clubs be permitted to alter their relationship with the Entertainers who

perform in their facilities back to the way it existed prior to the conversion process, or to any

other structure or relationship that they believe complies with the then-existing law.

9.11 Interpretation and Construction of the Limited National Settlement. The Parties

agree that the Limited National Settlement shall be interpreted and construed to permit California
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Entertainers who are entitled to claim Secondary Pool Remuneration thereunder to obtain Dance

Fee Payments from that settlement (the Limited National Settlement) even though they may be

employees of a Club under the terms of this Settlement. Accordingly, Class Members who are

entitled to obtain Secondary Pool Remuneration from the Limited National Settlement shall be

entitled to, at the same time, both the enhanced terms of employment as set forth in Section 9.1

hereof and Section 8.20 of the Limited National Settlement (including but not limited to dance

fee commissions) and their Secondary Pool Remuneration available pursuant to the terms of the

Limited National Settlement.

9.12 Right to Modify the Terms of this Article. The Clubs maintain the right, during

the time periods established for the Enhanced Terms of Employment set forth in Section 9.1, to

make further changes to their business practices so long as such changes do not materially and

adversely undermine the monetary terms set forth in this Article or run afoul of any valid laws

covering the Entertainers as employees.

9.13 Injunctive Relief. In the Final Approval Order, the Court shall grant injunctive

relief to compel the Defendants to comply with, and to continue to comply with, all terms of this

Article.

ARTICLE X

ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND EXPENSES AWARD, CLASS REPRESENTATIVE
ENHANCEMENT PAYMENTS, AND ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS

10.1 Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses Award. As directed by the Court’s Preliminary

Approval Order, Class Counsel will apply to the Court for an award of: (1) attorneys’ fees in an

amount that does not exceed thirty-five percent (35%) of the Settlement Consideration; and (2) up

to eighty thousand dollars ($80,000) in Litigation Expenses.
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10.2 Limitations on and of the Attorneys’ Fee and Expense Award. The disposition of

Class Counsels’ applications for an Attorneys’ Fees and Expense Award is within the sound

discretion of the Court. Any disapproval or modification by the Court of such applications shall

not: a) affect the enforceability of the Settlement or this Agreement, b) provide any of the Parties

with the right to terminate the Settlement or this Agreement, or c) impose any obligation on the

Defendants to increase the Settlement Consideration extended in connection with the Settlement,

including but not limited to the total amount of the Cash Pool as provide for herein.

10.3 Litigation Expenses. With the exception of the payment(s) for the Attorneys’ Fees

and Expenses Award made pursuant to order of the Court, all other Litigation Expenses incurred

by Class Counsel in connection with investigating the bases for, filing and prosecuting these

Actions (including for all appeals and settlement processes, including mediations), and

administering the Settlement, shall be borne exclusively by Class Counsel.

10.4 Enhancement Payments. Class Counsel may apply to the Court for an incentive

award for various Settlement Class Members (to be paid in addition to their allocated portion of

the Net Cash Fund and their Settlement Class Member’s PAGA Payment). Subject to Court

approval, the Enhancement Payments will be in recognition of the time, efforts, and expenses

incurred by each individual in coming forward, assisting in the prosecution of these Actions, and

securing the Settlement as embodied in this Agreement. Enhancement Payments shall be

considered non-wage income for which an IRS Form 1099-MISC will be issued by the Settlement

Administrator, as required by law, to each Settlement Class Member receiving such a payment.
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10.5 Payment of Administrative Costs. Defendants shall pay, through remittances to the

Settlement Administrator and out of and as part of the Cash Pool, the Administrative Costs in

accordance with the terms herein.

ARTICLE XI

OBJECTIONS AND OPT-OUTS

11.1 Objections to Settlement. All objections to the Settlement must be in writing and

must be filed with the Court in accordance with the Court’s Preliminary Approval Order. All

objections not filed electronically with the Court must be mailed to both Class Counsel and

Defense Counsel. All Class Representatives waive the right to object to the Settlement.

11.2 Procedures for Objections. The procedures of objection shall be as set forth in the

Preliminary Approval Order.

11.3 Opting Out of the Settlement. Any Class Member who wishes to be excluded from

the Settlement must Timely Submit to the Settlement Administrator, at the address that is set forth

in the Class Notice, a written request for exclusion from the Settlement personally signed by the

Class Member or her Legally Authorized Representative (the Opt-Out Form). Any Class Member

may also submit a written request for exclusion from the Settlement (the Opt-Out Form) to the

Settlement Administrator through the Settlement Website or via email. The Settlement

Administrator shall date-stamp the original of any Opt-Out Form and serve copies thereof on both

Class Counsel and Defense Counsel via electronic mail within five (5) business days of the receipt

of any such form.

11.4 Failure to Properly Opt-Out and Opt-Out Limitations. Any Class Member who

does not express her clear and unequivocal intention to be excluded from the Settlement, and
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Timely Submit her notice of her intention to Opt-Out of the Settlement, will be deemed to be a

Settlement Class Member. All Class Representatives waive any right to Opt-Out of the Settlement.

11.5 Notification to Counsel of Opt-Outs. Within ten (10) days following the conclusion

of the Opt-Out Period, the Settlement Administrator shall provide Class Counsel and Defense

Counsel with the Opt-Out List. The contents of the Opt-Out List shall be designated as

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION in accordance with Section 15.1 and shall be submitted by

Class Counsel to the Court, before the Fairness Hearing, UNDER SEAL in order to protect the

confidentiality of those Class Members who have Opted Out.

ARTICLE XII

RELEASES AND COVENANTS

12.1 Scope of Releases. The Released Claims against each and every one of the

Released Defendants shall be fully and finally released and dismissed with prejudice and on the

merits (without an award of fees or costs to any Party other than as provided for in this Agreement)

upon the Effective Date. The Released Claims shall be construed as broadly as possible to effect

complete finality over the Actions and the Claims asserted, or that could have been asserted,

therein.

12.2 Release of Released Defendants. The Settlement Class Members, individually and

on behalf of their heirs, estates, trustees, executors, administrators, representatives, agents,

successors, and assigns, and anyone claiming through them, or acting or purporting to act on their

behalf, for their benefit, or in their interest, hereby knowingly and voluntarily forever release,

relinquish, acquit, discharge, and hold harmless, each and every one of the Released Defendants

from, and covenant not to sue each and every one of the Released Defendants regarding, each and
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every one of the Settlement Class Members’ Released Claims (in the case of the Settlement Class

Members) and the Participating Class Members’ Released Claims (in the case of the Participating

Class Members); and they further agree that they shall not now or hereafter initiate, maintain, or

assert any Settlement Class Members’ Released Claims (in the case of the Settlement Class

Members) or any Participating Class Members’ Released Claims (in the case of the Participating

Class Members) against the Released Defendants, or against any one or group of them, in any

other court action or before any administrative body, tribunal, arbitration panel, or other

adjudicating body. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Settlement Class Members retain the right to

bring Claims based upon violations of the terms of this Agreement.

12.3 Waiver of Released Claims. For and in return of the complete and full considerations,

terms, covenants and conditions as set forth in this Agreement, the Settlement Class Members, and

each and every one of them, further specifically agree to waive each and all of their rights to bring

any of the Released Claims at any time in the future arising out of, relating to, associated with, based

upon, or concerning, in any way, manner, regard, or fashion whatsoever, the Settlement Class

Members’ Released Claims (for Settlement Class Members) and the Participating Class Members’

Released Claims (for Participating Class Members).

12.4 Release of FLSA Claims. With respect to those Claims that could be asserted under

the FLSA, a Class Member’s Timely Submission of a Properly Completed Dance Fee Payment

Election Form or the issuance to her of any Settlement Check shall fully, finally, and forever settle

and release any and all FLSA Claims that she may have up to and including November 16, 2018.

12.5 Claims Barred and Enjoined. All Settlement Class Members shall be permanently

barred and enjoined from initiating, asserting, or prosecuting against the Released Defendants, or
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against any one or group of them, in any federal or state court or before any administrative body,

tribunal, arbitration panel, or other adjudicating body, any and all of the Settlement Class

Members’ Released Claims (in the case of the Settlement Class Members) and any and all of the

Participating Class Members’ Released Claims (in the case of the Participating Class Members),

as all such claims have been fully satisfied through the terms of this Agreement. The Court shall

retain jurisdiction to enforce the provisions of this Section.

12.6 Waiver of Additional Compensation. Irrespective of the releases, waivers, and

satisfactions set forth herein, if any court, tribunal, firm, third person or persons, business entity, or

governmental entity, organization or agency, brings, asserts, or assumes jurisdiction over any form of

investigation, proceeding, lawsuit, claim, charge or cause of action by, for or on behalf of any

Settlement Class Member, and/or in her interest or for her benefit, either in whole or in part, against

the Released Defendants, or against any one or group of them, arising out of, relating to, associated

with, based upon, or concerning, in any way, manner, regard, or fashion whatsoever, the Settlement

Class Members’ Released Claims or the Participating Class Members’ Released Claims, such

Settlement Class Member or Participating Class Member, as applicable, shall not seek to enforce,

recover or collect upon any damages, awards, remunerations, sanctions, penalties, fines, costs and/or

attorney fees assessed against the Released Defendants, or against any one or group of them, and shall

reasonably cooperate with any request from the Released Defendants, at the Released Defendants’

cost, to demand the dismissal, with prejudice, of any such investigation, proceeding, lawsuit, claim,

charge, or cause of action, and/or, as may be appropriate, her withdrawal therefrom (by way of

example and without limitation, “withdrawal” includes, where applicable, a formal written request

for withdrawal of, or non-participation in, an administrative proceeding, formally “opting”-out of an
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opt out class action lawsuit, and refraining from formally “opting”-in to an opt-in class or collective

action matter). In the event, however, that any court, tribunal, or governmental entity, organization

or agency should assess any damages, awards, remunerations, sanctions, penalties, fines, costs, and/or

attorney fees of any kind whatsoever against any Released Defendant beyond the relief provide for in

this Agreement (in this Section, sometimes generally hereinafter simply referred to as “Award”)

arising out of, relating to, associated with, based upon, or concerning, in any way, manner, regard, or

fashion whatsoever the Settlement Class Members’ Released Claims or the Participating Class

Members’ Released Claims, the Settlement Class Members and the Participating Class Members, as

applicable, and each and every one of them, agree to specifically waive entitlement to, and refrain

from collecting upon, any such Award.

12.7 Sufficiency of Consideration. The Class Representatives specifically represent that

sufficient and adequate consideration is being conveyed to them and to the Settlement Class through

this Agreement and the Settlement to support the Settlement Class Members’ Released Claims.

12.8 Acknowledgement of Other Claims. The Class Representatives, and each and every

one of them, specifically represent that to their own personal knowledge: a) There are no other

lawsuits, Claims, charges, actions, proceedings, investigations, cause, and/or causes of actions of any

kind whatsoever, other than those that are set forth in Plaintiffs’ Complaints on file and in any

amendments to be filed as part of this Settlement, or as otherwise previously disclosed in writing to

the Defendants, pending or anticipated against the Released Defendants, or against any one or group

of them, whether filed or unfiled, and whether civil or criminal, arising from, relating to, associated

with, based upon, or concerning, in any way, manner, regard, or fashion whatsoever, the Settlement

Class Members’ Released Claims as they apply to the Class Representatives; b) that none of them
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have filed, been served with, or have any personal knowledge of any such matters; and c) that they

have not participated in, or have provided assistance or cooperation to, such matters.

12.9 Release of Settlement Class Members. Subject to any Claims that they may have

for libel, slander, business disparagement, damage or destruction of property, assault and/or

battery, or the like, each and every Released Defendant hereby, knowingly and voluntarily,

releases, acquits, and forever discharges, each and every Settlement Class Member and Class

Counsel from any and all Claims of every conceivable kind or nature whatsoever that they have,

had, or may have, against the Settlement Class Member, or against any one or group of them,

whether fixed or contingent, whether asserted or unasserted, and whether filed or unfiled, at law,

in equity, or otherwise, that arise out of, relate to, are associated with, are based upon, or concern,

in any way, manner, regard, or fashion whatsoever, the business arrangement that the Clubs had

with the Settlement Class Members and which occurred during the Class Periods, including but

not limited to any Claim for breach of contract, or any Claim purportedly arising out of a Dancer

Contract. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Defendants retain the right to bring Claims upon future

violations of the terms of this Agreement.

12.10 Performing in the Future at the Clubs. The Parties acknowledge that some of the

Class Members are no longer Performing at any of the Clubs. Nothing in this Agreement shall

require any Club to hire any Class Member who is not currently an employee of the Club at the

time of execution of this Agreement in order to be able to Perform on its premises.

12.11 Knowing Execution. Each Class Representative acknowledges, agrees, and

understands that: a) she has read and understands the terms of this Agreement; b) she has been

advised in writing to consult with an attorney before executing this Agreement; c) she has obtained
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and considered such legal counsel as she deems necessary; and d) she has been given twenty-one

(21) days or more to consider whether or not to enter into this Agreement (although she may elect

not to use the full 21 day period at her option).

12.12 Non-Assignment of Claims. Each Class Representative represents and agrees that

she has not and will not assign any of her Settlement Class Members’ Released Claims to any other

person or entity. These representations shall survive the execution of this Agreement and the

approval by the Court of the Settlement contemplated herein.

12.13 Dismissals. Subject to Court approval, all Settlement Class Members shall be

bound by this Agreement and all of their Settlement Class Members’ Released Claims shall be

dismissed with prejudice and fully and forever released and discharged, even if such Person(s)

never received actual notice of the Actions or this Settlement and never received the Cash Payment,

Settlement Class Member’s PAGA Payment, Dance Fee Payments, or Unpaid Dance Fee Pool

Payment to be made to her in accordance with this Agreement. Similarly, for Participating Class

Members, all of their Participating Class Members’ Released Claims shall be dismissed with

prejudice and fully and forever released and discharged.

ARTICLE XIII

TERMINATION OF SETTLEMENT

13.1 Events Permitting Termination. This Agreement and the Settlement shall terminate

and be canceled within ten (10) business days of the mailing of notification if one of the Parties

provides written notification of an election to terminate this Agreement and the Settlement based

upon the occurrence of any of the following circumstances:
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a) The Court denies or rescinds preliminary approval of this Agreement, or

enters a Preliminary Approval Order that is at variance with the terms of

this Agreement;

b) At least seven and one half percent (7.5%) of the Class Members Opt-Out

of the Settlement;

c) Any of the signatories hereto have not signed this Agreement at least fifteen

(15) days prior to the Fairness Hearing;

d) The Court declines to provide Final Approval of the Settlement, or declines

to enter the Judgment or Final Approval Order that fully adopts the terms

of this Agreement, or enters a Judgment or Final Approval Order that

material modifies, or that is at material variance from, the terms of this

Agreement;

e) The Court’s Judgment and/or Final Approval Order is (are) vacated,

reversed, or modified in any material respect in any appeal or other review,

or in any collateral proceeding occurring prior to the Effective Date;

f) The Effective Date does not occur for some other reason; or

g) Any federal or state authorities object to, or request material modifications

of, the Settlement and the Court adopts such objections and/or

modifications.

13.2 Consequences of Termination. In the event this Agreement does not receive Final

Approval by the Court, or in the event the Court’s Final Approval is overturned, reversed, vacated,

or modified in any material way on appeal or review, or by or through any collateral proceeding,
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or in the event the Settlement is terminated or fails to become effective in accordance with the

terms of this Agreement, the Parties shall request the Court to restore them to their respective

positions in the Actions as they existed as of March 1, 2020. In such event: a) the terms and

provisions of this Agreement, except as provided in this Section, in Sections 3.5 and in Article

XV, shall have no further force or effect with respect to the Parties; b) neither this Agreement nor

any discussions or documents regarding it, or the Settlement prior to the termination/cancellation

of this Agreement (except for Sections 3.5 and Article XV), shall be used in the Actions or in any

other proceeding for any purpose (including, but not limited to, in support of a motion for class

certification, in opposition to any motion to compel arbitration, or as evidence of Defendants’

liability, or lack thereof, in regard to the Claims asserted in or encompassed by these Actions); c)

any and all orders and any Judgment entered by the Court in accordance with the terms of this

Agreement shall be treated as vacated, nunc pro tunc, and shall be null and void for all purposes;

d) any Consents to Join filed on behalf of any Class Member and the consequent release of FLSA

Claims through this Agreement, shall be null and void ab initio; and e) no prejudice shall attach

to any motion by Defendants, either filed or unfiled, to compel the Plaintiffs, or any one or group

of them (including intervenors in the San Diego Action), into individualized arbitration and to

dismiss and/or stay the Actions or any other court proceeding, or to the still-pending motion in the

San Diego Action to reconsider the ruling on the previous motion to compel the named plaintiffs

thereof into individualized arbitration.

13.3 Costs of Termination. If any Party terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section

13.1, both Plaintiffs and Defendants shall bear their own costs incurred.
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13.4 Effects of Termination. In the event this Agreement is terminated pursuant to

Section 13.1:

a) The Defendants shall have no obligation under this Agreement to make any

payments to the Settlement Class, to any attorney (for attorneys’ fees, costs,

or otherwise), to any governmental entity (including but not limited to the

LWDA), to any fund or account (including but not limited to the Cash Pool

and the Notice and Administrative Fund), or to the Settlement

Administrator (beyond the Notice and Administration Fund if previously

paid);

b) The Defendants shall no longer be required to retain the services of

Entertainers as employees as negotiated as part of the San Diego Settlement

and as memorialized and modified herein;

c) Any Preliminary Approval Order, Final Approval Order and the Judgment,

including any orders of class certification or consolidation pursuant to the

Agreement (provisional or otherwise), shall be vacated, and the Amended

Complaints for Settlement and any answers/counterclaims thereto shall be

deemed withdrawn; and

d) Any monies already paid or remitted by Defendants to the Settlement

Administrator and not yet used as part of the Administrative Costs shall be

immediately returned to Defendants with all accrued interest.
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ARTICLE XIV

LIMITATIONS UPON THE TERMS OF SETTLEMENT

14.1 No Admission of Wrongdoing. Neither this Agreement nor the Settlement, nor any

act performed or document executed pursuant to or in furtherance thereof (including but not limited

to the previous conversion of Entertainers Performing at the Clubs to employees pursuant to the

San Diego Settlement and as memorialized and modified herein), is, or may be deemed to be, or

may be used as: a) an admission or evidence of the truth of any allegations in the Actions, either

as presently pending or as to be amended as provided for herein; b) an admission or evidence of

the validity of any of the Released Claims, or any alleged wrongdoing or liability of any of the

Released Defendants; c) an admission or evidence of any fault or omission of any of the Released

Defendants in any civil, criminal, or administrative proceeding in any Court, administrative agency

or other tribunal (including any arbitral forum), other than in such proceedings as may be necessary

to consummate or enforce the terms of this Agreement, the Settlement memorialized herein, or the

Judgment; d) an admission that Services, Mohney, SFBSC, or any other Defendant Entity is, or

could be held to be, a “joint employer” of the Plaintiffs or of any one or group of them; e) an

admission that each of the Clubs’ separate corporate identity is or can be disregarded; or f) an

admission as to, or evidence of, the certifiability of any Claims contemplated herein or in the

Actions, either as presently pending or as to be amended as provided for in this Agreement.

Notwithstanding the preceding, however, this Agreement and/or the Judgment may be filed and

used in any action or proceeding in any Court, administrative agency, or other tribunal, to support

a defense of res judicata, collateral estoppel, payment, release, good faith settlement, accord and

satisfaction, claim preclusion, issue preclusion, or any similar defense or counterclaim.
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ARTICLE XV

PROTECTIVE ORDER

15.1 Terms of Protective Order. The Parties shall agree upon, and shall submit to the

Court for entry, a stipulated protective order (the “Protective Order”) in the Actions in order to

protect the confidentiality of certain identities, information, documents, and materials deemed to

be confidential pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or as otherwise designated by the Parties

to be so (collectively, “CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION”). Such CONFIDENTIAL

INFORMATION shall be held in confidence by the Parties and/or by their attorneys and shall not

be submitted in any public filing or other public disclosures except as may be permitted by this

Agreement.

15.2 Return of CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION. All documents and/or things

produced or generated through discovery by any Party in the Actions that has been designated

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION (including by way of informal discovery) shall be destroyed

within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date, unless such information is necessary for

administration and verification of the Cash Payments or Dance Fee Payments as provided for

herein (in that event, such materials will be destroyed when all such payments have been

concluded). If this Agreement is terminated or does not become Final, all documents or things

produced pursuant to this Settlement that have been designated CONFIDENTIAL

INFORMATION shall be destroyed within thirty (30) days of termination of this Agreement. Each

Party shall promptly certify to the other that all documents and/or things produced or generated

through discovery, formal or otherwise, that have been designated to be CONFIDENTIAL

INFORMATION have been destroyed. No Party shall be required, however, to destroy their own
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documents and things or any other document that the Protective Order entitles the Party or its

Counsel to retain following the conclusion of litigation.

ARTICLE XVI

NOTIFICATIONS

16.1 Process of Notification. Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, all notices,

demand, or other communications given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have

been duly given as of the third business day after mailing by United States registered or certified

mail, return receipt requested, addressed as follows:

To Plaintiffs and the Settlement Class:

Steven G. Tidrick
The Tidrick Law Firm LLP
1300 Clay Street, Suite 600
Oakland, CA 94612

Jason J. Thompson
Sommers Schwartz, P.C.
One Towne Square, Suite 1700
Southfield, MI 48076

Megan Bonanni
Pitt McGehee Palmer & Rivers
117 West 4th Street, Suite 200
Royal Oak, MI 48067

To Defendants:

Douglas J. Melton
Long & Levit, LLP
465 California Street, 5th Floor
San Francisco, CA 94104

Tammara N. Bokmuller
Bowman and Brooke, LLP
750 B. Street, Suite 2200
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San Diego, CA 92101

Bradley J. Shafer
Shafer & Associates, P.C.
3800 Capital City Boulevard, Suite 2
Lansing, MI 48906

ARTICLE XVII

FORCE MAJEURE

17.1 Excuse from Performance. No Party shall be liable or responsible to any other

Party, nor deemed to have defaulted under or breached this Agreement, for any failure or delay in

fulfilling or performing any term of this Agreement when and to the extent such failure or delay is

caused by, or results from, acts beyond the impacted party’s control (“Impacted Party”), including,

but not limited to, the following circumstance, occurrences, and/or incidents (the “Force Majeure

Events”): a) acts of nature; b) natural disasters (fires, explosions, earthquakes, hurricanes, flooding,

storms, explosions, infestations), epidemics or pandemics (but specifically excluding the COVID-

19 pandemic and its effects, including government shut downs, all of which are already known

and explicitly acknowledged by the Parties in negotiating this Agreement, except as set forth in

Section 5.4); c) war, invasion, hostilities (whether war is declared or not), terrorist threats or acts,

riot or other civil unrest; d) government orders or laws; e) actions, embargoes or blockades in

effect on or after the date of this Agreement; f) action by any government authority; g) national or

regional emergency; h) strikes, labor stoppages or slowdowns or other industrial disturbances; and

i) shortages of adequate power or transportation facilities. The Impacted Party shall give notice

within ten (10) days of the Force Majeure Event to the other Party/Parties, stating the period of

time the occurrence is expected to continue. The time for performance required of the Impacted
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Party shall be extended by the period of such delay provided the Party is exercising diligent effort,

and is acting in good faith, to overcome the cause of such delay (the Impacted Party being obligated

to use diligent efforts, and to act in good faith, to end the failure or delay in performance and to

ensure that the effects of such Force Majeure Event are minimized). The Impacted Party shall

resume the performance of its obligations as soon as reasonably practicable after the removal of

the cause.

17.2 Changes in Court Ordered Deadlines. In the event of a Force Majeure Event, the

Parties shall, to the extent necessary, negotiate in good faith for the extension of any deadlines

provided for herein, and submit their proposals to the Court for approval. If the Parties are unable

to so agree, any Party may file a motion with the Court to permit the Court to set new deadlines

itself.

ARTICLE XVIII

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

18.1 This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument signed

by or on behalf of all of the signatories hereto or their successors-in-interest. No oral amendment

or modification shall be permitted or effective.

18.2 This Agreement and the Settlement were entered into after substantial good faith,

arms-length, negotiations between the Parties, Class Counsel and Defense Counsel. As such, no

Party shall be deemed to have relied upon the representations of any other Party or opposing

counsel in relation to the negotiation or execution of this Agreement.
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18.3 Each counsel or other Person executing this Agreement on behalf of any of the

Parties hereto represents that such counsel or Person, as applicable, has the authority to so execute

this Agreement.

18.4 This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts. All executed

counterparts and each of them shall be deemed to be one and the same Agreement. This Agreement

may be executed by signature delivered by facsimile or PDF and need not be the original “ink”

signature. A complete set of executed counterparts shall be filed with the Court prior to the

Fairness Hearing, with the exception of the true identities of the Class Representatives which are

to be kept as CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION. The signature page(s) of this Agreement for

the true names of the Class Representatives shall be kept as confidential for attorneys’ eyes only

among Class Counsel and Defense Counsel and shall not be attached to the public filing of this

Agreement for approval by the Court, except as necessary to enforce the terms of this Agreement.

18.5 This Agreement constitutes the entire fully integrated agreement and understanding

among the Parties. No representations, warranties, or inducements have been made to any Party

concerning the Settlement, this Agreement, or its exhibits, other than the representations,

warranties, and covenants contained in such documents.

18.6 This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of California or federal

law, as applicable. All actions or proceedings relating to this Agreement may only be brought in

the United States District Court for the Northern District of California.

18.7 Upon the occurrence of the Effective Date, the Settlement shall be fully enforceable

by the Parties and the Court, and the Court shall retain exclusive and continuous jurisdiction over
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the Parties to interpret and enforce the terms and conditions of, and rights under, the Settlement,

the Final Approval Order, and the Judgment.

18.8 Each of the signatories acknowledges and represents that he/she/it: Has fully and

carefully read this Agreement prior to execution; has been fully apprised by his/her/its counsel of

the legal effect and meaning of this Agreement and all terms and conditions hereof; has had the

opportunity to make whatever investigation or inquiry he/she/it deemed necessary or appropriate

in connection with the subject matter of these Actions; has been afforded the opportunity to

negotiate any and all terms of this Agreement; and is executing this Agreement voluntarily and

free from any undue influence, coercion, duress, or menace of any kind. This Agreement reflects

the conclusion of each of the Class Representatives and the Defendants that this Agreement, the

Settlement, the Judgment to be entered hereunder, and the releases, waivers, and covenants

provided for herein, are in their best interest, as well as in the best interests of the general public

and the Settlement Class.

18.9 In the event, following the Judgment becoming Final, that any one or more of the

provisions contained in this Agreement, or its application to any circumstance, shall for any reason

be held invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality, or

unenforceability shall in no way affect any other provisions or applications of this Agreement if

Defense Counsel and Class Counsel, on behalf of the Parties, mutually elect in writing to proceed

as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision or application had never been included in this

Agreement. However, if any funds have been remitted, or other consideration conveyed, to a Class

Representative or a Settlement Class Member, then the releases and discharges granted, waivers

conferred, and satisfactions conveyed by this Agreement may not be terminated.
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18.10 The headings and captions inserted in this Agreement are for convenience only and

in no way define, limit, or otherwise describe the scope or intent of this Agreement, or any

provision hereof, or in any way affect the interpretation of this Agreement.

18.11 Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Parties shall bear their own

respective costs and fees.

18.12 None of the Parties or their respective counsel shall be deemed to be the drafter of

this Agreement for purposes of construing its provisions. The language in all parts of this

Agreement (including the exhibits thereto) shall be interpreted according to its fair meaning and

shall not be interpreted for or against any of the Parties as the drafter of the language.

18.13 All time computations under this Agreement shall be done in accordance with the

provisions of the rules of court applicable to the United States District Court for the Northern

District of California, which govern the calculation of time.

18.14 The waiver by any of the Parties of any provision in this Agreement shall not be

deemed a waiver by that Party of any other provision herein.

18.15 Each and every one of the Parties hereto acknowledges and agrees that he/she/it

will and shall, at all times subsequent to the execution of this Agreement and upon reasonable

request by any other Party, make, do, and execute, or cause to be made, done, or executed, all such

further documents and instruments to effectuate the full intent, purpose, covenants and conditions

as set forth herein.

18.16 This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties, Class

Counsel, and Defense Counsel, as well as their assigns, successors-in-interest of any kind

whatsoever, purchasers of any of their assets and/or liabilities, heirs, executors, and administrators.
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Respectfully submitted,

Dated: , 2021
Bowman and Brooke, LLP
Tammara N. Bokmuller (CA Bar #192200)
Tammy.Bokmuller@bowmanandbrooke.com
750 B. Street, Suite 2200
San Diego, CA 92101
Telephone: (619) 376-2500
Facsimile: (619) (619) 376-2501
Counsel for Non-San Francisco Defendants

Dated: , 2021
Long & Levit, LLP
Douglas J. Melton (CA Bar #161353)
Shane M. Cahill (CA Bar #227972)
dmelton@longlevit.com
scahill@longlevit.com
465 California Street, 5th Floor
San Francisco, CA 94104
Telephone: (415) 438-4493
Facsimile: (415) 397-6392
Counsel for San Francisco Defendants

Dated: , 2021
Shafer & Associates, P.C.
Bradley J. Shafer (P36604)
brad@bradshaferlaw.com
3800 Capital City Blvd, Suite 2
Lansing, MI 48906
Telephone: (517) 886-6560
Facsimile: (517) 886-6565
Counsel for All Defendants

Dated: , 2021
The Tidrick Law Firm
Steven G. Tidrick (CA Bar #224760)
sgt@tidricklaw.com
1300 Clay Street, Suite 600
Oakland, CA 94612

August 13

August 26

Steven G. Tidrick (Aug 26, 2021 12:37 PDT)

August 26
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Telephone; (510) 788-5100 
Facsimile; (510) 291-3226 
Co-Class Counsel for Plaintiffs

1

2

3
Dated; .2021

4
Sommers Schwartz, P.C.
Jason J. Thompson (P47184) 
jthompson@sommerspc.com 
Co-Counsel for Plaintiffs 
One Towne Square, Suite 1700 
Southfield, MI 48076 
(248) 355-0300
Co-Class Counsel for Plaintiffs

5

6

7

9

Dated; 202110

Pitt McGehee Palmer & Rivers, P.C.
Megan A. Bonanni (P52079)
mbonanni@pittlawpc.com
117 West Fourth Street, Suite 200
Royal Oak, MI 48067
248-398-9800
Co-Class Coimsel

11

12

13

14

15 \
Dated: Plot- ,, 2021 3610 BARNETT AVE., LLC 

d/b/a Adult Superstore
16

17

18 By; '(Vil/iS

19

Its;20

21
Dated; , 2021 BIJOU - CENTURY, LLC 

d/b/a New Century Theatre22

23

By;24
Joseph Carouba

25

Its;
26

71
27
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Telephone; (510) 788-5100 
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Co-Class CouQ-sel forPIaiatifft

1

2

3
Dated: 2021

4 Sommers Schwartz, P.C.
Jasc® J. Thoin|)®on (P47184) 
jtIiompscm@sommerspc.com 
Co-Coansel for Plaintiffs 
OneTowse S(|uare, Suite 1700 
Southfield, MI 48076 
(248) 355-0300
Co-Class Counsel for P!aintif&

6

6

7

D

9

Dated:1C
Pilt McGehee Paimer & Rivers, P.C,
Megan A, Bonansi (P52079)
mbonanni@pittiawpc.com
117 Wesjt Fourth Street, Suite 200
Royal Oak, MI 48067
248-398-9800
Co-Class Counsel

11

12

13

14

Dated: ,, 2021 3610 BARNETT AVE., LLC 
d^Va Adult Superstore1C

17

By:18
James Egizi

19

Its:
20^

21
Dated: P . 2021 BIJOU » CENTURY, LLC 

clA»/a New Century Theatre22

23

By;
Josep^^jouba£4

2b
Its:

26
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1 BT CALIFORNIA, LLC
d/b/a The Penthouse Club & Steakhouse

,, 2021Dated:

J

By:
Joseph Cai'ouba4

its:
oO

Cathay Entertainment, Inc. 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls

,2021Dated:
7

8 ..A' /By;
9 Donald Krontz

8).1 i)
Its: r c ! c.'

Coldwater, LLC 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls

, 202Dated;
12

1 3

By:.14

15
Its:

1 6
Chowder House, Inc, 
d/b/a Hungry' I

, 2021Dated;17

18

Bv:19
Joseph Carouba

2 0
Its:

21

Deja Vu ~ San Francisco, LLC 
d/li/a Deja Vu Centerfolds

,2021Dated:A A

24 By:
Joseph Carouba

C. L)
72
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1
Dated: 2021 BT CALIFORNIA, LLC

d/b/a The Penthouse Club & SteakhoHse2

3
By:

4

5
Its:

Cathay Entertainment, !n6, 
d;Va Deja Vu Showgirls

6
Dated; ,, 2021

7

8

By:S
Donald ICrontz

10
Its;

11
Dated: , 2021 CoMwatei', LLC 

sMs/a Deja Vu Showgirls12

13

By:14
Donald Kronte

15
Its:

16

Dated: ,7^ . 2021 Chowder House, Inc. 
d/b/a Hungry' I

i?

i

19 By:
CaroubaJoi

20

Ite: / W-j? CkS-^Jf

Deja Vu - San Francisco, LLC 
d/b/a Deja Vu Cetiterfoids

21

Dated: „i:___, 202122

23

24

Josfflij Carouba25

26
72

27
RELEASE AND SE'n'LBMHNT AGRKRM'ENT

2R
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Its:
1

Deja Vu Services, Inc.,2021Dated:•>

Bv:3

Jason Mohney
4

Its:

Deja Vu Showgirls - Sacramento, LLC 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls

,2021Dated:6

7

By:
Harry Mohney

9

Its:10

Deja Vu Showgirls of San Francisco, LLC 
d/b/'d Little Darlings of San Francisco

,202Dated:11

12

-I O By;
Joseph Carouba14

Its:15

<7 DV of LA, LLC
d/b/a Deja Vu of LA - Main St.

16 , 2021Dated:
17

18
By: \,

Donald Krontz1 9

20 _______

EF5 Acquisitions Group, LLC 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls Torrance

its:

21 . 2021Dated:
22

23
By:

24 Alan Minato

Its:

73

RELEA.SE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

28
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Its:
1

Deja Vu Services, Inc.Dated: , 20212

By:3
Jason Mohney

Its:s
Deja Vu Showgirls - Sacramento, LLC 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls

^2021Dated:6

1

B By:i

9

Its: .V*10

..... Deja Vu Showgirls of San Francisco, LLC 
d/b/a Little Darlings of San Francisco

^2021Dated;11

12

13 By:
Joseph Carouba14

Its:15

16 DV of LA, LLC
d/b/a Deja Vu of LA - Main St,

,202IDated:
17

By:
Donald Krontzq

20 Its:
21 EF5 Acquisitions Group, LLC 

d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls Torrance
,2021Dated:

22

23
By:

24 Alan Minato
25

Its:
26

73

27
RELEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

28

deCTt ‘t2 60unrt999-68f(S0Z) lAIH2-d
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73

RELEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Its: _________________________________

Dated: ________________, 2021 Deja Vu Services, Inc.

By: _________________________________
Jason Mohney

Its: _________________________________

Dated: _______________, 2021 Deja Vu Showgirls – Sacramento, LLC
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls

By: _________________________________
Harry Mohney

Its: _________________________________

Dated: _______________, 2021 Deja Vu Showgirls of San Francisco, LLC
d/b/a Little Darlings of San Francisco

By: _________________________________
Joseph Carouba

Its: _________________________________

Dated: _________________, 2021 DV of LA, LLC
d/b/a Deja Vu of LA – Main St.

By: _________________________________
Donald Krontz

Its: _________________________________

Dated: _________________, 2021 EF5 Acquisitions Group, LLC
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls Torrance

By: _________________________________
Alan Minato

Its: _________________________________
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Its:

Deja Vu Services, Inc.Dated: ^20212

By;3
Jason Mohney

4

Its:
5

Deja Vu Showgirls - Sacramento, LLC 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls

Dated: , 20216

7

8 By;
9

Its:10

Dated: [-f/./If..f 9 Deja Vu Showgirls of San Francisco, LLC 
d/b/a Little Darlings of San Francisco

^ 202111

12

13 By:
Joseph Carouba14

Its:15

16 DV of LA, LLC
d/b/a Deja Vu of LA ~ Main St.

Dated: ,2021
17

By:
Donald Krontz19

20 Its:
21

EF5 Acquisitions Group, LLC 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls Torrance

, 2021Dated:
22

23
By;

24 Alan Minato
25

Its;
26

73
27

RELEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

28

d8C:2t ‘tseounr1999-6817(202)I'd lAIH
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Its:1

,.2021 Deja Vti Services, Inc,2

3 By:
Jffion Mohoey

te:5

.,2021 Deja Vu ShowgMs - Sacramento, LLC 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls

6

7

8 By:
Hany Mohney9

Is:10

Dated: 4 /2<r . 202111 Deja Vu Showgirls of San Francisco, LLC 
d^b/a Little Darlings of San Francisco/

12

13
By:

l^^h^arouba*14

5 Its;
16 Dated: .,2021 DV of LA, LLC

dA/a Deja Vu of LA - Main St.17

IS
By:

19 Donald Krontz
20 Its:
21

Dated; ,2021 EF5 Acquisitions Group, LLC 
dA/a Dga Vu Showgiris Torrance22

23

By:24 Alan Minato
25

Its:
26

73
27

RELEASE AND SETTLEMBN'r AGREEMENT
2B
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.. *'WSK5®!SSS!!aSS»£SSaaii.?i4;i<.iv-.

1

Dated: 2021 Gold Club - SF, LLC 
d^/a Gold Club

2

3

4 By:
Joseph Carouba5

6 Its:

7 Dated: 2021 Grapevine Entertainment, Inc. 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls

9
By:

10 Christopher Krontz
11 Its:
12 Dated: 2021 Hany Mohney
13

14 Harry Mohney

Hollywood & Vine Club, LLC 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls

15 Dated: 2021
16

17
By:

18 Donald Krontz
19 Its:

Dated^. ) ObX I 020
.,2021 Jolai- Cinema of San Diego, Ltd. 

d/b/a Jolar Cinema Showgirls21

22

fmBy:23
=JamesTEgizi~’

T24
Its: 'V..

25
Dated: .,2021 LA Club Mi Lgement, LLC

26
74

27
RELEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

28
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1

Gold Club -- SF, L:LC 
d/b/a Gold Club

,202!Dated:

.2;

By:
Joseph Carouba

5

Its:t>

Grapevine Entertainment, Inc 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls

, 2021Dated;

8

9 By:
Christopher Krontz

10

Its::li

Harry Mohney12 , 2021Dated:
13

Many Mohney

Hollywood & Vine Club, LLC 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls

14
Q , 20217-2Dated;15

16

f''

17 By;
Donald Krontz

18

Its: t,,) XIJ* ^19

Jolar Cinema of San Diego, Ltd. 
d/b/a Jolar Cinema Showgirls

20 ,202!Dated:
21

22
By;

James Egizi

Its;
/

Dated: £/ / 7 / LA Club Management, LLC,202!

74

27
RELEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

28
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11

1

Gold Club - SF, LLC 
d;Va Gold Club

Dated: , 20212

3

4 By;
Joseph Carouba

5

Its;6

Grape\'ine Entertaimnent, Inc. 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls

Dated; ^20217

8

9 By:
Christopher Krontz10

Its:11

112 Harry Mohney,2021Dated;
13

14

Hollywood & Vine Club, LLC 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls

,202115 Dated;

16

17 By;
Donald Krontz18

Its:19

20 Jolar Cinema of San Diego, Ltd. 
d/b/a Jolar Cinema Showgirls

,2021Dated;
21

22
By:

James Egizi23

24 Its;
25 LA Club Management, LLC, 2021Dated;
26

74
27

release and settlement agreement
28

d6S:sLl.2 60unr1999-6Sh(20Z) ms'd
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1

Gold Club - SF, LLC 
d/b/aGold Club

,, 2021Dated;

3

4 By;
Joseph Carouba

5

Its;6

Grapevine Entertainment, Inc. 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls

2021Dated:7

8

9 By;
Christopher Krontz10

Its:11

12 Harry MohneyDated: ^2021

13

14

Hollywood & Vine Club, LLC 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls L

2021Dated:15

16

17 By:
Donald Krontz

Its:19

20 Jolar Cinema of San Diego, Ltd. 
d/b/a Jolar Cinema Showgirls

Dated: ^2021
21

22
By:

James Egizi23

24 Its:
25 LA Club Management, LLC,2021Dated;
26

74

27
ItELEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

28

d6e:2t 'tseounr1999-6817(302) WH
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I

I>ated: rlt'^___ , 2021 Gold Club--SF^LLC
d/b/a Gold Club

2

3
■7

■5 By:
5

Its:
7

Dated: 202i7 Grapevke Enteitaiartieiit, Inc. 
<M)/a Deja Vu Showgirls

9
By;

Christopher Krontz10

SI Its;

12 2021 Harry Mohney
13

Harry Motoey14

15 Dated; ,, 202! Hollywood & Vine Club, LLC 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls

16

17

Donald Ksontz18

Its:
20 Dated; ,, 2021 Jolar Cinema of San Diego, Ltd. 

d/b/a Joiar Cinema Showgirls21

22
By:

23 James Igizi
24 Its;
25

Dated: 2021 LA Club Masagemeiit, LLC
2'S

74
27

.RELEASE AND SRTri.RMKNT AGREEMENT
28
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1 rv)By O’Vfe'.t'-t"''2 Donald Krontz

Its; >i'-\ /I t/'

Nile Life East, LLC 
d/b/a Little Darlings

4

. 2021Dated;

6

By7
Jason Mohney

0

Its;
Cj

Pine Tree Assets, Inc,
F7K/A Deja Vu Consulting, Inc.

, 2021Dated:

11

By:1 ?

Harry Mohney
13

Its::i 4

S.A.W. Entertainment, Ltd.
d/b/a Hustler San Francisco and The Condor
Club

, 2021Dated:15

16

i /

By;10 Joseph Carouba
19

Its:

San Francisco Garden of Eden, LLC 
d/b/a Garden of Eden

, 2021Dated:

By:
Joseph Carouba24

Its;
26

75

27
IlllLEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

28
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By:2
Donald Krontz

3
Its;

4

Nite Life East, LLC 
d/b/a Little Darlings

.2021Dated;
5

6

By:7
Jason Mohney

8

Its:
9

Pine Tree Assets, Inc.
F/K/A Deja Vu Consulting, Inc.

,2021Dated: <920 7
11

12

13

14

S.A.W. Entertainment, Ltd.
d/b/a Hustler San Francisco and The Condor
Club

,202115 Dated:

16

17

By:
Joseph Carouba

19
Its:

20

21 San Francisco Garden of Eden, LLC 
d/b/a Garden of Eden

,2021Dated:
22

23

By;
24 Joseph Carouba
25

Its:
26

75

27
RELEASE AISTD SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

28

d6e:zi T260unr1999-6817 (ZOZ) lAIH9'd
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75

RELEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

By: _________________________________
Donald Krontz

Its: _________________________________

Dated: ________________, 2021 Nite Life East, LLC
d/b/a Little Darlings

By: _________________________________
Jason Mohney

Its: _________________________________

Dated: ________________, 2021 Pine Tree Assets, Inc.
F/K/A Deja Vu Consulting, Inc.

By: _________________________________
Harry Mohney

Its: _________________________________

Dated: _________________, 2021 S.A.W. Entertainment, Ltd.
d/b/a Hustler San Francisco and The Condor
Club

By: _________________________________
Joseph Carouba

Its: _________________________________

Dated: _________________, 2021 San Francisco Garden of Eden, LLC
d/b/a Garden of Eden

By: _________________________________
Joseph Carouba

Its: _________________________________
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1

By;2
Donald Krontz

3
Its;

4

Nite Life East, LLC 
d/b/a Little Darlings

^2021Dated:
5

6

By:7
Jason Mohney

8

Its;
9

C?T Pine Tree Assets, Inc.
F/K/A Deja Vu Consulting, Inc.

Dated: / ,202110

11

Ev:7^^12

hney /
13 /

Its:14

S.A.W. Entertainment, Ltd.
dJhIa Hustler San Francisco and The Condor
Club

, 202115 Dated;

16

17

By:
Joseph Carouba

19

Its:
20

21
San Francisco Garden of Eden, LLC 
d/b/a Garden of Eden

Dated: ,2021
22

23

By:
24 Joseph Carouba
25

Its:
26

75

27
RELEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

28

deCTt Tzeounr1999-68R{20Z)g-d lAlH
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By:2
Etonald Kirontz

3
Its:

4

Dated: , 2021 Hite Life East, LLC 
d/h/a Littie Darlings

3

6

7 By:
Jason Motaey

Its:9

Dated: ^2021 Pine Tree Assets, Inc.
WfEJA Deja Vu Consttltiag, Inc.

10

11

12 By:
Harry Mohncy13

Its:14

15 Dated: 2021 S.A.W. BEtertaiiMiient, Ltd,
d/b/a Hustler San Francisco and The Condor
Club

//
16

17

By:18 4i
JoMph Kfirouba

IS /
Its:

20

21
Dated: ^2021 San Fraocisco Garden qf Eden, LLC 

d/b/a Garden of Eden/22 /

23

By:
24

25 \
Ite:

26
75

27
liiiLHASE AND SFsTn.HMBNT AGREEMENT

29
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San Francisco Roaring 20’s, LLC 
d/b/a Roaring 20’s

202Dated:

3
By:

Joseph Carouba4

3 Its:
b SFBSC Management, LLC, 2021Dated:

By:8
Joseph Carouba

Q

Its:10

if- Showgirls of San Diego, Inc. 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls

; , 2021,fDated:1 1
■y

12
/

1 i

Donald Krontz14

Its: 9-15

/ C Stockton Enterprises, LLC 
d/b/a Deja Vu Showgirls

16 ,, 2021Dated: D' /
7

18

'Donald Krontz
BV 7

19

20 Its:__ '"Iv'i

21

Torrance Food & Beverage, LLC,2021Dated:

By:
24 Alan Minato

3 Its:
2 6

76

27
RELEASE AND SE'I’TLEMENT AGREEMENT

28
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1 Dated: ^2021 San Francisco Roaring 20's, LLC 
d/b/a Roaring ZO’s2

3 ajBy;
4 Jo; uba
5

Its: £kMl,&uMk,fLL.7 /6
Dated: ,2021 SFBSC Managemeot, LLC7/7

,-7 //
By:

Wfeph Earouba9

Its: .MiS^3s>b\

Showgirts of San Dfego, Inc. 
d/i)/'a Deja Vii Showgirls

10

11 Dated: ^ 2021

12

13
By:

Donald Rrontz’ 4

' Si Ite:

16 Dated: , 2021 Stockton Enteiprises, LLC 
d/b/a Deja Vy Showgirls17

18
By:

19' Donald Krontz
ao Its:
21

,2021 Torrance Food & Beverage, LLC22

23

By:
24 Alan Minato
25

its:
26

76
27

RELEASE AND SETTLENCBNT AGREBMHNT
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Dirtt:tl: /' , 20? 1

lla{e d ,t)? I

Date d: 20'11

o*,"a, A\)L tl , 2021

R BI-II,ASE AND SETTLnl.{EN'l' AC l{Ht,}{i:Nr

Sun Francisco ltoaring 20's, LLC
d,tia Roanng Z0's

L.,-

SFBSC lv{anageruenr, t-l-()

B,Y:

1ts:

Donsld Krontz

Str^rckton Entcrprises, I-L,C
cl'b,ra Dujlr Vu Shorvgrrls

8y:
Donald Krontz

Its:

l'orr&nce Food &. Br:lcragc, LLC

:\lan Minato
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1

Dated: , 20212
SFBSC Jane Roe 1

3

4

5 2021Dated: Jane Roe 3 (Jun 7,2021 11:54 PDT)

SFBSC Jane Roe 36

7

Dated: , 2021
San Diego Jane Roe 1

10

11

12 , 2021Dated:
San Diego Jane Roe 213

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26 77
27

RELEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

28
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1
(Jun 7,2021 11:37 PDT)Janf, 2021Dated:2

SFBSC Jane Roe 1
3

4

5 , 2021Dated:
SFBSC Jane Roe 36

7

,, 2021Dated:9 San Diego Jane Roe 1
10

11

12 2021Dated:
San Diego Jane Roe 2

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26 77
27

RELEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

28
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DocuSign Envelope ID: 1EF0220E-D7A3-itA01-BCF1-96916651C2E0

1

2021Dated;2
SFBSC Jane Roe 1

3

4

5 , 2021Dated:
SFBSC Jane Roe 36

7

'DocuSigned by:
8

6/17/2021 ,2021Dated; 'lAUGGaeiATePildZ...----------- :—
San Diego Jane Roe -2-9

10

11

12 ,2021Dated:
San Diego Jane Roe j

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26 77
27

RELEASE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

28
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DocuSign Envelope ID: 3BC04D34-773C-4C3E-A522-E8AC81B7A0E2

1

, 2021Dated:2 SFBSC Jane Roe 1
3

4

5 , 2021Dated:
SFBSC Jane Roe 36

7

DocuSigned by:

, 2021Dat;d: v—A76B700878A244A...

San Diego Jane Roe 1
10

11

12 , 2021Dated:
San Diego Jane Roe 2

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26 77
27
28
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AFFILIATED COMPANIES
ADDRESS CITY STATE ZIP

DEJA VU SERVICES, INC. 8252 E. LANSING ROAD DURAND MICHIGAN 48429
LA CLUB MANAGEMENT, LLC 8252 E. LANSING ROAD DURAND MICHIGAN 48429
PINE TREE ASSETS, INC., F/K/A DEJA VU CONSULTING, INC. 8252 E. LANSING ROAD DURAND MICHIGAN 48429
SFBSC MANAGEMENT, LLC 250 COLUMBUS AVE, SUITE 207 SAN FRANCISCO CALIFORNIA 94133
TORRANCE FOOD & BEVERAGE, LLC 8252 E. LANSING ROAD DURAND MICHIGAN 48429
WORLDWIDE PROMOTIONS, LLC 8252 E. LANSING ROAD DURAND MICHIGAN 48429

THE "SAN FRANCISCO CLUBS"

"CLASS PERIOD": 08-08-2010 TO 11-16-2018 DOING BUSINESS AS ADDRESS CITY STATE ZIP

B.T. CALIFORNIA, LLC THE PENTHOUSE CLUB & STEAKHOUSE 412 BROADWAY SAN FRANCISCO CALIFORNIA 94133
BIJOU - CENTURY, LLC NEW CENTURY THEATRE 816 LARKING ST SAN FRANCISCO CALIFORNIA 94109
CHOWDER HOUSE, INC. HUNGRY I 546 BROADWAY SAN FRANCISCO CALIFORNIA 94133
DEJA VU - SAN FRANCISCO, LLC DEJA VU CENTERFOLDS 391 BROADWAY SAN FRANCISCO CALIFORNIA 94133
DEJA VU SHOWGIRLS OF SAN FRANCISCO, LLC LITTLE DARLINGS OF SAN FRANCISCO 312 COLUMBUS AVE SAN FRANCISCO CALIFORNIA 94133
GOLD CLUB - SF, LLC GOLD CLUB 650 HOWARD ST SAN FRANCISCO CALIFORNIA 94105
S.A.W. ENTERTAINMENT, LTD. LARRY FLYNT'S HUSTLER CLUB 1031 KEARNY ST SAN FRANCISCO CALIFORNIA 94133
S.A.W. ENTERTAINMENT, LTD. -- CONDOR CLUB CONDOR CLUB 300 COLUMBUS AVE. SAN FRANCISCO CALIFORNIA 94133
SAN FRANCISCO - GARDEN OF EDEN, LLC GARDEN OF EDEN 529 BROADWAY SAN FRANCISCO CALIFORNIA 94133
SAN FRANCISCO - ROARING 20'S, LLC ROARING 20'S 552 BROADWAY SAN FRANCISCO CALIFORNIA 94133

THE "GREATER CALIFORNIA CLUBS"

"CLASS PERIOD": 02-08-2017 TO 11-16-2018 DOING BUSINESS AS ADDRESS CITY STATE ZIP

3610 BARNETT AVE., LLC ADULT SUPERSTORE 3610 BARNETT AVE. SAN DIEGO CALIFORNIA 92110
CATHAY ENTERTAINMENT, INC. DÉJÀ VU SHOWGIRLS 16025 GALE AVE, STE A11-A12 CITY OF INDUSTRY CALIFORNIA 91745
COLDWATER, LLC DÉJÀ VU SHOWGIRLS 7350 COLDWATER CANYON N. HOLLYWOOD CALIFORNIA 91605
DEJA VU SHOWGIRLS - SACRAMENTO, LLC DEJA VU SHOWGIRLS 11252 TRADE CENTER DR RANCHO CORDOVA CALIFORNIA 95742
DV of LA, LLC DEJA VU OF LA - MAIN ST. 1800 S. MAIN ST LOS ANGELES CALIFORNIA 90015
EF5 ACQUISITIONS GROUP, LLC DEJA VU SHOWGIRLS 20320 HAMILTON AVE TORRENCE CALIFORNIA 90502
GRAPEVINE ENTERTAINMENT, INC. DÉJÀ VU SHOWGIRLS 1524 GOLDEN STATE HWY BAKERSFIELD CALIFORNIA 93301
HOLLYWOOD & VINE CLUB, LLC DEJA VU SHOWGIRLS 6315 HOLLYWOOD BLVD LOS ANGELES CALIFORNIA 90028
JOLAR CINEMA OF SAN DIEGO, LTD JOLAR CINEMA 6321 UNIVERSITY AVE SAN DIEGO CALIFORNIA 92115
NITE LIFE EAST, LLC LITTLE DARLINGS 8290 BROADWAY LEMON GROVE CALIFORNIA 91945
SHOWGIRLS OF SAN DIEGO INC DÉJÀ VU SHOWGIRLS 2720 MIDWAY DR SAN DIEGO CALIFORNIA 92110
STOCKTON ENTERPRISES, LLC DÉJÀ VU SHOWGIRLS 4206 WEST LANE STOCKTON CALIFORNIA 95204

LIST OF DEFENDANT ENTITIES INVOLVED IN THIS SETTLEMENT

Page 1
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THE TIDRICK LAW FIRM
STEVEN G. TIDRICK, SBN 224760
JOEL B. YOUNG, SBN 236662
2039 Shattuck Avenue, Suite 308
Berkeley, California 94704
Telephone: (510) 788-5100
Facsimile: (510) 291-3226
E-mail: sgt@tidricklaw.com
E-mail: jby@tidricklaw.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs JANE ROES 1-3 et al.

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

JANE ROES 1-3 et al.,

Plaintiffs,

v.

SFBSC MANAGEMENT, LLC; CHOWDER
HOUSE, INC.; DEJA VU - SAN
FRANCISCO, LLC; ROARING 20’S, LLC;
GARDEN OF EDEN, LLC; S.A.W.
ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED; DEJA VU
SHOWGIRLS OF SAN FRANCISCO, LLC;
GOLD CLUB - S.F., LLC; MARKET ST.
CINEMA, LLC; BIJOU - CENTURY, LLC;
BT CALIFORNIA, LLC; and DOES 1-200,

Defendants.

Civil Case No. 14-cv-03616-LB

SECOND AMENDED COLLECTIVE AND
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR
SETTLEMENT FOR VIOLATIONS
AND/OR RECOVERY OF:

(1) FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT;
(2) CALIFORNIA LABOR CODE;
(3) SAN FRANCISCO

ADMINISTRATIVE CODE;
(4) CALIFORNIA INDUSTRIAL

WELFARE COMMISSION WAGE
ORDERS;

(5) CALIFORNIA’S UNFAIR
COMPETITION ACT, BUS. &
PROF. CODE §§ 17200 et seq.; and

(6) PENALTIES UNDER THE LABOR
CODE PRIVATE ATTORNEYS
GENERAL ACT OF 2004,
CALIFORNIA LABOR CODE
§ 2699(a),(f) (“PAGA” CLAIMS)

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiffs Jane Roes 1 and 3 (collectively “Plaintiffs”) allege as follows:

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

1. Plaintiffs each formerly worked for SFBSC Management, LLC (“Defendant”)

as an “exotic dancer.” As described in more detail below, Plaintiffs specified herein seek to

represent classes consisting of all individuals who, during the relevant class periods, have

worked as exotic dancers at nightclubs in California that Defendant has operated and

controlled, and where Defendant has dictated employment policies. All class members have
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been denied fundamental rights under federal, state, and local wage and hour laws in a similar

and uniform way. Defendant has misclassified Plaintiffs and class members as independent

contractors, as opposed to employees, at all times when they have worked as exotic dancers.

Defendant has failed to pay Plaintiffs and class members the minimum wages and other

benefits to which they were entitled under the federal Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”), 29

U.S.C. § 201 et seq., the California Labor Code, California Industrial Welfare Commission

Wage Orders, and the San Francisco Minimum Wage Ordinance (“SFMWO”). Additionally,

Defendant has engaged in unlawful tip-splitting by requiring Plaintiffs and class members,

who receive gratuities from customers, to split and share those gratuities with Defendant, its

Nightclubs, and its other workers, such as managers, doormen, and disc jockeys (DJs). This

collective and class action seeks damages, back pay, restitution, liquidated damages,

applicable civil penalties, prejudgment interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, civil

penalties, declaratory and injunctive relief, and all other relief that the Court deems just,

reasonable, and equitable. This action is also prosecuted under the Labor Code Private

Attorneys General Act of 2004, California Labor Code § 2698 et seq. (“PAGA”), individually

and on behalf of others who currently and formerly have worked for Defendant as exotic

dancers, to recover civil penalties for Defendant’s violations of law, pursuant to the

procedures in Labor Code § 2699.3.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. The FLSA authorizes private rights of action to recover damages for violations

of the FLSA’s wage and hour provisions. 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). This Court has federal

question jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction

over the California state law claims because they are so related to this action that they form

part of the same case or controversy under Article III of the United States Constitution.

3. Venue is proper in the Northern District of California pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§ 1391 because all of the actions alleged herein occurred within the Northern District of

California.

4. Intradistrict Assignment. The events set forth in this Complaint occurred within
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the City and County of San Francisco, and it is therefore properly assigned to the San

Francisco or Oakland division of this Court pursuant to Civil Local Rule 3-2(c) and (d).

III. PARTIES

5. Plaintiff Jane Roe No. 1 (“Roe No. 1”) worked as an exotic dancer for

Defendant in San Francisco, California during the class period and is a member of the

proposed class. Like other class members, when Roe No. 1 worked in that capacity, she was:

(1) misclassified as an independent contractor, and as a result was not paid any wages (or

provided other benefits and rights) to which she was entitled as an employee; and (2) required

to split tip income as described more fully below. Roe No. 1 sues on her own behalf, as a

proposed class representative on behalf of similarly situated individuals, and as a PAGA

representative plaintiff on behalf of other current and former employees. She sues under a

fictitious name, Jane Roe No. 1, due to the highly sensitive and personal nature of the details

about Plaintiffs in this action, and for additional reasons described below.

6. Plaintiff Jane Roe No. 3 (“Roe No. 3”) worked as an exotic dancer for

Defendant in San Francisco, California during the class period and is a member of the

proposed class. Like other class members, when Roe No. 3 worked in that capacity, she was:

(1) misclassified as an independent contractor, and as a result was not paid any wages (or

provided other benefits and rights) to which she was entitled as an employee; and (2) required

to split tip income as described more fully below. Roe No. 3 sues on her own behalf, as a

proposed class representative on behalf of similarly situated individuals, and as a PAGA

representative plaintiff on behalf of other current and former employees. She sues under a

fictitious name, Jane Roe No. 3, due to the highly sensitive and personal nature of the details

about Plaintiffs in this action, and for additional reasons described below.

7. Plaintiffs sue under fictitious names due to the highly sensitive and personal

nature of the details about Plaintiffs in this action and because (1) there is a significant social

stigma associated with the nude and semi-nude “dancing” that exotic dancers, also known as

“strippers,” perform; (2) there are risks inherent in working as an exotic dancer, including risk

of injury by current or former customers of Defendant if an exotic dancer’s name or address is
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disclosed; (3) Plaintiffs would be hesistant to maintain this action enforcing fundamental

employee rights if their names were to be forever associated with Defendant’s Nightclubs,

which could affect their prospects for future employment by others; and (4) Plaintiffs wish to

protect their rights to privacy. Plaintiffs’ concerns are reasonable and justified. At the

Nightclubs, it is customary for the exotic dancers to use pseudonyms or stage names for

privacy and personal safety reasons. See generally Does I thru XXIII v. Advanced Textile

Corp., 214 F.3d 1058, 1067-1068 (9th Cir. 2000) (“In this circuit, we allow parties to use

pseudonyms in the ‘unusual case’ when nondisclosure of the party's identity ‘is necessary . . .

to protect a person from harassment, injury, ridicule or personal embarrassment.’ . . . We join

our sister circuits and hold that a party may preserve his or her anonymity in judicial

proceedings in special circumstances when the party’s need for anonymity outweighs

prejudice to the opposing party and the public's interest in knowing the party's identity.”).

8. Plaintiffs have filed Consents to Become Party Plaintiff executed by similarly

situated individuals, and intend to file additional consents as they are secured. Many similarly

situated individuals, however, will be afraid to join the lawsuit as party plaintiffs because of

reasonable fears relating to privacy, personal safety, and/or the potential for retaliation. In

order to allow them to pursue their rights under the FLSA without jeopardizing their privacy,

personal safety, or income, Plaintiffs pray that the Court permit party plaintiffs to keep their

names and addresses concealed. See generally Does I thru XXIII, 214 F.3d at 1071

(“complaining employees are more effectively protected from retaliation by concealing their

identities than by relying on the deterrent effect of post hoc remedies under FLSA's anti-

retaliation provision”).

9. Defendant SFBSC Management, LLC maintains ownership, recruitment,

and/or operational interests in various nightclubs featuring nude or semi-nude dancing in

California, including but not limited to nightclubs doing business as Hungry I, Centerfolds

(also known as DejaVu Centerfolds San Francisco), Roaring 20’s, Garden of Eden, Larry

Flynt’s Hustler Club (also known as Larry Flynt’s World Famous Hustler Club San

Francisco), Little Darlings, Gold Club, Market Street Cinema (which was also known as
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MSC), New Century, The Penthouse Club (formerly known as Showgirls or Broadway

Showgirls Cabaret), and Condor Gentlemen’s Club (also known as The Condor Club)

(collectively, the “Nightclubs”).

10. Defendant Chowder House, Inc. (“Hungry I”) operates a nightclub featuring

nude or semi-nude dancing in San Francisco, California, doing business as, including without

limitation, Hungry I.

11. Defendant Deja Vu – San Francisco, LLC (“Centerfolds”) operates a nightclub

featuring nude or semi-nude dancing in San Francisco, California, doing business as,

including without limitation: (a) Centerfolds; (b) DejaVu Centerfolds San Francisco; and

(c) DejaVu Centerfolds San Francisco.

12. Defendant Roaring 20’s, LLC (“Roaring 20’s”) operates a nightclub featuring

nude or semi-nude dancing in San Francisco, California, doing business as, including without

limitation: (a) Roaring 20’s; (b) Roaring 20s; (c) Roaring 20’s San Francisco; (d) Roaring 20s

SF; and (e) San Francisco Roaring 20’s.

13. Defendant Garden of Eden, LLC (“Garden of Eden”) operates a nightclub

featuring nude or semi-nude dancing in San Francisco, California, doing business as,

including without limitation: (a) Garden of Eden; (b) Garden of Eden San Francisco; (c) San

Francisco Garden of Eden; and (d) Garden of Eden SF.

14. Defendant S.A.W. Entertainment Limited (“S.A.W. Entertainment”) operates a

nightclub featuring nude or semi-nude dancing in San Francisco, California, doing business

as, including without limitation: (a) Larry Flynt’s Hustler Club; (b) Larry Flynt’s World

Famous Hustler Club; and (c) Larry Flynt’s World Famous Hustler Club San Francisco.

15. Defendant Deja Vu Showgirls of San Francisco, LLC (“Little Darlings”)

operates a nightclub featuring nude or semi-nude dancing in San Francisco, California, doing

business as, including without limitation: (a) Little Darlings; (b) Little Darlings San

Francisco; (c) Temptations/Little Darlings; (d) Temptations; and (d) Deja Vu Showgirls of

San Francisco.

16. Defendant Gold Club - S.F., LLC (“Gold Club”) operates a nightclub featuring
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nude or semi-nude dancing in San Francisco, California, doing business as, including without

limitation: (a) The Gold Club San Francisco; (b) Gold Club SF; (c) GoldClub [sic] SF;

(d) Gold Club SF, LLC; (e) Gold Club-SF, LLC; (f) GOLD CLUB; and (g) Gold Club San

Francisco.

17. Defendant Market St. Cinema, LLC (“Market Street Cinema”) operates a

nightclub featuring nude or semi-nude dancing in San Francisco, California, doing business

as, including without limitation: (a) Market Street Cinema; (b) Market St. Cinema; and (c)

MSC.

18. Defendant Bijou - Century, LLC (“New Century”) operates a nightclub

featuring nude or semi-nude dancing in San Francisco, California, doing business as,

including without limitation: (a) Century Theatre; and (b) New Century.

19. Defendant BT California, LLC (“The Penthouse Club”) operates a nightclub

featuring nude or semi-nude dancing in San Francisco, California, doing business as,

including without limitation: (a) The Penthouse Club; (b) Showgirls; (c) Broadway Showgirls

Cabaret; and (d) Broadway Showgirls.

20. Defendant S.A.W. Entertainment Limited (“S.A.W. Entertainment”) operates a

nightclub featuring nude or semi-nude dancing in San Francisco, California, doing business

as, including without limitation: (a) Condor; (b) Condor Gentlemen’s Club; (c) The Condor

Club; and (d) Condor Club San Francisco; (e) The Condor Night Club; (f) The Condor; and

(g) Condor SF.

21. The following Defendants are referred to herein as the “Nightclub

Defendants”: Defendant Chowder House, Inc., Defendant Deja Vu – San Francisco, LLC,

Defendant Roaring 20’s, LLC, Defendant Garden of Eden, LLC, Defendant S.A.W.

Entertainment Limited, Defendant Deja Vu Showgirls of San Francisco, LLC, Defendant

Gold Club - S.F., LLC, Defendant Market St. Cinema, LLC, Defendant Bijou - Century, LLC,

and Defendant BT California, LLC.

22. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate or

otherwise, of each of the Defendants designated herein as DOES are unknown to Plaintiffs at
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this time and therefore said Defendants are sued by such fictitious names. Plaintiffs will

amend this Complaint to show their true names and capacities when ascertained. Plaintiffs are

informed and believe and thereon allege that each Defendant designated herein as a DOE

defendant is legally responsible in some manner for the events and happenings herein alleged

and in such manner proximately caused damages to Plaintiffs as hereinafter further alleged.

23. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that each of the

Defendants was acting as the agent, employee, partner, or servant of each of the remaining

Defendants and was acting within the course and scope of that relationship, and gave consent

to, ratified, and authorized the acts alleged herein to each of the remaining Defendants.

24. On information and belief, Plaintiffs anticipate naming, and possibly

substituting, additional business entities or individuals because Defendant owns, operates,

and/or controls local nightclubs while maintaining shell corporations and/or sham agreements

to create the appearance that it does not have ownership and/or control of the nightclubs.

IV. GENERAL ALLEGATIONS APPLICABLE TO ALL COUNTS

25. Each of the Nightclubs is controlled by senior management of Defendant,

whose management controls the employment status, classification, and treatment of exotic

dancers. Each Nightclub has a distinct business location where Defendant operates and

conducts business with the public. Employees, executives, and officers of Defendant make

corporate decisions and execute contractual agreements and legal documents on behalf of the

Nightclubs, and otherwise control operations of the Nightclubs. Moreover, the Nightclubs

share with Defendant certain officers, directors, managers, and employees, who control

material matters pertinent to the exotic dancers’ work at the Nightclubs.

26. At all relevant times Defendant employed and/or jointly employed all exotic

dancers working in the Nightclubs, and managed, directed and controlled the exotic dancers in

each Nightclub, including but not limited to the following policies, practices, and decisions:

(1) to misclassify exotic dancers as independent contractors, as opposed to employees; (2) to

require that exotic dancers split their table dance tips with Nightclubs; (3) to require that

exotic dancers further split their table dance tips with Nightclubs’ managers, doormen, floor
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walkers, DJs and other workers who do not usually receive tips, by paying “tip-outs;” (4) to

not pay exotic dancers any wages; (5) to demand improper and unlawful payments from

exotic dancers; (6) to adopt and implement employment policies which violate the FLSA,

California Labor Code, California Business & Professions Code §§ 17200 et seq. (the

“UCL”), and SFMWO; and/or (7) to threaten retaliation against any exotic dancer attempting

to assert her statutory rights to be classified as an employee. Defendant and its principals

created the uniform business model employed at each Nightclub regarding exotic dancer

classification and tip splitting and require that it continue to be employed.

27. Defendant has agreed and conspired with others unlawfully: (1) to misclassify

exotic dancers as independent contractors, as opposed to employees at each Nightclub; (2) to

require that exotic dancers split their table dance tips with Nightclubs; (3) to require that

exotic dancers split their table dance tips with Defendant’s managers, doormen, floor walkers,

DJs and other workers who do not usually receive tips, by paying “tip-outs;” (4) not pay

exotic dancers any wages; (5) demand improper and unlawful payments from exotic dancers;

(6) adopt and implement employment policies and practices that violate the FLSA, the

California Labor Code, the UCL, the SFMWO, and/or other laws; and/or (7) threaten

retaliation against any exotic dancer attempting to assert her statutory rights to be treated as an

employee. The unlawful agreements in the enterprise were entered into in California as part

of a strategy to maximize the revenues and profits Defendant and its co-conspirators by

disregarding applicable wage and hour laws and engaging in the other unlawful conduct

described. The agreements were made when the Nightclubs were formed, began operations,

and/or when Defendant undertook to manage, direct, and operate the Nightclubs.

28. At all relevant times, Defendant has owned and operated nightclub businesses

(the Nightclubs) engaged in interstate commerce and utilizing goods that have moved in

interstate commerce. For example, goods sold at the Nightclubs are moved in interstate

commerce. Defendant owns, manages and/or controls the business operations at numerous

Nightclubs. During the relevant time period, the annual gross revenues of Defendant have

exceeded $500,000 per year.
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29. The foregoing facts demonstrate that Defendant, along with its Nightclubs and

the persons who directly and indirectly hold ownership interest in and/or control those

entities, were at all relevant times an “enterprise engaged in commerce” as defined in 29

U.S.C. §203(r) and §203(s). Defendant, its Nightclubs, and the owners and operators

constitute an “enterprise” within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §203(r)(1), because they perform

“related activities” through a “unified operation” exercising “common control” for a

“common business purpose.” At relevant times, Plaintiffs and class members were jointly

employed by Defendant’s enterprise engaged in commerce within the meaning of 29 U.S.C.

§206(a) and §207(a).

30. Defendant controls the adult entertainment industry in the San Francisco area,

inasmuch as it operates approximately 11 of the 17 adult nightclubs in the City, and operates

all but one of the large nightclubs. Further, because Defendant has increasing control of this

industry in San Francisco, and because of the concomitantly diminishing alternatives that

exotic dancers have for such work, Defendant has the economic power to prohibit exotic

dancers from engaging in collective bargaining – or from bargaining at all – and requires

exotic dancers to work under illegal and unconscionable terms.

31. The FLSA, the California Labor Code, and the SFMWO applied to the class

members when they worked at the Nightclubs. No exceptions to the application of the FLSA,

the California Labor Code, and/or the SFMWO apply to Plaintiffs and the class. The exotic

dancing performed by class members while working at the Nightclubs does not require

invention, imagination, or talent in a recognized field of artistic endeavor, and class members

have never been compensated by Defendant on a set salary, wage, or fee basis. Rather, class

members’ sole source of income while working at the Nightclubs has been a portion of tips

given to them by customers (e.g., table dance tips and stage dance tips).

32. At relevant times, Plaintiffs and class members are or were employees of

Defendant under the FLSA, the California Labor Code, and the SFMWO, but misclassified as

independent contractors. During the relevant time period, over 500 women have worked as

exotic dancers at Defendant’s Nightclubs without being paid any minimum wages, and have
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been denied other rights and benefits of employees. Each of Defendant’s Nightclubs averages

approximately 30 to 40 class members working on any given day.

33. At relevant times, Defendant has been the employer of Plaintiffs and class

members under the FLSA, the California Labor Code, and SFMWO. Defendant suffered or

permitted class members to work. Defendant has directly or indirectly employed, and

exercised significant control over the wages, hours, and working conditions of, Plaintiffs and

class members.

34. At all relevant times, Defendant has been a joint employer of Plaintiffs and

class members under the FLSA, the California Labor Code, and SFMWO. Plaintiffs’ and

class members’ employment by Defendant is not completely disassociated from employment

by others. Defendant does not act entirely independently of others and is not completely

dissociated with respect to the employment of Plaintiffs and the class members. Defendant

maintains significant control over the work performed at the Nightclubs by Plaintiffs and class

members. Defendant plays significant roles in establishing, maintaining, and directing the

employment policies that are applied to class members. Defendant benefits financially from

the work that class members perform at the Nightclubs. Additionally, the joint employers

have acted directly or indirectly in their joint interests in relation to supervision over, and

control of, Plaintiffs and class members. As a joint employer of Plaintiffs and class members,

Defendant is responsible both individually and jointly for compliance with all applicable

provisions of the FLSA, the California Labor Code, and/or the SFMWO.

35. During the relevant time period, the employment terms, conditions, and

policies that applied to Plaintiffs were the same as those applied to the other class members

who worked as exotic dancers at Defendant’s Nightclubs.

36. Throughout the relevant time period, Defendant’s policies and procedures

regarding the classification of all exotic dancers (including Plaintiffs) at its Nightclubs and

treatment of dance tips were the same in all material respects. As a matter of uniform policy,

Defendant has systematically misclassified Plaintiffs and all class members as independent

contractors, as opposed to employees. Defendant’s classification of Plaintiffs and class
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members as independent contractors was not due to any unique factor related to the exotic

dancers’ employment by or relationship with Defendant. Rather, as a matter of its uniform

business policy, Defendant has routinely misclassified all exotic dancers as independent

contractors as opposed to employees. All of Defendant’s Nightclubs have used the same or

materially identical purported contract attempting to classify exotic dancers as independent

contractors and confirming these uniform employment policies and procedures. As a result of

this uniform practice of misclassification, Plaintiffs and the class members have not been paid

the minimum wages under the FLSA, the California Labor Code, and/or the SFMWO, and

have been deprived of other statutory rights and benefits. Therefore, they have suffered harm,

injury, and have incurred financial loss.

37. Plaintiffs and class members have incurred financial loss, injury, and damage

as a result of Defendant’s common policies and practices of misclassifying them as

independent contractors and failing to pay them minimum wages in addition to the tips that

they were given by customers. The named Plaintiffs’ injuries and financial losses have been

caused by Defendant’s application of those common policies and practices in the same

manner as Defendant has applied them to absent class members.

38. During the relevant time period, no class member has received any wages or

other compensation from Defendant. Members of the class have generated income solely

through tips received from customers when they have performed exotic table, chair, couch,

lap, and/or VIP room “dances” (hereinafter collectively referred to as “table dance tips”).

39. All monies that class members such as Plaintiffs have received from customers

when they performed “dances” were tips, not wages or service fees. Tips belong to the person

to whom they are given. Table dance tips were given by customers directly to the class

members and therefore belong to the class members, not Defendant.

40. The full amount that class members are given by customers for exotic “dances”

they perform are not taken into Defendant’s gross receipts with a portion paid out to the exotic

dancers. Defendant does not issue W-2 forms, 1099 forms, or any other documentation to

class members indicating any amounts paid from gross receipts to class members as wages.
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41. Plaintiffs and class members are tipped employees as they are engaged in an

occupation in which they customarily and regularly receive more than $30 a month in tips.

No tip credits offsetting any minimum wages due, however, are permitted. See California

Labor Code § 351. Therefore, as employees of Defendant, class members are entitled (i) to

receive the full minimum wages due under the California Labor Code and/or the SFMWO,

without any tip credit, and (ii) to retain the full amount of any table dance tips and monies

given to them by customers when they perform exotic “dances.”

42. Defendant’s misclassification of Plaintiffs and class members as independent

contractors was designed to deny class members their fundamental rights as employees to

receive minimum wages, to demand and retain portions of tips given to class member by

customers, and done to enhance Defendant’s profits at the expense of the class.

43. Defendant’s misclassification of Plaintiffs and class members was willful.

Defendant knew or should have known that Plaintiffs and class members performing the

“exotic dancing” job functions were improperly misclassified as independent contractors.

44. Employment is defined with “striking breadth” in the wage and hour laws. See

Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Darden, 503 U.S. 318, 325-26, 112 S.Ct. 1344, 1349-50 (1992).

The determining factors as to whether exotic dancers such as Plaintiffs are employees or

independent contractors under the FLSA or the California Labor Code are not the exotic

dancer’s purported “election,” any subjective intent, or any purported contract. See, e.g.,

Rutherford Food Corp. v. McComb, 331 U.S. 722, 726-29 (1947); Real v. Driscoll Strawberry

Associates, Inc., 603 F.2d 784, 754-55 (9th Cir. 1979); S.G. Borello & Sons, Inc. v. Dep’t of

Industrial Relations, 48 Cal. 3d 341, 356-57 & n.7 (1989). Rather, the test for determining

whether an individual is an “employee” under the FLSA is the economic reality test. Under

that test, employee status turns on whether the individual is, as a matter of economic reality, in

business for herself and truly independent, or rather is economically dependent upon finding

employment by others.

45. Any purported contract that Defendant may impose in an attempt to have

workers in the class waive, limit or abridge their statutory rights to be treated as employees
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under the FLSA, the California Labor Code, and/or the SFMWO is void, unenforceable,

unconscionable, and contrary to public policy. Workers in the class cannot validly “elect” or

“choose” between being treated as employees or independent contractors under threat of

adverse treatment. Nor can workers in the class agree to be paid less than the minimum wage.

46. Despite this, Defendant unfairly, unlawfully, fraudulently, and unconscionably

has attempted to coerce class members to waive their rights under the FLSA, the California

Labor Code, and/or the SFMWO and “elect” to be treated as independent contractors.

Defendant threatens to penalize and discriminate against exotic dancers and/or potential exotic

dancers if they assert their rights under the FLSA, the California Labor Code, and/or the

SFMWO, such as through termination, confiscation of all table dance tips, and other adverse

decisions, conditions, and retaliations. Any actual or threatened retaliation against an

employee for the assertion of wage and hour law claims violates the state’s fundamental

public policy to protect the payment of wages and employees’ rights.

47. Under the applicable test, courts utilize several factors to determine economic

dependence and employment status. They include the following: (i) the degree of control

exercised by the alleged employer, (ii) the relative investments of the alleged employer and

employee, (iii) the degree to which the employee’s opportunity for profit and loss is

determined by the employer, (iv) the skill and initiative required in performing the job, (v) the

permanency of the relationship, and (vi) the degree to which the alleged employee’s tasks are

integral to the employer’s business.

48. The totality of circumstances surrounding the employment relationship

between Defendant and the class establishes economic dependence by the class on Defendant

and the class members’ employee status. The economic reality is that Plaintiffs and class

members are not in business for themselves and truly independent, but rather are

economically dependent upon finding employment in others, namely Defendant. The class

members are not engaged in occupations of businesses distinct from that of Defendant.

Rather, their work is the basis for Defendant’s business. Defendant obtains the customers

who desire exotic dance entertainment and Defendant provides the customers with its

Case 3:14-cv-03616-LB   Document 239-1   Filed 02/11/22   Page 166 of 270



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

SECOND AMENDED COLLECTIVE AND CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR SETTLEMENT
Roe v. SFBSC Management, LLC et al., Civil Case No. 14-cv-03616-LB

14

workers, the class members. The class members conduct the exotic dance “services” on

behalf of Defendant. Defendant retains pervasive control over the nightclub operations as a

whole, and the exotic dancers’ duties are an integral part of Defendant’s operations.

A. Degree of Control – Plaintiffs and The Other Exotic Dancers Exercise No

Control Over Their “Own” or Their Employers’ Business

49. Plaintiffs and the class members do not exert control over a meaningful part of

the Defendant’s nightclub business and do not stand as separate economic entities from

Defendant. Defendant exercises control over all aspects of the working relationship with

Plaintiffs and class members.

50. Class members’ economic status is inextricably linked to those conditions over

which Defendant has complete control. Plaintiffs and the other exotic dancers are completely

dependent on Defendant’s Nightclubs for their earnings. Defendant controls all of the

advertising and promotion without which the exotic dancers could not survive economically.

Moreover, Defendant creates and controls the working conditions, atmosphere, and

surroundings at the Nightclubs, the existence of which dictates the flow of customers. The

exotic dancers have no control over the customer volume or the working conditions.

51. Defendant has maintained guidelines and rules dictating the way in which

exotic dancers such as Plaintiffs must conduct themselves while working at the Nightclubs.

Defendant sets the hours of operation; length of shifts the exotic dancers must work; the show

times during which an exotic dancer may perform; minimum table dance tips; the sequence in

which an exotic dancer may perform on stage during her stage rotation; the format and themes

of exotic dancers’ performance (including their apparel and appearance); theme nights;

conduct while at work (e.g., that they be on the floor as much as possible when not on stage

and mingle with customers in a manner that supports Defendant’s general business plan); pay

tip-splits; pay “tip-outs” to managers, doormen and other employees who do not normally

receive tips from customers; require that exotic dancers help sell a minimum number of drinks

to customers (or be penalized and have to buy the drinks themselves); and all other terms and

conditions of employment.
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52. Defendant requires that Plaintiffs and the other class members schedule work

shifts. Defendant requires that each shift worked by an exotic dancer be of a minimum

number of hours. Further, Defendant requires exotic dancers such as Plaintiffs to clock in and

clock out (or otherwise check in or report) at the beginning and end of each shift. If late or

absent for a shift, an exotic dancer is subject to fine, penalty, or reprimand by Defendant.

Once a shift starts, an exotic dancer is required to complete the shift and cannot leave early

without penalty or reprimand.

53. While working at the Nightclubs, Plaintiffs and class members perform exotic

table, chair, couch, lap and/or VIP room “dances” for customers offering them tips (referred to

herein “table dance tips” or “tips”). Defendant, not the exotic dancers, sets the minimum tip

amount that exotic dancers must collect from customers when performing exotic “dances.”

Defendant announces the minimum tip amounts to customers in the nightclub desiring table

“dances.”

54. Defendant dictates the manner and procedure in which table dance tips are

collected from customers and tracked. Each time a class member has performed an exotic

table dance for a customer and received a table dance tip, the class member has been required

to immediately account to Defendant for the time and any table dance tip given to her by the

customer. Additionally, Defendant employs other workers called “checkers,” doormen, and/or

“floor walkers” to watch exotic dancers work, count private “dances” they perform, and

record the amount of any table dance tips received. At the end of a work shift, exotic dancers

are required to clock out and account to Defendant for all “dances” performed for the

customers of the nightclub. Then, in addition to any base “rent” payment, the exotic dancer is

required to pay over to the Defendant as “rent” a portion of each table dance tip given to them

by customers. The “rent” payment typically exceeds 30% of each table dance tip.

55. The entire sum that an exotic dancer receives from the customer for the table

dance is not given to Defendant (and/or its Nightclubs) and taken into its gross receipts.

Rather, the exotic dancers keep their share of the payment under the tip share policy and only

pay over to Defendant and/or the Nightclubs the portion they demand as “rent” (e.g., $7 from
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each $20 table dance tip received). As a result, there is no payout by Defendant to the exotic

dancer of any wage. Defendant issues no 1099 forms, W-2 forms, or other documentation to

exotic dancers showing any sums being paid to exotic dancers as wages.

56. Defendant establishes the split of percentage that each exotic dancer is required

to pay it for each type of dance that the exotic dancer receives in table dance tips during the

work shift. In addition, per-dance amounts of “tip-outs” must be paid by exotic dancers to the

Defendant’s nightclub managers, dance checkers, DJs, bouncers, door staff, and/or other

workers as part of Defendant’s tip-splitting policy. The foregoing facts demonstrate that

Defendant controls and sets the terms and conditions of all work by the exotic dancers. This

is the hallmark of economic dependence and control.

B. Skill and Initiative of a Person in Business for Herself

57. Plaintiffs, like all other class members, do not exercise the skills and initiative

of a person in business for themselves.

58. Plaintiffs, like all other class members, are not required to have any specialized

or unusual skills to work at Defendant’s Nightclubs. Prior dance experience is not required to

perform at Defendant’s Nightclubs. Exotic dancers are not required to attain a certain level of

specialized or unusual skill in order to work at Defendant’s Nightclubs.

59. Plaintiffs and class members do not have the opportunity to exercise business

skills and initiative necessary to elevate their status to that of independent contractors.

Plaintiffs and class members own no enterprise. They exercise no business management

skills. They maintain no separate business structures or facilities. They exercise no control

over the customer volume, working conditions, or atmosphere at Defendant’s Nightclubs.

They do not actively participate in any effort to increase the Defendant’s customer base,

enhance goodwill, or establish contracting possibilities. The scope of an exotic dancer’s

initiative is restricted to what apparel, if any, to wear (within Defendant’s strict guidelines) or

how provocatively to dance, a scope of initiative that is consistent with the status of an

employee as opposed to the status of an independent contractor.

60. Plaintiffs and Class members are not permitted to hire or subcontract other
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qualified individuals to provide additional “dances” to customers and increase their revenues,

as an independent contractor in business for themselves would.

C. Relative Investment

61. Plaintiffs’ and class members’ relative investment is minor when compared to

the investments made by Defendant. Plaintiffs and class members have made no capital

investment in the facilities, advertising, maintenance, sound system and lights, food, beverage,

and other inventory, or staffing, of Defendant’s Nightclubs. Defendant provides investment

and risk capital. Plaintiffs and class members do not. Other than their time and labor, any

investment by Plaintiffs and class members has been limited to expenditures on some apparel

and make-up. But for Defendant’s provision of the nightclub environment that Defendant has

designed to please its customers (an environment that presents the exotic dancers to customers

in a manner that Defendant has designed to increase Defendant’s own profits), Plaintiffs and

the class members would earn nothing from their relatively minor expenditures.

D. Opportunity for Profit and Loss

62. Defendant, not the class members, manages all aspects of the business

operation including attracting investors, establishing the hours of operation, setting the

working conditions and atmosphere, coordinating advertising, hiring and controlling the staff

(managers, waitresses, bartenders, bouncers/doormen, etc.). Defendant, not the class

members, takes the true business risks for the Nightclubs. Defendant, not the class members,

has responsibility for attracting investors required to provide the capital necessary to open,

operate, and expand the nightclub business.

63. Plaintiffs and class members do not control the key determinants of profit and

loss of a successful enterprise. Plaintiffs and class members are not responsible for any aspect

of the enterprise’s on-going business risk. For example, Defendant, not the class members,

has responsibility for financing, the acquisition and/or lease of the physical facilities and

equipment, inventory, the payment of wages (for managers, bartenders, doormen, and

waitresses), and obtaining appropriate business insurance and licenses. Defendant, not the

exotic dancers, establishes the minimum table dance tip amounts to be collected from
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customers for “dances.” Even with respect to any “rent” payments, the exotic dancers do not

truly pay “rent” for exclusive use of space. Rather, the term “rent” is a misnomer or

subterfuge for tip-splitting. Defendant demands a set portion (approximately 35%) of each

table dance tip given to an exotic dancer.

64. The extent of the immediate financial risk that Plaintiffs and class members

bear is the loss of any “base rent” fee that Defendant collects after each exotic dancer’s shift.

Defendant, not the exotic dancers, bears the risk of loss. For example, the table dance tips the

exotic dancers receive are not a return for risk on capital investment. They are a gratitude for

services rendered. Thus, it is clear that an exotic dancer’s “return on investment” (i.e., tips) is

illusory, and no different than that of a waiter who serves food during a customer’s meal at a

restaurant.

E. Permanency

65. Certain class members have worked at Defendant’s Nightclubs as exotic

dancers for significant periods of time.

F. Integral Part of Employer’s Business

66. Plaintiffs and the class members are essential to the success of Defendant’s

Nightclubs. The continued success of Defendant’s Nightclubs depends to a significant degree

upon the provision of exotic “dances” by class members for Defendant’s customers. The

primary reason that the Nightclubs exist is to showcase the exotic dancers’ physical attributes

for customers and for the exotic dancers to perform “lap dances” for customers. The primary

“product” or “good” that Defendant is in business to sell to customers that come to its

Nightclubs are the class members’ bodies and the “lap dances” that the class members

perform. Defendant recruits class members to work in its Nightclubs and instructs them to

work in specific ways.

67. At least some of Defendant’s Nightclubs do not serve alcohol and therefore are

not truly in direct competition with others in the nightclub, tavern, or bar business. Absent the

performance of exotic “dances” by exotic dancers, a nightclub serving only non-alcoholic

beverages would have difficulty remaining in business. Moreover, Defendant is able to
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charge admission prices and a much higher price for drinks (e.g., $10 for a single soft drink)

than establishments without exotic dancers are able to charge, because the exotic dancers are

the main attraction of Defendant’s Nightclubs. In other words, the exotic dancers attract

customers who are willing to pay more in order to enjoy the exotic dancers. As a result, the

exotic dancers are an integral part of Defendant’s nightclub business.

68. The foregoing facts demonstrate that exotic dancers such as Plaintiffs and the

class members are economically dependent on Defendant and subject to significant control by

Defendant. Therefore, Plaintiffs and class members have been misclassified by Defendant as

independent contractors and should have been paid minimum wages at all times when they

have worked at Defendant’s Nightclubs and otherwise should have been afforded all rights

and benefits of employees under federal, state, and local wage and hour laws.

G. Defendant’s Intent

69. All of Defendant’s actions and agreements as described herein were willful,

intentional, and not the result of mistake or inadvertence.

70. Defendant was aware that the FLSA, the California Labor Code, and the

SFMWO applied to its operation of the Nightclubs at all relevant times and that, under the

economic realities test applicable to determining employment status under those laws, it

misclassified the exotic dancers as independent contractors. Defendant was subject to, or

aware of, previous litigation and enforcement actions that successfully challenged the

misclassification of exotic dancers as independent contractors. Further Defendant was aware,

and on actual or constructive notice, that California Labor Code § 350(e), § 351, and A.B.

2509 rendered all table dance tips the exotic dancer’s sole property, and rendered Defendant’s

tip-share, rent, and tip-out policies unlawful. Despite being on notice of its violations,

Defendant intentionally chose to continue to misclassify the exotic dancers, withhold payment

of minimum wages, and require the exotic dancers to split their tips with Defendant and its

other workers, in order to enhance its profits. Such conduct and agreements were intentional,

unlawful, fraudulent, deceptive, unfair, and contrary to public policy.

H. Injury and Damage
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71. Plaintiffs and all class members have suffered injury, have been harmed, and

have incurred damage and financial loss as a result of Defendant’s conduct complained of

herein. Among other things, Plaintiffs and the class have been entitled to minimum wages

and have been entitled to retain all of the table dance tips and other tips they were given by

customers, but Defendant has denied them these rights, and thereby has injured Plaintiffs and

the class members, and caused them financial loss, harm, injury, and damage.

COLLECTIVE AND CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

72. Plaintiffs Jane Roes 1 and 3 bring the First Cause of Action (for violations of

the FLSA) as an “opt-in” collective action pursuant to Section 16(b) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §

216(b) on behalf of themselves and a proposed collection of similarly situated individuals

defined as follows, and hereinafter referred to as the “FLSA Collection”:

All individuals who have worked in California for Defendant(s) as an exotic
dancer at any time on or after the date three (3) years before the filing of this
action.

73. Plaintiffs Jane Roes 1 and 3 individually and on behalf of all others similarly

situated as defined above, seek relief on a collective basis challenging Defendant’s policy and

practice of failing to pay for all hours worked plus applicable overtime and failing to

accurately record all hours worked. Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collection are similarly situated,

have performed substantially similar duties for Defendant, and have been uniformly subject to

Defendant’s uniform, class-wide payroll practices that are ongoing, including Defendant’s

policy of and practice of not compensating class members for compensable time as described

herein. The number and identity of other similarly situated persons yet to opt-in and consent

to be party plaintiffs may be determined from the records of Defendant, and potential opt-ins

may be easily and quickly notified of the pendency of this action.

74. The names and addresses of the individuals who comprise the FLSA Collection

are available from Defendant. Accordingly, Plaintiffs herein pray for an Order requiring

Defendant to provide the names and all available locating information for all members of the

FLSA Collection, so that notice can be provided regarding the pendency of this action, and of
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such individuals’ right to opt-in to this action as party plaintiffs.

75. Plaintiffs Jane Roes 1 and 3 bring the Second through Ninth Causes of Action

(the California state law claims) as an “opt-out” class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil

Procedure 23, defined initially as follows, and hereinafter referred to as the “California

Class”:

All individuals who have worked in California for Defendant(s) as an exotic
dancer at any time on or after the date three (3) years before the filing of this
action.

Excluded from the California Class is anyone employed by counsel for Plaintiffs in this

action, and any Judge to whom this action is assigned and his or her immediate family

members.

76. Plaintiffs Jane Roes 1 and 3 bring the Tenth Cause of Action (the claims under

§ 17200 et seq.) as an “opt-out” class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23,

defined initially as follows, and hereinafter referred to as the “Section 17200 Class”:

All individuals who have worked in California for Defendant(s) as an exotic
dancer at any time on or after the date four (4) years before the filing of this
action.

Excluded from the class is anyone employed by counsel for Plaintiffs in this action, and any

Judge to whom this action is assigned and his or her immediate family members.

77. Numerosity. Defendant has employed hundreds of individuals as exotic

dancers during the relevant time periods.

78. Existence and Predominance of Common Questions. Common questions of

law and/or fact exist as to the members of the proposed classes and, in addition, common

questions of law and/or fact predominate over questions affecting only individual members of

the proposed classes. The common questions include the following:

a. Whether Defendant’s policy and practice of not paying exotic dancers the

minimum wage and/or at one-and-a-half (1.5) times the regular rate of pay

(i.e., time-and-a-half) for all hours worked in excess of forty hours in a

week or eight hours in a day violates the FLSA, California labor laws,
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and/or the SFMWO;

b. Whether Defendant’s payroll policies and practices have violated

California law;

c. Whether Defendant’s practices have violated the UCL;

d. Whether the class members are entitled to unpaid wages, waiting time

penalties, and other relief;

e. Whether Defendant’s affirmative defenses, if any, raise common issues of

fact or law as to Plaintiffs and the class members; and

f. Whether Plaintiffs and the proposed classes are entitled to damages and

equitable relief, including, but not limited to, restitution and a preliminary

and/or permanent injunction, and if so, the proper measure and formulation

of such relief.

79. Typicality. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the proposed classes.

Defendant’s common course of conduct in violation of law as alleged herein has caused

Plaintiffs and the proposed classes to sustain the same or similar injuries and damages.

Plaintiffs’ claims are therefore representative of and co-extensive with the claims of the

proposed classes.

80. Adequacy. Plaintiffs are adequate representatives of the proposed classes

because their interests do not conflict with the interests of the members of the classes they

seek to represent. Plaintiffs have retained counsel competent and experienced in complex

class action litigation, and Plaintiffs intend to prosecute this action vigorously. Plaintiffs and

their counsel will fairly and adequately protect the interests of members of the proposed

classes.

81. Superiority. The class action is superior to other available means for the fair

and efficient adjudication of this dispute. The injury suffered by each member of the

proposed classes, while meaningful on an individual basis, is not of such magnitude as to

make the prosecution of individual actions against Defendant economically feasible.

Individualized litigation increases the delay and expense to all parties and the court system

Case 3:14-cv-03616-LB   Document 239-1   Filed 02/11/22   Page 175 of 270



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

SECOND AMENDED COLLECTIVE AND CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR SETTLEMENT
Roe v. SFBSC Management, LLC et al., Civil Case No. 14-cv-03616-LB

23

presented by the legal and factual issues of the case. By contrast, the class action device

presents far fewer management difficulties and provides the benefits of single adjudication,

economies of scale, and comprehensive supervision by a single court.

82. In the alternative, the proposed classes may be certified because the

prosecution of separate actions by the individual members of the proposed classes would

create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudication with respect to individual members of the

proposed classes that would establish incompatible standards of conduct for Defendant; and

Defendant has acted and/or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the proposed

classes, thereby making appropriate final and injunctive relief with respect to members of the

proposed classes as a whole.

PRIVATE ATTORNEY GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

83. In addition to asserting class action claims in this action, Plaintiffs Jane Roes 1

and 3 assert claims as a private attorney general action on behalf of members of the general

public pursuant to the UCL. The purpose of such claims is to require Defendant to disgorge

and restore all monies wrongfully obtained by Defendant through its unlawful business acts

and practices. A private attorney general action is necessary and appropriate because

Defendant has engaged in the wrongful acts described herein as a general business practice.

Under the UCL, Plaintiffs pursue said representative claims and seeks relief on behalf of

themselves and the proposed classes pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

Violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act

84. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth

herein.

85. This particular claim presents a collective cause of action under the Fair Labor

Standards Act by Plaintiffs, as well as any similarly situated individuals who “opt in” to this

action under 29 U.S.C. § 216.

86. The Fair Labor Standards Act provides that a private civil action may be

brought for the non-payment of federal minimum wages and for an equal amount in liquidated
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damages in any court of competent jurisdiction by any employee on behalf of himself or

herself and others employees similarly situated pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). Moreover,

Plaintiffs may recover the attorneys’ fees incurred pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). Federal

district courts further have the authority to fashion injunctive relief pursuant to 29 U.S.C.

§ 217.

87. As set forth above, Defendant avoids its legal obligation to provide its exotic

dancers basic employee rights such as wages and workers compensation by employing them

under sham “independent contractor” agreements.

88. Defendant does this by presenting exotic dancers and/or potential exotic

dancers with non-negotiable employment “options”: an independent contractor “option” and

an employee “option.” Virtually all, if not all, exotic dancers necessarily choose the

independent contractor “option” because it is the only real “option.” In other words, the

Defendant’s purported “choice” for exotic dancers to decide whether to work as “employees”

or “independent contractors” is not a choice at all. It is a sham.

89. Notwithstanding the legal principle that independent contractors have greater

control over their work than employees, Defendant does not, as a matter of practice, observe

any real distinction between “independent contractor” exotic dancers and “employee” exotic

dancers, other than to refuse, terminate, retaliate against, and/or not hire any woman who

requests “employee” status. Defendant exercises great control over all exotic dancers,

regardless of classification.

90. Defendant’s control over its exotic dancers is sufficient to render all of them

employees. Defendant uses sham “independent contractor” agreements to avoid its duties to

pay wages. Further, as described above, Defendant actually has used its sham “independent

contractor” agreements to require exotic dancers to pay to work.

91. Defendant’s failure to pay the exotic dancers an hourly rate of at least the

federal minimum wage violates 29 U.S.C. § 206(a)(1)(c). That failure is willful, intentional,

and in bad faith, as alleged in more detail herein.

92. Therefore, Plaintiffs seek, on behalf of themselves, and Jane Roes 1 and 3 on
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behalf of all others who “opt in” to this cause of action under 29 U.S.C. § 216, unpaid wages,

including minimum wages and overtime wages, reimbursement of stage fees, liquidated

damages, interest, attorneys’ fees and costs, and all other costs and penalties allowed by law.

Plaintiffs further seek injunctive relief to compel Defendant to recognize exotic dancers’

employee status, to provide all wages guaranteed by law, and for this Court’s continuing

jurisdiction to enforce compliance.

93. In addition and/or in the alternative, and as further described below, Plaintiff

Jane Roe 1 asserts this cause of action, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated,

against the Nightclub Defendants.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

Failure to Pay All Straight Time Worked in Violation of Calif. Labor Code § 1194,

1194.2, 1197, 1197.1, 1198

94. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth

herein.

95. California Labor Code §§ 1194, 1194.2, 1194.5, 1197, 1197.1 and 1198

provide for a private right of action for nonpayment of wages, and further provides that a

plaintiff may recover the unpaid balance of the full amount of such wages, together with costs

of suit, as well as liquidated damages, interest thereon, injunctive relief, and the attorneys’

fees and costs incurred.

96. At all relevant times, Defendant has been required to pay the exotic dancers

minimum wages under California law, including without limitation pursuant to IWC Wage

Order Nos. 4, 5, and/or 10, but has not done so. Defendant has willfully failed to pay

Plaintiffs and class members any wages whatsoever. By failing to compensate them for all

hours worked, Defendant has violated IWC Wage Order Nos. 4, 5, and/or 10 and/or California

Labor Code §§ 1182.12, 1194, 1194.2, 1194.5, 1197, 1197.1, and 1198.

97. Therefore, Plaintiffs seek, on behalf of themselves, and Jane Roes 1 and 3 on

behalf of all others similarly situated, unpaid wages at the required legal rate, reimbursement

of stage fees, liquidated damages, interest, attorneys’ fees and costs, and all other costs and
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penalties allowed by law. Plaintiffs further seek injunctive relief to compel Defendant to

recognize exotic dancers’ employee status, to provide all payment guaranteed by law, and for

this Court’s continuing jurisdiction to enforce compliance.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

Failure to Pay the Minimum Wage for All Hours Worked in Violation of San Francisco

Administrative Code Chapter 12R

98. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth

herein.

99. During the class period, Defendant has employed Plaintiffs and the class

members, but has willfully failed to treat them as employees or pay them any wages

whatsoever.

100. Pursuant to the San Francisco Administrative Code, Chapter 12R (the

SFMWO), Plaintiffs and the proposed California Class are entitled to recover in a civil action

the unpaid balance of the full amount of straight time owed to them, including interest

thereon, plus liquidated damages, plus reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.

101. In addition and/or in the alternative, and as further described below, Plaintiff

Jane Roe 1 asserts this cause of action, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated,

against the Nightclub Defendants.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Failure to Pay Overtime as Required by State Law

102. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth

herein.

103. At all times relevant to the Complaint, Wage Order Nos. 4, 5 and 10 have

required the payment of an overtime premium for hours worked in excess of 8 hours in a

workday, 40 hours in a workweek, or on the seventh day worked in a single workweek.

104. During the relevant time period, Plaintiffs and the class members were

employed by Defendant within California but were not paid overtime wages for overtime

hours worked.

Case 3:14-cv-03616-LB   Document 239-1   Filed 02/11/22   Page 179 of 270



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

SECOND AMENDED COLLECTIVE AND CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR SETTLEMENT
Roe v. SFBSC Management, LLC et al., Civil Case No. 14-cv-03616-LB

27

105. Defendant’s failure to pay overtime wages violates, inter alia, California Labor

Code §§ 510, 558, 1194, and 1198, and the above-referenced Wage Orders.

106. Plaintiffs request that Defendant be required to pay them, and all those

similarly situated, all overtime wages illegally withheld, penalties as provided under the

California Labor Code including §§ 201-203, 510 and 1194.1(a) et seq., punitive/exemplary

damages, and attorneys’ fees and costs under California Labor Code § 218.5 and 1194(a).

107. In addition and/or in the alternative, and as further described below, Plaintiff

Jane Roe 1 asserts this cause of action, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated,

against the Nightclub Defendants.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Failure to Provide Itemized Wage Statements in Violation of California Labor Code

§ 226 and IWC Wage Orders

108. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth

herein.

109. California Labor Code § 226(a) requires: “Every employer shall, semimonthly

or at the time of each payment of wages, furnish each of his or her employees, either as a

detachable part of the check, draft, or voucher paying the employee's wages, or separately

when wages are paid by personal check or cash, an accurate itemized statement in writing

showing (1) gross wages earned, (2) total hours worked by the employee, except for any

employee whose compensation is solely based on a salary and who is exempt from payment

of overtime under subdivision (a) of Section 515 or any applicable order of the Industrial

Welfare Commission, (3) the number of piece-rate units earned and any applicable piece rate

if the employee is paid on a piece-rate basis, (4) all deductions, provided that all deductions

made on written orders of the employee may be aggregated and shown as one item, (5) net

wages earned, (6) the inclusive dates of the period for which the employee is paid, (7) the

name of the employee and only the last four digits of his or her social security number or an

employee identification number other than a social security number, (8) the name and address

of the legal entity that is the employer and, if the employer is a farm labor contractor, as
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defined in subdivision (b) of Section 1682, the name and address of the legal entity that

secured the services of the employer, and (9) all applicable hourly rates in effect during the

pay period and the corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate by the

employee and, beginning July 1, 2013, if the employer is a temporary services employer as

defined in Section 201.3, the rate of pay and the total hours worked for each temporary

services assignment. The deductions made from payment of wages shall be recorded in ink or

other indelible form, properly dated, showing the month, day, and year, and a copy of the

statement and the record of the deductions shall be kept on file by the employer for at least

three years at the place of employment or at a central location within the State of California.”

110. Defendant has failed, and continues to fail, to provide timely, accurate itemized

wage statements to Plaintiffs and California Class members in accordance with California

Labor Code § 226 and Wage Order Nos. 4, 5, and 10. The wage statements that Defendant

has provided to its exotic dancers, including Plaintiffs and the proposed California Class

members, do not accurately reflect the actual hours worked and/or wages earned.

111. Defendant’s failure to provide timely, accurate, itemized wage statements to

Plaintiffs and members of the proposed California Class in accordance with the California

Labor Code and the California Wage Orders has been knowing and intentional. Accordingly,

Defendant is liable for damages and penalties under California Labor Code § 226.

112. In addition and/or in the alternative, and as further described below, Plaintiff

Jane Roe 1 asserts this cause of action, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated,

against the Nightclub Defendants.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Waiting Time Penalties Under California Labor Code §§ 201, 202, and 203

113. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth

herein.

114. California Labor Code § 201(a) requires an employer who discharges an

employee to pay compensation due and owing to said employee upon discharge. California

Labor Code § 202(a) requires an employer to pay compensation due and owing within
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seventy-two (72) hours of an employee’s termination of employment by resignation.

California Labor Code § 203 provides that if an employer willfully fails to pay compensation

promptly upon discharge or resignation, as required under §§ 201 and 202, then the employer

is liable for waiting time penalties in the form of continued compensation for up to thirty (30)

work days.

115. Certain members of the proposed California Class are no longer employed by

Defendant but have not been paid full compensation for all hours worked, as alleged above.

They are entitled to unpaid compensation for all hours worked, and overtime, for which to

date they have not received compensation, and any applicable overtime.

116. Defendant has failed and refused, and continues to willfully fail and refuse, to

timely pay compensation and wages and compensation to Plaintiffs and members of the

proposed California Class whose employment with Defendant have terminated, as required by

California Labor Code §§ 201 and 202. As a direct and proximate result, Defendant is liable

to all such California Class members for up to thirty (30) days of waiting time penalties

pursuant to California Labor Code § 203, together with interest thereon.

117. WHEREFORE, pursuant to Labor Code §§ 218, 218.5, and 218.6, Plaintiffs

and Class members are entitled to recover the full amount of their unpaid wages, continuation

wages under § 203, interest thereon, reasonable attorneys’ fees, and costs of suit.

118. In addition and/or in the alternative, and as further described below, Plaintiff

Jane Roe 1 asserts this cause of action, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated,

against the Nightclub Defendants.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Failure To Pay all Wages Owed Every Pay Period Under California Labor Code § 204

119. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth

herein.

120. During the relevant time period, Plaintiffs and class members have been

employees of Defendant covered by Labor Code § 204 but have been misclassified and not

treated as employees.
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121. Pursuant to Labor Code § 204, Plaintiffs and class members were entitled to

receive on regular paydays all wages earned for the pay period corresponding to the payday.

122. Defendant has failed to pay Plaintiffs and class members all wages earned each

pay period. On information and belief, at all times during the proposed class period,

Defendant has maintained a policy or practice of not paying Plaintiffs and class members

overtime wages for all overtime hours worked.

123. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs and class members have

suffered damages in an amount, subject to proof, to the extent they were not paid all wages

and/or compensation and/or penalties each pay period. The precise amounts of unpaid wages,

compensation, and/or penalties are not presently known to Plaintiffs but can be determined

directly from Defendant’s records or indirectly based on information from Defendant’s

records and/or information known by class members.

124. WHEREFORE, pursuant to Labor Code §§ 218, 218.5 and 218.6, Plaintiffs

and class members are entitled to recover the full amount of their unpaid wages, interest

thereon, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit.

125. In addition and/or in the alternative, and as further described below, Plaintiff

Jane Roe 1 asserts this cause of action, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated,

against the Nightclub Defendants.

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Common Law Conversion

126. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth

herein.

127. Defendant’s failure to give class members gratuities from customers that were

given and/or left for class members, as alleged above, constitutes common law conversion.

128. Defendant has assumed control and ownership over the above-referenced

gratuities, and applied them to its own use.

129. Plaintiffs and class members had a right of ownership and possession over the

above-referenced gratuities.
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130. Defendant’s theft and retention of the above-referenced gratuities, without

consent, have caused Plaintiffs and class members significant financial harm.

131. In failing to pay said monies to Plaintiffs and class members and retaining that

money for its own use, Defendant has acted with malice, oppression, and/or conscious

disregard for the statutory rights of Plaintiffs and class members. Such wrongful and

intentional acts, given the number of victims and the number of acts and previous claims

and/or lawsuits relative to similar acts, justify awarding Plaintiffs and class members punitive

damages pursuant to California Civil Code § 3294 et seq. in an amount sufficient to deter

future similar conduct by Defendant.

132. In addition and/or in the alternative, and as further described below, Plaintiff

Jane Roe 1 asserts this cause of action, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated,

against the Nightclub Defendants.

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Failure to Reimburse for Expenses in Violation of Cal. Labor Code §§ 450, 2802

133. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth

herein.

134. Defendant’s conduct, as alleged above, violates California Labor Code

§§ 450, 2802, insofar as Defendant has misclassified Plaintiffs and class members as

independent contractors, and has failed to reimburse them for expenses that they paid that

should have been paid by their employer.

135. In addition and/or in the alternative, and as further described below, Plaintiff

Jane Roe 1 asserts this cause of action, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated,

against the Nightclub Defendants.

TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of California’s Unfair Competition Law, Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 et seq.

136. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth

herein.

137. Plaintiffs bring this claim on behalf of themselves, and Jane Roes 1 and 3 on
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behalf of all others similarly situated in their representative capacities as private attorneys

general against Defendant and Does 1 through 200 for their unlawful business acts and/or

practices pursuant to the UCL, which prohibits all unlawful business acts/or practices.

138. Plaintiffs Jane Roes 1 and 3 assert these claims as representatives of an

aggrieved group and as private attorneys general on behalf of the general public and other

persons who have been exposed to Defendant’s unlawful acts and/or practices and are owed

wages that the Defendant should be required to pay or reimburse under the restitutionary

remedy provided by the UCL.

139. As set forth herein, Defendant is engaging in numerous illegal business

practices that constitute unlawful and/or unfair and/or fraudulent business acts and/or

practices within the meaning of the UCL, including but not limited to imposing sham, non-

negotiable “independent contractor” agreements on exotic dancers to avoid its legal obligation

to provide basic employee rights, failing to give exotic dancers gratuities from customers that

were given and/or left for exotic dancers, as alleged above, in violation of California Labor

Code § 351, failing to pay for all hours worked including minimum wage and overtime,

failing to pay all wages when they were due and upon termination, failing to provide accurate

and itemized wage statements, and failing to reimburse business expenses.

140. Defendant’s conduct constitutes one or more unfair business practices as

defined in the UCL. Defendant’s conduct was and is unfair within the meaning of the UCL

because it is unlawful, causes significant harm to Plaintiffs and similarly situated individuals,

and is in no way counterbalanced by any legitimate utility to Defendant. In addition, the

conduct offends established legislatively declared public policy and has been immoral,

unethical, oppressive, and unscrupulous. Plaintiffs and the Class members have been injured

by Defendant’s illegal activities, which have deprived them of their rights as employees,

including wages. They have suffered injury in fact, losing money and property, including

without limitation in the form of unpaid wages, in the form of misappropriated gratuities, and

in the form of money spent on business expenses that should have been borne by the

employer. Plaintiffs and Class members are entitled to restitution of monies due,
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disgorgement of the ill-gotten gains of Defendant, declaratory relief, a preliminary and

permanent injunction enjoining Defendant from continuing the unlawful and unfair practices

described herein, and to such other equitable relief as is appropriate under the UCL, including

the fees, costs, and expenses incurred in vindicating their rights and the public interest

generally, pursuant to California Business and Professions Code § 17203, California Code of

Civil Procedure §1021.1, and any other applicable law.

141. In addition and/or in the alternative, and as further described below, Plaintiff

Jane Roe 1 asserts this cause of action, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated,

against the Nightclub Defendants.

ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

PAGA CLAIMS

Cal. Lab. Code § 2699(a), (f)

142. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the above listed paragraphs as if fully set

forth herein.

143. To enforce California law, Plaintiffs prosecute this cause of action under the

Labor Code Private Attorneys General Act of 2004, California Labor Code § 2698 et seq.

(“PAGA”), on behalf of themselves, and Jane Roes 1 and 3, on behalf of others currently and

formerly employed by Defendant as exotic dancers, to recover civil penalties for Defendant’s

violations of law, pursuant to the procedures in Labor Code § 2699.3.

144. “The purpose of the PAGA is . . . to create a means of “deputizing” citizens as

private attorneys general to enforce the Labor Code.” Brown v. Ralphs Grocery Co., 197 Cal.

App. 4th 489, 501 (2011).

145. PAGA provides: “Notwithstanding any other provision of law, any provision

of this code that provides for a civil penalty to be assessed and collected by the Labor and

Workforce Development Agency or any of its departments, divisions, commissions, boards,

agencies, or employees, for a violation of this code, may, as an alternative, be recovered

through a civil action brought by an aggrieved employee on behalf of himself or herself and

other current or former employees pursuant to the procedures specified in Section 2699.3.”
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California Labor Code § 2699(a).

146. PAGA also provides: “For all provisions of this code except those for which a

civil penalty is specifically provided, there is established a civil penalty for a violation of

these provisions, as follows: (1) If, at the time of the alleged violation, the person does not

employ one or more employees, the civil penalty is five hundred dollars ($500). (2) If, at the

time of the alleged violation, the person employs one or more employees, the civil penalty is

one hundred dollars ($100) for each aggrieved employee per pay period for the initial

violation and two hundred dollars ($200) for each aggrieved employee per pay period for each

subsequent violation.” California Labor Code § 2699(f)(1)-(2).

147. “Of the civil penalties recovered, 75 percent goes to the Labor and Workforce

Development Agency, leaving the remaining 25 percent for the ‘aggrieved employees.’

Iskanian v. CLS Transp. Los Angeles, LLC, 59 Cal. 4th 348, 380 (2014) (quoting Cal. Lab.

Code § 2699, subd. (i)). “[A]n aggrieved employee acting as the LWDA’s proxy or agent by

bringing a PAGA action may likewise recover underpaid wages as a civil penalty under

section 558.” Thurman v. Bayshore Transit Management, Inc., 203 Cal. App. 4th 1112, 1148

(2012). “[T]he language of section 558, subdivision (a) . . . provid[es] a civil penalty that

consists of both the $50 or $100 penalty amount and any underpaid wages, with the underpaid

wages going entirely to the affected employee or employees as an express exception to the

general rule that civil penalties recovered in a PAGA action are distributed 75 percent to the

Labor and Workforce Development Agency (LWDA) and 25 percent to the aggrieved

employees (§ 2699, subd. (i)).” Id. at 1145.

148. PAGA also provides: “Any employee who prevails in any action shall be

entitled to an award of reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.” California Labor Code

§ 2699(g)(1).

149. Plaintiffs Jane Roes 1 and 3 bring this action under PAGA against SFBSC

Management, LLC and the Nightclub Defendants individually and as a representative suit on

behalf of all current and former employees pursuant to the procedures in California Labor

Code § 2699.3 or in the alternative as a class action as alleged above.
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150. The factual allegations in this complaint against Defendant SFBSC

Management, LLC are also alleged, either in addition or in the alternative, against the

Nightclub Defendants.

COMPLIANCE WITH NOTICE AND EXHAUSTION REQUIREMENTS

151. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the above listed paragraphs as if fully set

forth herein.

152. The LWDA and Defendant SFBSC Management, LLC were notified about

violations of law by letter dated August 11, 2014, which was mailed by certified mail on that

date to SFBSC MANAGEMENT, LLC, PO BOX 2602, SEATTLE WA 98111 and to the

LWDA. The exhaustion requirement was satisfied by waiting until November 28, 2014 to file

the amended complaint in this Court alleging PAGA claims. The facts and theories set forth

in the letter qualified as sufficient notice.

153. The LWDA and Defendant SFBSC Management, LLC were notified about

violations of law by letter dated December 10, 2014, which was mailed by certified mail on

that date to SFBSC MANAGEMENT, LLC, PO BOX 2602, SEATTLE WA 98111 and to the

LWDA. The letter specifically identified all of the Nightclubs by name. The facts and

theories set forth in the letter qualified as sufficient notice

154. The LWDA, Defendant SFBSC Management, LLC, and the Nightclub

Defendants were notified about violations of law by letter dated December 7, 2016, which

was mailed by certified mail on that date to SFBSC Management, LLC, the Nightclub

Defendants, and the LWDA.

PRIVATE ATTORNEY GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

155. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the above listed paragraphs as if fully set

forth herein.

156. As alleged herein and above, Defendants SFBSC Management, LLC and/or the

Nightclub Defendants have violated several provisions of the California Labor Code for

which Plaintiffs are seeking recovery of civil penalties, including but not limited to Labor

Code §§ 201, 202, 204, 210, 223, 226, 226.3, 226.8, 245-249, 351, 353, 432.5, 450, 510, 558,
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1174, 1194, 1194.2, 1194.5, 1197, 1197.1, 1198, 1199, 2753, 2802, 3700, 3700.5, 3712, 3715,

and Wage Order Nos. 4, 5, and/or 10.

CALIFORNIA LABOR CODE VIOLATIONS

Willful Misclassification in Violation of Labor Code § 226.8

157. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth

herein.

158. California Labor Code 226.8(a) provides: “It is unlawful for any person or

employer to engage in any of the following activities: (1) Willful misclassification of an

individual as an independent contractor. (2) Charging an individual who has been willfully

misclassified as an independent contractor a fee, or making any deductions from

compensation, for any purpose, including for goods, materials, space rental, services,

government licenses, repairs, equipment maintenance, or fines arising from the individual’s

employment where any of the acts described in this paragraph would have violated the law if

the individual had not been misclassified.”

159. California Labor Code 226.8(b) provides that if the “court issues a

determination that a person or employer has engaged in any of the enumerated violations of

subdivision (a), the person or employer shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than five

thousand dollars ($5,000) and not more than fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000) for each

violation, in addition to any other penalties or fines permitted by law.”

160. California Labor Code 226.8(c) provides that if the “court issues a

determination that a person or employer has engaged in any of the enumerated violations of

subdivision (a) and the person or employer has engaged in or is engaging in a pattern or

practice of these violations, the person or employer shall be subject to a civil penalty of not

less than ten thousand dollars ($10,000) and not more than twenty-five thousand dollars

($25,000) for each violation, in addition to any other penalties or fines permitted by law.”

161. The California Court of Appeal has stated: “Nothing in our analysis precludes

plaintiffs from pursuing enforcement of section 226.8 through their PAGA claim.” Noe v.

Superior Court, 237 Cal. App. 4th 316, 341 n.15 (2015). See also Johnson v. Serenity
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Transp., Inc., 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 108227, at *10-11 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 17, 2015) (“at least

one California court has suggested that plaintiffs may bring a PAGA claim predicated on a

Section 226.8 violation”) (citing Noe).

162. Defendants are jointly and severally liable, pursuant to Labor Code § 2753, for

advising an employer to misclassify an employee, in exchange for valuable consideration.

163. Defendants have violated California Labor Code § 226.8 through their conduct

described herein, and therefore Plaintiffs seeks recovery of the penalties specified herein.

Failure to Pay Minimum Wages as Required by State Law

164. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth

herein.

165. California Labor Code § 1197.1(a) provides: “Any employer or other person

acting either individually or as an officer, agent, or employee of another person, who pays or

causes to be paid to any employee a wage less than the minimum fixed by an order of the

commission shall be subject to a civil penalty, restitution of wages, liquidated damages

payable to the employee, and any applicable penalties imposed pursuant to Section 203 as

follows: (1) For any initial violation that is intentionally committed, one hundred dollars

($100) for each underpaid employee for each pay period for which the employee is underpaid.

This amount shall be in addition to an amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages,

liquidated damages pursuant to Section 1194.2, and any applicable penalties imposed pursuant

to Section 203. (2) For each subsequent violation for the same specific offense, two hundred

fifty dollars ($250) for each underpaid employee for each pay period for which the employee

is underpaid regardless of whether the initial violation is intentionally committed. This

amount shall be in addition to an amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages, liquidated

damages pursuant to Section 1194.2, and any applicable penalties imposed pursuant to

Section 203. (3) Wages, liquidated damages, and any applicable penalties imposed pursuant

to Section 203, recovered pursuant to this section shall be paid to the affected employee.”

166. California Labor Code § 558 provides, in relevant part: “(a) Any employer or

other person acting on behalf of an employer who violates, or causes to be violated, a section
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of this chapter or any provision regulating hours and days of work in any order of the

Industrial Welfare Commission shall be subject to a civil penalty as follows: (1) For any

initial violation, fifty dollars ($50) for each underpaid employee for each pay period for which

the employee was underpaid in addition to an amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages.

(2) For each subsequent violation, one hundred dollars ($100) for each underpaid employee

for each pay period for which the employee was underpaid in addition to an amount sufficient

to recover underpaid wages. (3) Wages recovered pursuant to this section shall be paid to the

affected employee. . . . (c) The civil penalties provided for in this section are in addition to

any other civil or criminal penalty provided by law.”

167. The California Court of Appeal has held: “We disagree that section 558

provides for a civil penalty of $50 or $100 only, and that it clearly excludes underpaid wages

from the civil penalty. In our view, the language of section 558, subdivision (a), is more

reasonably construed as providing a civil penalty that consists of both the $50 or $100 penalty

amount and any underpaid wages, with the underpaid wages going entirely to the affected

employee or employees as an express exception to the general rule that civil penalties

recovered in a PAGA action are distributed 75 percent to the Labor and Workforce

Development Agency (LWDA) and 25 percent to the aggrieved employees (§ 2699, subd.

(i)).” Thurman v. Bayshore Transit Management, Inc., 203 Cal. App. 4th 1112, 1145 (2012).

168. At all relevant times, Defendants have willfully failed to pay Plaintiffs and

other exotic dancers any wages whatsoever.

169. At all relevant times, Defendants have been required to pay the exotic dancers

minimum wages under California law, including without limitation pursuant to IWC Wage

Order Nos. 4, 5, and/or 10, but has not done so.

170. “[T]he Legislature . . . authorized the LWDA to recover underpaid wages on

behalf employees in the form of a civil penalty under section 558. Accordingly, an aggrieved

employee acting as the LWDA’s proxy or agent by bringing a PAGA action may likewise

recover underpaid wages as a civil penalty under section 558.” Thurman v. Bayshore Transit

Management, Inc., 203 Cal. App. 4th 1112, 1148 (2012).
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171. Based on the violations set forth herein, on behalf of themselves and the other

current and former employees, Plaintiffs seek recovery pursuant to Labor Code § 558 of either

fifty dollars ($50) or one hundred dollars ($100) for each underpaid employee for each pay

period for which the employee was underpaid, to be distributed 75 percent to the Labor and

Workforce Development Agency (LWDA) and 25 percent to the aggrieved employees.

172. Based on the violations set forth herein, on behalf of themselves and the other

current and former employees, Plaintiffs also seek recovery pursuant to Labor Code

§ 1197.1(a) of either one hundred dollars ($100) or two hundred fifty dollars ($250) for each

underpaid employee for each pay period for which the employee is underpaid, to be

distributed 75 percent to the Labor and Workforce Development Agency (LWDA) and 25

percent to the aggrieved employees.

173. In addition, on behalf of themselves and the other current and former

employees, Plaintiffs seek recovery of the underpaid wages going entirely to the affected

employees, as a civil penalty pursuant to Labor Code § 558.

174. PAGA also allows for recovery with respect to Labor Code § 1194 for “any

employee receiving less than the legal minimum wage or the legal overtime compensation

applicable to the employee.” See Labor Code § 2699.5 (listing, inter alia, § 1194).

Therefore, because of Defendants’ failure to pay the legal minimum wage as required by state

law, as alleged herein, Defendants are liable for civil penalties under California Labor Code

§ 2699(f)(1)-(2) for each aggrieved employee per pay period.

175. PAGA also allows for recovery with respect to Labor Code § 1198 which

provides, in relevant part: “The employment of any employee . . . under conditions of labor

prohibited by the order [of the IWC] is unlawful.” See Labor Code § 2699.5 (listing, inter

alia, § 1198). Therefore, because of Defendants’ violations of one or more IWC wage orders,

as alleged herein, Defendants are liable for civil penalties under California Labor Code

§ 2699(f)(1)-(2) for each aggrieved employee per pay period.

Failure to Pay Overtime as Required by State Law

176. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs in this complaint as if fully
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set forth herein.

177. At all relevant times, Defendants have willfully failed to treat the exotic

dancers as employees and has not paid them overtime wages for overtime hours worked.

178. At all relevant times, Defendants have been required to pay the exotic dancers

an overtime premium for hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours in a workday, forty (40)

hours in a workweek, or on the seventh consecutive day of work in a workweek pursuant to

IWC Wage Order Nos. 4, 5, and/or 10, but have not done so.

179. Based on the violations set forth herein, on behalf of themselves and the other

current and former employees, Plaintiffs seek recovery pursuant to Labor Code § 558 of either

fifty dollars ($50) or one hundred dollars ($100) for each underpaid employee for each pay

period for which the employee was underpaid, to be distributed 75 percent to the Labor and

Workforce Development Agency (LWDA) and 25 percent to the aggrieved employees.

180. Based on the violations set forth herein, on behalf of themselves and the other

current and former employees, Plaintiffs also seek recovery pursuant to Labor Code

§ 1197.1(a) of either one hundred dollars ($100) or two hundred fifty dollars ($250) for each

underpaid employee for each pay period for which the employee is underpaid, to be

distributed 75 percent to the Labor and Workforce Development Agency (LWDA) and 25

percent to the aggrieved employees.

181. In addition, on behalf of themselves and the other current and former

employees, Plaintiffs seek recovery of the underpaid wages going entirely to the affected

employees, as a civil penalty pursuant to Labor Code § 558.

182. PAGA also allows for recovery with respect to Labor Code § 1194 for “any

employee receiving less than the legal minimum wage or the legal overtime compensation

applicable to the employee.” See Labor Code § 2699.5 (listing, inter alia, § 1194).

Therefore, because of Defendant’s failure to pay overtime as required by state law, as alleged

herein, to the extent that § 1194’s provision for recovery of “the unpaid balance of the full

amount of this minimum wage or overtime compensation, including interest thereon”

constitutes “civil penalties” recoverable under Labor Code § 2699(a) or “underpaid wages”
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recoverable as a civil penalty (cf. Thurman v. Bayshore Transit Management, Inc., 203 Cal.

App. 4th 1112, 1148 (2012)), Defendant is liable for such civil penalties, or in the alternative,

Defendant is liable for civil penalties under California Labor Code § 2699(f)(1)-(2) for each

aggrieved employee per pay period.

183. PAGA also allows for recovery with respect to Labor Code § 1198 which

provides, in relevant part: “The employment of any employee . . . under conditions of labor

prohibited by the order [of the IWC] is unlawful.” See Labor Code § 2699.5 (listing, inter

alia, § 1198). Therefore, because of Defendants’ violations of one or more IWC wage orders,

as alleged herein, Defendants are liable for civil penalties under California Labor Code

§ 2699(f)(1)-(2) for each aggrieved employee per pay period.

Failure to Provide Itemized Wage Statements in Violation of Labor Code § 226 and

IWC Wage Orders

184. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs in this complaint as if fully

set forth herein.

185. The California Court of Appeal has held: “For employers who violate section

226(a), civil penalties are assessed as provided in section 226.3.” Heritage Residential Care,

Inc. v. Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, 192 Cal. App. 4th 75, 81 (2011).

186. California Labor Code § 226.3 provides: “Any employer who violates

subdivision (a) of Section 226 shall be subject to a civil penalty in the amount of two hundred

fifty dollars ($250) per employee per violation in an initial citation and one thousand dollars

($1,000) per employee for each violation in a subsequent citation, for which the employer

fails to provide the employee a wage deduction statement or fails to keep the records required

in subdivision (a) of Section 226. . . . In enforcing this section, the Labor Commissioner shall

take into consideration whether the violation was inadvertent, and in his or her discretion, may

decide not to penalize an employer for a first violation when that violation was due to a

clerical error or inadvertent mistake.”

187. Defendants’ failure to provide timely, accurate, itemized wage statements to

Plaintiffs and the other current and former employees in accordance with the California Labor
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Code and the Wage Orders has been knowing and intentional.

188. Based on the violations set forth herein, Defendants are liable for civil

penalties pursuant to Labor Code § 226.3.

189. PAGA also allows for recovery with respect to Labor Code § 1198 which

provides, in relevant part: “The employment of any employee . . . under conditions of labor

prohibited by the order [of the IWC] is unlawful.” See Labor Code § 2699.5 (listing, inter

alia, § 1198). Therefore, Defendant is liable for civil penalties under California Labor Code

§ 2699(f)(1)-(2) for each aggrieved employee per pay period

Violations of Labor Code §§ 201, 202, and 203 (“Waiting Time”)

190. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs in this complaint as if fully

set forth herein.

191. California Labor Code 203(a) provides, in relevant part: “If an employer

willfully fails to pay, without abatement or reduction, in accordance with Sections 201, 201.3,

201.5, 201.9, 202, and 205.5, any wages of an employee who is discharged or who quits, the

wages of the employee shall continue as a penalty from the due date thereof at the same rate

until paid or until an action therefor is commenced; but the wages shall not continue for more

than 30 days.”

192. Plaintiffs and certain of the other aggrieved individuals were not paid full

compensation, including overtime, for all hours worked, as alleged above, and were not paid

that compensation that was due and owing upon discharge and/or within seventy-two (72)

hours of the employee’s termination of employment by resignation. Thus, Defendants have

failed and refused, and continue to willfully fail and refuse, to timely pay compensation and

wages and compensation in violation of California Labor Code §§ 201, 202, and 203.

193. Because of Defendants’ violations of California Labor Code § 201, Defendants

are liable for civil penalties under California Labor Code § 2699(f)(1)-(2) for each aggrieved

employee per pay period.

194. Because of Defendants’ violations of California Labor Code § 202, Defendants

are liable for civil penalties under California Labor Code § 2699(f)(1)-(2) for each aggrieved
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employee per pay period.

195. Because of Defendants’ violations of California Labor Code § 203, Defendants

are liable for civil penalties under California Labor Code § 2699(f)(1)-(2) for each aggrieved

employee per pay period.

Failure To Pay All Wages Owed Every Pay Period In Violation of Labor Code § 204

196. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs in this complaint as if fully

set forth herein.

197. During the relevant time period, Plaintiffs and other current and former

aggrieved employees have been employees covered by Labor Code § 204 but have been

misclassified and not treated as employees.

198. Pursuant to Labor Code § 204, Plaintiffs and other current and former

aggrieved employees were entitled to receive on regular paydays all wages earned for the pay

period corresponding to the payday.

199. During the relevant time period, Defendants have failed to pay Plaintiffs and

the other current and former employees all wages earned each pay period. That violates

Labor Code § 204.

200. During the relevant time period, Defendants have maintained a policy and/or

practice of not paying Plaintiffs and other current and former aggrieved employees overtime

wages for all overtime hours worked. That violates Labor Code § 204.

201. Because of Defendants’ violations of Labor Code § 204, Defendants are liable

for civil penalties under California Labor Code § 2699(f)(1)-(2) for each aggrieved employee

per pay period, and under Labor Code § 210 for each aggrieved employee per pay period.

Tip Splitting in Violation of Labor Code § 351

202. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs in this complaint as if fully

set forth herein.

203. Defendants’ tip splitting practices violate California Labor Code § 351.

204. Defendants’ failure to keep records of all gratuities received violates California

Labor Code § 353.
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205. Because of Defendants’ violations of Labor Code §§ 351 and 353, Defendants

are liable for civil penalties under California Labor Code § 2699(f)(1)-(2) for each aggrieved

employee per pay period.

Failure to Reimburse for Expenses in Violation of Labor Code §§ 450 and 2802

206. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs in this complaint as if fully

set forth herein.

207. Defendants’ conduct, as alleged above, violates California Labor Code §§ 450

and 2802, insofar as Defendants have misclassified Plaintiffs and class members as

independent contractors, and have failed to reimburse them for expenses that they paid that

should have been paid by their employer.

208. Because of Defendants’ violations of Labor Code §§ 450 and 2802, Defendants

are liable for civil penalties under California Labor Code § 2699(f)(1)-(2) for each aggrieved

employee per pay period.

Compelling Illegal Purported Agreements in Violation of Labor Code § 432.5

209. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs in this complaint as if fully

set forth herein.

210. Defendants’ conduct, as alleged above, violates California Labor Code § 432.5,

insofar as Defendants have required exotic dancers to enter into written purported agreements

that contain numerous illegal provisions.

211. Because of Defendants’ violations of Labor Code § 432.5, Defendants are

liable for civil penalties under California Labor Code § 2699(f)(1)-(2) for each aggrieved

employee per pay period.

Violations of Paid Sick Day Requirements, Labor Code §§ 245-249

212. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs in this complaint as if fully

set forth herein.

213. Defendants violated Labor Code § 246 by not having policies and procedures

for exotic dancers to accrue and take paid sick days.

214. Because of Defendants’ violations of the paid sick day requirements,
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Defendants are liable for civil penalties under California Labor Code § 248.5 in an amount

equal to “the dollar amount of paid sick days withheld from the employee multiplied by three;

or two hundred fifty dollars ($250), whichever amount is greater . . . .”

215. Because of Defendants’ violations of the paid sick day requirements under

California law, Defendants are also liable for civil penalties under California Labor Code

§ 2699(f)(1)-(2) for each aggrieved employee per pay period.

216. Because of Defendants’ violations of the paid sick day requirements,

Defendants are also liable for civil penalties pursuant to California Labor Code § 558 as

follows: “(1) For any initial violation, fifty dollars ($50) for each underpaid employee for

each pay period for which the employee was underpaid in addition to an amount sufficient to

recover underpaid wages. (2) For each subsequent violation, one hundred dollars ($100) for

each underpaid employee for each pay period for which the employee was underpaid in

addition to an amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages. (3) Wages recovered pursuant to

this section shall be paid to the affected employee. . . . (c) The civil penalties provided for in

this section are in addition to any other civil or criminal penalty provided by law.”

Failure to Secure Compensation in Violation of Labor Code § 3700 et seq.

217. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs in this complaint as if fully

set forth herein.

218. Defendants did not secure workers’ compensation for exotic dancers, in

violation of Labor Code §§ 3700, 3700.5, 3712, 3715.

219. Because of Defendants’ violations of the above-referenced statutes, Defendants

are subject to the penalties and fines per Labor Code § 3700.5 and are liable for civil penalties

under California Labor Code § 2699(f)(1)-(2) for each aggrieved employee per pay period.

Failure to Maintain Payroll Records in Violation of Labor Code § 1174

220. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs in this complaint as if fully

set forth herein.

221. California Labor Code § 1174(d) requires: “Every person employing labor in

this state shall: . . . “Keep, at a central location in the state or at the plants or establishments at
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which employees are employed, payroll records showing the hours worked daily by and the

wages paid to, and the number of piece-rate units earned by and any applicable piece rate paid

to, employees employed at the respective plants or establishments. These records shall be kept

in accordance with rules established for this purpose by the commission, but in any case shall

be kept on file for not less than three years.”

222. Defendants’ conduct described herein constitutes a willful failure to maintain

accurate and complete payroll records in violation of California Labor Code § 1174(d).

Accordingly, Defendants are liable for civil penalties under California Labor Code § 1174.5,

which provides: “Any person employing labor who willfully fails to maintain . . . accurate

and complete records required by subdivision (d) of Section 1174 . . . shall be subject to a

civil penalty of five hundred dollars ($500).”

223. WHEREFORE, for all of the violations specified in this cause of action,

Plaintiffs seek civil penalties, attorneys’ fees, costs of suit, and any further relief that the

Court deems appropriate.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs individually, and Plaintiffs Jane Roe 1 and Jane Roe 3 as a

representative suit on behalf of all current and former employees pray for relief against

Defendant SFBSC MANAGEMENT, LLC as follows:

a) For an order certifying that the First Cause of Action of this Complaint may be

maintained as a collective action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and requiring that

Defendant identify all members of the FLSA Collection and provide all locating

information for members of the FLSA Collection, and that notice be provided to

all members of the FLSA Collection apprising them of the pendency of this action

and the opportunity to file Consents to Become Party Plaintiff thereto;

b) For an order certifying that the Second through Tenth Causes of Action of this

Complaint may be maintained as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil

Procedure 23 on behalf of the classes as defined herein and that notice of the

pendency of this action be provided to members of the proposed classes;
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c) For an order designating certain of the named Plaintiffs, as identified herein, as

class representatives for both the FLSA and California state law claims and

Plaintiffs’ attorneys as counsel for the FLSA Collection and the proposed classes;

d) For an order awarding Plaintiffs, the FLSA Collection, and the proposed classes

compensatory damages and statutory damages, including unpaid wages, overtime

compensation, liquidated damages, and all other sums of money owed, together

with interest on these amounts;

e) For preliminary, permanent, and mandatory injunctive relief prohibiting Defendant

and its officers and agents from committing the violations of law herein alleged in

the future;

f) For a declaratory judgment that Defendant has violated the FLSA, California labor

law, SFMWO, PAGA, and public policy as alleged herein;

g) For an order imposing all statutory and/or civil penalties provided by law,

including without limitation penalties under the California Labor Code, SFMWO,

and PAGA;

h) For exemplary and punitive damages, as appropriate and available under each

cause of action, pursuant to California Civil Code § 3294;

i) For all unpaid overtime wages due to Plaintiffs and each class member;

j) For an order enjoining Defendant from further unfair and unlawful business

practices in violation of the UCL;

k) Disgorgement of profits;

l) For an order awarding restitution of the unpaid regular, overtime, and premium

wages due to Plaintiffs and class members;

m) For pre- and post-judgment interest;

n) For an award of reasonable attorneys’ fees as provided by the FLSA, California

Labor Code §§ 226(e) and 1194, California Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.5,

SFMWO, PAGA, and/or other applicable law;

o) For all straight time owed, including interest thereon, plus liquidated damages and
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penalties, pursuant to the SFMWO;

p) For all costs of suit; and

q) For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

WHEREFORE, under PAGA, Plaintiffs Jane Roe 1 and Jane Roe 3 individually and as

a representative suit on behalf of all current and former employees pray for relief against the

Nightclub Defendants as follows:

a) Civil penalties as alleged herein;

b) Reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit as allowed under PAGA, Labor Code

§ 2699(g)(1); and

c) Any further relief that the Court deems just and proper.

DATED: April __, 2021 Respectfully submitted,

THE TIDRICK LAW FIRM

By:
______________________________
STEVEN G. TIDRICK, SBN 224760
JOEL B. YOUNG, SBN 236662

Attorneys for Plaintiffs JANE ROES 1-3 et al.

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiffs in the above-referenced action, on their own behalf and on behalf of all

persons they seek to represent, hereby demand a trial by jury on all counts.

DATED: April __, 2021 Respectfully submitted,

THE TIDRICK LAW FIRM

By:
______________________________
STEVEN G. TIDRICK, SBN 224760
JOEL B. YOUNG, SBN 236662

Attorneys for Plaintiffs JANE ROES 1-3 et al.
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SOMMERS SCHWARTZ, P.C.
Trenton R. Kashima, Esq. (SBN 291405)
402 West Broadway, Suite 1760
San Diego, CA 92101
Telephone: 248-355-0300
Facsimile: 248-746-4001
Email: tkashima@sommerspc.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
and the Putative Classes

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

JANE ROE NO. 1 and 2, individually and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

DÉJÀ VU SERVICES, INC.; HARRY
MOHNEY; LA CLUB MANAGEMENT,
LLC; PINE TREE ASSETS, INC.; SFBSC
MANAGEMENT, LLC; TORRANCE FOOD
& BEVERAGE, LLC; 3610 BARNETT
AVE., LLC; CATHAY ENTERTAINMENT,
INC.; COLDWATER, LLC; DEJA VU
SHOWGIRLS - SACRAMENTO, LLC; DV
of LA, LLC; EF5 ACQUISITIONS GROUP,
LLC; GRAPEVINE ENTERTAINMENT,
INC.; HOLLYWOOD & VINE CLUB, LLC;
JOLAR CINEMA OF SAN DIEGO, LTD;
NITE LIFE EAST, LLC; SHOWGIRLS OF
SAN DIEGO INC; STOCKTON
ENTERPRISES, LLC; SAN FRANCISCO -
ROARING 20'S, LLC; SAN FRANCISCO -
GARDEN OF EDEN, LLC; S.A.W.
ENTERTAINMENT, LTD. -- CONDOR
CLUB; S.A.W. ENTERTAINMENT, LTD.;
GOLD CLUB - SF, LLC; DEJA VU
SHOWGIRLS OF SAN FRANCISCO, LLC;
DEJA VU - SAN FRANCISCO, LLC;
CHOWDER HOUSE, INC.; BIJOU -
CENTURY, LLC; B.T. CALIFORNIA, LLC

Defendants.

Case No: 3:19-cv-03960-LB

SECOND AMENDED CLASS AND
COLLECTIVE ACTION COMPLAINT
FOR VIOLATION OF THE FLSA AND
STATE LAW

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
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INTRODUCTION

1. This is a class action brought by Plaintiffs Jane Roe No. 1 and 2 (“Plaintiffs”) against

Defendants Déjà Vu Services, Inc., Harry Mohney, and the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs (hereinafter

collectively referred to as “Defendants”)

2. The Class which Plaintiffs seek to represent is composed of people who, during the

relevant time period, worked as exotic dancers at Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs in California.

3. Plaintiffs contend that all class members were denied their fundamental rights under

applicable federal and state wage and hour laws, causing financial loss and injury. Specifically,

Plaintiffs complain that Defendants misclassified Plaintiffs and all other members of the Class as

independent contractors, as opposed to employees, at all times in which they worked as dancers at

Defendants’ adult nightclubs located throughout California. Plaintiffs contend that Defendants failed

to pay Plaintiffs and all other members of the Class the minimum and overtime wages and other

benefits to which they were entitled under applicable federal and California state laws. Additionally,

Defendants engaged in unlawful tip-sharing by requiring dancers in the Class to share gratuities given

to them by patrons with Defendants and their employees, such as doormen and DJs. Plaintiffs,

therefore, bring this class action seeking damages, back pay, restitution, liquidated damages, injunctive

and declaratory relief, civil penalties, prejudgment interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, and

any and all other relief the Court deems just, reasonable and equitable under the circumstances.

I. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. This action was removed from the California Superior Court for the County of San

Diego, on January 28, 2019 and transferred to this Court from the United States District Court for the

Southern District of California.

5. This Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) claims

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the California state law

claims because they are so related to this action that they form part of the same case or controversy

under Article III of the United States Constitution.

6. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because Defendants operate

their business and employ the class members within this County, and a substantial or significant
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portion of the conduct complained of herein occurred and continues to occur within this County.

II. PARTIES AND STANDING

7. Plaintiff Jane Roe No. 1 is a resident of San Bernardino County, California. Jane Roe

No. 1 worked as an exotic dancer for Defendants at Déjà Vu Showgirls in Bakersfield, California

during the class period and is a member of the proposed class. Like other class members, when Jane

Roe No. 1 worked in that capacity, she was: (1) misclassified as an independent contractor, and as a

result was not paid any wages (or provided other benefits and rights) to which she was entitled as an

employee; and (2) required to split tip income as described more fully below. Jane Roe No. 1 sues on

her own behalf and as a proposed class representative on behalf of similarly situated individuals. She

sues under a fictitious name, Jane Roe No. 1, due to the highly sensitive and personal nature of the

details about Plaintiffs in this action, and for additional reasons described below.

8. Plaintiff Jane Roe No. 2 is a resident of San Diego County, California. Jane Roe No. 2

worked as an exotic dancer for Defendants at Déjà Vu Showgirls in San Diego, California and

Torrance, California during the class period and is a member of the proposed class. Like other class

members, when Jane Roe No. 2 worked in that capacity, she was: (1) misclassified as an independent

contractor, and as a result was not paid any wages (or provided other benefits and rights) to which she

was entitled as an employee; and (2) required to split tip income as described more fully below. Jane

Roe No. 2 sues on her own behalf and as a proposed class representative on behalf of similarly situated

individuals. She sues under a fictitious name, Jane Roe No. 2, due to the highly sensitive and personal

nature of the details about Plaintiffs in this action, and for additional reasons described below.

9. Plaintiffs sue under fictitious names due to the highly sensitive and personal nature of

the details about Plaintiffs in this action and because (1) there is a significant social stigma associated

with the nude and semi-nude “dancing” that exotic dancers, also known as “strippers,” perform; (2)

there are risks inherent in working as an exotic dancer, including risk of injury by current or former

customers of Defendants if an exotic dancer’s name or address is disclosed; (3) Plaintiffs would be

hesitant to maintain this action enforcing fundamental employee rights if their names were to be

forever associated with Defendants’ Nightclubs, which could affect their prospects for future

employment by others; and (4) Plaintiffs wish to protect their rights to privacy. Plaintiffs’ concerns
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are reasonable and justified. At the Nightclubs, it is customary for the exotic dancers to use

pseudonyms or stage names for privacy and personal safety reasons. See generally Does I thru XXIII

v. Advanced Textile Corp., 214 F.3d 1058, 1067-1068 (9th Cir. Cal. 2000) accord Starbucks Corp. v.

Superior Court (2008) 168 Cal.App.4th 1436, n.7 (“[W]e allow parties to use pseudonyms in the

‘unusual case’ when nondisclosure of the party’s identity ‘is necessary . . . to protect a person from

harassment, injury, ridicule or personal embarrassment.’ . . . We join our sister circuits and hold that

a party may preserve his or her anonymity in judicial proceedings in special circumstances when the

party’s need for anonymity outweighs prejudice to the opposing party and the public’s interest in

knowing the party’s identity.”). The California Superior Court for the County of San Diego previously

ordered that Plaintiffs could maintain this action under fictitious names.

10. Defendants are business entities and/or individuals that jointly employ and control the

work of members of the Class that work or have worked at Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs throughout

California.

11. Defendants 3610 Barnett Ave., LLC; Cathay Entertainment, Inc.; Coldwater, LLC;

Deja Vu Showgirls - Sacramento, LLC; DV of LA, LLC; Ef5 Acquisitions Group, LLC; Grapevine

Entertainment, Inc.; Hollywood & Vine Club, LLC; Jolar Cinema Of San Diego, LTD; Nite Life East,

LLC; Showgirls Of San Diego Inc.; Stockton Enterprises, LLC; San Francisco - Roaring 20's, LLC;

San Francisco - Garden Of Eden, LLC; S.A.W. Entertainment, LTD. -- Condor Club; S.A.W.

Entertainment, LTD.; Gold Club - SF, LLC; Deja Vu Showgirls of San Francisco, LLC; Deja Vu -

San Francisco, LLC; Chowder House, Inc.; Bijou - Century, LLC; and B.T. California, LLC are

collectively known and referred to herein as the “Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs.” The Déjà Vu

Affiliated Nightclubs are businesses that, within the state of California, currently are, or that at any

time during the Class Period were, either: A) parties to an agreement or contract with Déjà Vu

Services, Inc. whereby they receive(d) either consulting or management services, or licensing rights,

from Déjà Vu Services, Inc.; B) parties to an agreement or contract with Global Licensing, Inc.,

whereby they receive(d) licensing rights from Global Licensing, Inc.; C) owned, either wholly or in

part, and directly or indirectly, by either Harry Mohney or Jason “Cash” Mohney; or D) tenants of

Harry Mohney or Jason “Cash” Mohney, either directly or indirectly.
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12. The senior management of all Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs throughout California is

delegated to Déjà Vu Services, Inc., Harry Mohney and/or their agents. In turn, the employment

policies affecting class members at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs in California are dictated,

determined, controlled and perpetuated in material part by Déjà Vu Services, Inc. and Harry Mohney.

As such, Déjà Vu Services, Inc. and Harry Mohney are joint employers of all dancers under applicable

federal and state wage and hour laws, including the FLSA.

13. Defendant Déjà Vu Services, Inc. is a Michigan Corporation maintaining offices in

North Hollywood, California, San Diego, California and Lansing, Michigan. The registered office for

Déjà Vu Services is 8252 E. Lansing Road, Durand, Michigan, 48429. Déjà Vu Services also maintains

corporate offices in North Hollywood and San Diego, California. From those offices DVS manages,

operates and/or controls the business operations and employment and wage policies at the numerous

Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs doing business under “Déjà Vu,” “Déjà Vu Showgirls,” “Déjà Vu

Dream Girls,” “Déjà Vu Centerfolds,” and/or other trade names nationwide, including the Déjà Vu

Affiliated Nightclubs where Plaintiffs and all Class members worked. Defendants LA Club

Management, LLC; Pine Tree Assets, Inc.; SFBSC Management, LLC; and Torrance Food &

Beverage, LLC are also businesses providing management services to one or more of the Déjà Vu

Affiliated Nightclubs. Collectively, Déjà Vu Services, Inc., LA Club Management, LLC; Pine Tree

Assets, Inc.; SFBSC Management, LLC; and Torrance Food & Beverage, LLC are referred to herein

as the ““Déjà Vu Services” or “DVS.”

14. Defendant Harry Mohney (“Mohney”) is an individual residing in California, Nevada

and/or other foreign addresses. Upon information and belief, Mohney owns, manages and/or controls

Déjà Vu Services and each of the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs, directly or indirectly. Together with

DVS, Mohney perpetuates the employment policies affecting Class members that are challenged in

this lawsuit. Mohney maintains offices in California where he conducts this work and makes these

decisions that affect Class members in California. Mohney manages, operates and/or controls the

business operations and employment policies at the numerous nightclubs doing business under “Déjà

vu,” “Déjà Vu Showgirls,” “Déjà Vu DreamGirls,” “Déjà Vu Centerfolds,” and/or other trade names

nationwide, including the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs where Plaintiffs and all Class members
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worked.

15. Déjà Vu Services, Mohney, LA Club Management, LLC; Pine Tree Assets, Inc.;

SFBSC Management, LLC; Torrance Food & Beverage, LLC, and the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs

are joint employers of all Class members and as such are jointly and severally liable for any violations

of the wage and hour laws set forth below. Plaintiffs seek to certify a class of all exotic dancers who

worked at Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs in California that were directly or indirectly owned, operated,

controlled and/or managed by Déjà Vu Services and/or Mohney. Déjà Vu Services and Mohney

manage, operate and control the significant business operations in each Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclub,

and dictate the common employment policies applicable to each nightclub, including but not limited

to the decisions: (1) to classify dancers as independent contractors, as opposed to employees, and; (2)

to require that dancers share their tips. Those policies, which affected and harmed Class members in

California, were established and implemented, in significant and material part, at Déjà Vu Services’

and Mohney’s offices and places of business in California.

16. DVS, its officers and consultants, including Mohney, have been involved in the

decisions to classify exotic dancers working at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs as independent

contractors, as opposed to employees, and to perpetuate and maintain that classification system. As

part of those discussions, DVS, its officers and consultants, including Mohney, have discussed

compliance with the labor codes relating to the dancer classification issue and made the decision to

try to have dancers “elect” to be independent contractors and waive their statutory rights under the

wage and hour laws.

17. Each Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclub has a common structure where it is held by a

nominal corporation, but substantial senior management, financial, legal and other critical operational

functions are delegated to affiliated companies which all come under the common control of DVS, its

officers and consultants, including Mohney; all or significant senior management functions of each

nightclub corporation are delegated to Déjà Vu Services, a company indirectly owned by Mohney.

Other key business functions are delegated to and performed by other affiliated companies controlled

by Mohney.

18. DVS currently makes its services available to each of the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs
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and licenses various “Déjà Vu” trademarks to the clubs. DVS establishes policies that confirm that it

controls the workplace at all of the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs, including those pertaining to the

work and classification of exotic dancers in the Class. Upon information and belief, Déjà Vu Services

performs the same business functions with respect to all Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs, including

management and consultation functions regarding the employment classification of dancers and tip

sharing practices.

19. Mohney, directly or indirectly, holds a significant ownership share in all or certain Déjà

Vu Affiliated Nightclubs. DVS, its officers and consultants, including Mohney, make decisions

regarding the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs (including employment policies) from their offices in

California. Specifically, a senior DVS consultant lives in California and, in conjunction with others,

implements, directs, and creates DVS policies on behalf of the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs.

20. DVS employs a number of “consultants” including Mohney. These individuals make

decisions regarding DVS and the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs (including employment policies) from

their offices in California.

21. Certain DVS officers and “consultants” also manage the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs.

For instance, one DVS consultant - who resides and works in California - is also the President of a

holding company that maintains ownership interests in numerous Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs. Other

managers of Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs report to, are controlled by, and answer to, DVS’s officers

and consultants. Through this, inter alia, DVS and Mohney control the operations of the Déjà Vu

Affiliated Nightclubs and the people who work there, including dancers in the class.

22. Upon information and belief, at all relevant times, Mohney has played a significant role

in managing, directing and controlling the day-to-day business operations of Déjà Vu Services, all of

the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs, and Modern Bookkeeping.

23. Upon information and belief, at all relevant times Mohney was employed by Déjà Vu

Services and conducted his work, supervision, and direction of the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs’

operations from his offices in California, Nevada, and/or Michigan.

24. Upon information and belief, Mohney, Déjà Vu Services and the Déjà Vu Affiliated

Nightclubs employ “consulting” agreements to allow Mohney and Déjà Vu Services to control,
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operate, direct, and manage the business affairs of the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs, including those

that affect dancer classification and tip sharing policies.

25. At all relevant times, Mohney has been the de facto chief corporate officer of Déjà Vu

Services and the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs; has had a significant ownership interest in Déjà Vu

Services and the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs; and has had operational control over significant

aspects of the business functions of Déjà Vu Services and the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs, including

those relating to the employment classification of dancers; the determination of dancers’ wages (or

more accurately, the lack thereof); and tip-sharing requirements applicable to dancers working at the

nightclubs. Mohney played a significant role in creating and maintaining the business model where

dancers working at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs were to be classified as independent contractors

and required to share their tips. As such, Mohney is jointly and severally liable to Plaintiffs and the

Class, along with the other Defendants, for damages stemming from Déjà Vu Services and the other

Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs’ failure to comply with applicable wage and hour laws.

26. At all relevant times, DVS and Mohney jointly employed all exotic dancers working in

the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs, managed, directed and controlled the operations in each Déjà Vu

Affiliated Nightclub, and dictated the common employment policies applicable in each nightclub,

including but not limited to the decisions: (1) to misclassify dancers as independent contractors, as

opposed to employees; (2) to require that dancers share their tips with Defendants; (3) to require that

dancers further share their tips with Defendants’ managers, doormen, floor walkers, DJs and other

employees who do not usually receive tips, by paying “tip-outs;” (4) to not pay any dancers any wages;

(5) to demand improper and unlawful payments from class members; (6) to adopt and implement

employment policies which violate the FLSA and/or California wage and hour laws, and; (7) to

threaten retaliation against any dancer attempting to assert her statutory rights to be recognized as an

employee. DVS and Mohney created the common business model employed at each Déjà Vu

Affiliated Nightclub regarding dancer classification and tip-sharing and require that the practices

continue.

27. All named Defendants agreed and conspired among themselves, along with any third

party owners of certain of the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs throughout California to unlawfully: (1)
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misclassify dancers as independent contractors, as opposed to employees; (2) require that dancers

share their tips with Defendants; (3) require that dancers further share their tips with Defendants’

managers, doormen, floor walkers, DJs and other employees who do not usually receive tips, by paying

“tip-outs;” (4) not pay any dancers any wages; (5) demand improper and unlawful payments from

Class members; (6) adopt and implement employment policies which violate the FLSA and California

wage and hour laws, and; (7) threaten retaliation against any dancer attempting to assert her statutory

rights to be recognized as an employee. The unlawful agreements and conspiracies between

Defendants and third parties in the enterprise were entered into as part of a strategy to maximize

revenues and profits and to violate Class members’ statutory rights.

28. Defendants knew or should have known that the business model employed was

unlawful as applicable laws confirm that all money given to dancers by patrons was defined as a

gratuity and the sole property of the dancer. Despite this, Defendants continued to willfully engage in

the acts described below misclassifying dancers and sharing tip income in violation of their legal

duties.

29. At all relevant times, Defendants owned and operated a nightclub business engaged in

interstate commerce and which utilized goods moving in interstate commerce. For example, goods

sold at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs moved in interstate commerce. DVS and Mohney own,

manage, and control the business operations at numerous nightclubs in California doing business under

“Déjà Vu” and other tradenames. On information and belief, during the relevant time period, the

annual gross revenues of each Defendant exceeded $500,000 per year.

30. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants, along with the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs,

were at all relevant times enterprises engaged in commerce as defined in 29 U.S.C. §203(r) and

§203(s). Defendants and the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs constitute an “enterprise” within the

meaning of 29 U.S.C. §203(r)(1), because they perform related activities through common control for

a common business purpose. At all relevant times, Defendants were enterprises engaged in commerce

within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §206(a) and §207(a).

31. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate or otherwise,

of each of the Defendants designated herein as DOES are unknown to Plaintiffs at this time and
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therefore said Defendants are sued by such fictitious names. Plaintiffs will amend this Complaint to

show their true names and capacities when ascertained. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon

allege that each Defendant designated herein as a DOE defendant is legally responsible in some

manner for the events and happenings herein alleged and in such manner proximately caused damages

to Plaintiffs as hereinafter further alleged.

32. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that each of the Defendants was

acting as the agent, employee, partner, or servant of each of the remaining Defendants and was acting

within the course and scope of that relationship, and gave consent to, ratified, and authorized the acts

alleged herein to each of the remaining Defendants.

33. On information and belief, Plaintiffs anticipate naming, and possibly substituting,

additional business entities or individuals because Defendant owns, operates, and/or controls local

nightclubs while maintaining shell corporations and/or sham agreements to create the appearance that

it does not have ownership and/or control of the nightclubs.

III. GENERAL ALLEGATIONS APPLICABLE TO ALL COUNTS

34. The FLSA and California Labor Code and Industrial Welfare Commission (“IWC”)

Wage Orders applied to Plaintiffs and the Class at all times in which they worked at the Déjà Vu

Affiliated Nightclubs.

35. No exceptions to the application of the FLSA or California wage and hour laws apply

to Plaintiffs and the Class. For example, no Class member has ever been a professional or artist exempt

from the provisions of those statutes. The exotic dancing performed by Class members while working

at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs does not require invention, imagination, or talent in a recognized

field of artistic endeavor, and Class members have never been compensated by Defendants on a set

salary, wage, or fee basis. Rather, Class members’ sole source of income while working at the Déjà

Vu Affiliated Nightclubs were tips given to them by patrons.

36. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs and each member of the Class, defined below, were

employees of Defendants under the FLSA and applicable California wage and hour laws.

37. At all relevant times, Defendants were the employers of Plaintiffs and each member of

the Class, defined below, under the FLSA and other applicable law. Defendants suffered or permitted
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Class members to work. Defendants, directly or indirectly, employed and exercised significant control

over the Class members’ wages, hours, and working conditions.

38. At all relevant times, all Defendants were the joint employers of Plaintiffs and members

of the Class. Under the FLSA and/or California laws, Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ employment for

one Defendant is not completely disassociated from their employment by the other Defendant(s). DVS,

Mohney, and the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs do not act entirely independent of each other and are

not completely dissociated with respect to the employment of Plaintiffs and the Class. DVS and

Mohney maintain significant control over Plaintiffs and other Class members while working at the

Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs. DVS and Mohney play significant roles in establishing, maintaining

and directing the working and employment policies that are to be applied to Class members while

working at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs. DVS and Mohney benefit financially from the work

Class members perform while working at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs. As joint employers of

Plaintiffs and members of the Class, DVS and Mohney are responsible both individually and jointly

for compliance with all of the applicable provisions of the FLSA and other applicable wage and hour

laws. 29 C.F.R. § 791.2(a) and (b).

39. During the relevant time period, the employment terms, conditions, and policies that

applied to Plaintiffs were the same as those applied to the other Class members who worked as exotic

dancers at all Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs in all material respects.

40. Throughout the relevant time period, Defendants’ policies and procedures regarding

the classification of all exotic dancers (including Plaintiffs) at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs and

treatment of dance tips were the same.

41. As a matter of common business policy, Defendants systematically misclassified

Plaintiffs and all Class members as independent contractors, as opposed to employees. Defendants’

classification of Plaintiffs as independent contractors was not due to any unique factor related to their

employment or relationship with Defendants. Rather, as a matter of common business policy,

Defendants routinely misclassified all exotic dancers as independent contractors as opposed to

employees. As a result of this uniform misclassification, Plaintiffs and the members of the Class were

not paid the minimum and overtime wages required, were deprived of other statutory rights and
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benefits, and therefore, suffered harm, injury and incurred financial loss.

42. Plaintiffs and members of the Class incurred financial loss, injury, and damage as a

result of Defendants’ common practices misclassifying them as independent contractors and failing to

pay them minimum and overtime wages in addition to the tips that they were given by patrons.

Plaintiffs’ injuries and financial loss were caused by Defendants’ application of those common policies

in the same manner as they were applied to absent Class members.

43. During the relevant time period, no Class member received any wages or other

compensation from Defendants. Members of the Class generated their income solely through the tips

received from patrons when they performed exotic table, chair, couch, lap and/or VIP room dances

(collectively referred to herein as “dance tips”).

44. All monies Class members like Plaintiffs received from patrons when they performed

exotic dances were tips, not wages or service fees. Tips belong to the person they are given to. Dance

tips were given by patrons directly to dancers in the Class and therefore, belong to dancers in the Class,

not Defendants.

45. The full amount dancers in the Class are given by patrons in relation to exotic dances

they perform are not taken into Defendants’ gross receipts, with a portion then paid out to the dancers.

Neither Defendants nor any of their affiliated companies issue W-2 forms, 1099 forms or any other

documents to Class members indicating any amounts being paid from their gross receipts to Class

members as wages.

46. Plaintiffs and members of the Class are tipped employees as they are engaged in an

occupation in which they customarily and regularly receive more than $30 a month in tips. No tip

credits offsetting any minimum wages due, however, are permitted. Therefore, as employees of

Defendants, Class members are entitled to: (a) receive the full minimum wages due, without any tip

credit, reduction or other offset; and (b) to retain the full amount of any dance tips and monies given

to them by patrons when they perform exotic dances.

47. Defendants’ misclassification of Plaintiffs and other Class members as independent

contractors was designed to deny Class members their fundamental rights as employees to receive

minimum wages, to demand and retain portions of tips given to Class members by patrons, and done
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to enhance Defendants’ profits at the expense of the Class.

48. Defendants’ misclassification of exotic dancers like Plaintiffs was willful. Defendants

knew or should have known that Plaintiffs and the other dancers performing the same job functions

were improperly misclassified as independent contractors.

49. Employment is defined with “striking breadth” in the wage and hour laws. Nationwide

Mut. Ins. Co. v. Darden, 503 U.S. 318, 325-26, 112 S.Ct. 1344, 1349-50 (1992). The determining

factor as to whether dancers like Plaintiffs are employees or independent contractors under the FLSA

is not the dancer’s election, subjective intent or any contract. Rutherford Food Corp. v. McComb, 331

U.S. 722, 727 (1947). Rather, the test for determining whether an individual is an “employee” under

the FLSA is the economic reality test. Under the economic reality test, employee status turns on

whether the individual is, as a matter of economic reality, in business for herself and truly independent,

or rather is economically dependent upon finding employment in others.

50. Any contract which attempts to have workers in the Class waive, limit or abridge their

statutory rights to be treated as an employee under the FLSA or other applicable wage and hour laws

is void, unenforceable, unconscionable and contrary to public policy. Workers in the Class cannot

validly “elect” to be treated as employees or independent contractors under threat of adverse treatment.

Nor can workers in the Class agree to be paid less than the minimum wage.

51. Despite this, Defendants unfairly, unlawfully, fraudulently and unconscionably attempt

to coerce dancers in the Class to waive their statutory rights and elect to be treated as independent

contractors. Defendants threaten to penalize and discriminate against dancers in the Class if they assert

their statutory rights such as through termination and the confiscation of all dance tips, among other

adverse conditions and retaliations. Any such retaliation based on the assertion of statutory rights

under the wage and hour laws is unlawful. 29 U.S.C. § 215(a)(3). Further, it is unlawful for an

employer to even threaten to discharge, demote, terminate or discriminate in the terms and conditions

of employment because an employee has made a bona fide complaint against an employer for a

violation of wage and hour laws. This protection encompasses the exercise of statutory rights on the

employees own behalf and on behalf of others. Any actual or threatened retaliation against an

employee for the assertion of wage and hour law claims violates the state’s fundamental public policy
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to protect the payment of wages and employee’s rights.

52. Under the applicable FLSA test, courts utilize several factors to determine economic

dependence and employment status. They are: (i) the degree of control exercised by the alleged

employer; (ii) the relative investments of the alleged employer and employee; (iii) the degree to which

the employee’s opportunity for profit and loss is determined by the employer; (iv) the skill and

initiative required in performing the job; (v) the permanency of the relationship; and (vi) the degree to

which the alleged employee’s tasks are integral to the employer’s business.

53. By contrast, California has opted for the “ABC Test.” On April 30, 2018, the California

Supreme Court issued its long-awaited opinion in Dynamex Operations W., Inc. v. Super. Ct., 416

P.3d 1, 5 (Cal. 2018), clarifying the standard for determining whether workers in California should be

classified as employees or as independent contractors for purposes of the wage orders adopted by

California’s Industrial Welfare Commission. In so doing, the Court narrowed the definition of

independent contractor, holding that there is a presumption that individuals are employees and that an

entity classifying an individual as an independent contractor bears the burden of establishing that such

a classification is proper.

54. To meet this burden, the hiring entity must establish each of the following three

factors, commonly known as the “ABC test”:

a. that the worker is free from the control and direction of the hiring entity in connection
with the performance of the work, both under the contract for the performance of the
work and in fact; and

b. that the worker performs work that is outside the usual course of the hiring entity’s
business; and

c. that the worker is customarily engaged in an independently established trade,
occupation, or business of the same nature as the work performed.

55. The totality of circumstances surrounding the employment relationship between

Defendants and the dancers in the Class working at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs establishes

economic dependence by the dancers on Defendants and employee status. Here, as a matter of

economic reality, Plaintiffs and all other Class members are not in business for themselves and truly

independent, but rather are economically dependent upon finding employment in others, namely

Defendants. The dancers are not engaged in occupations or businesses distinct from that of

Defendants. Rather, their work is the basis for Defendants’ business. Defendants obtain the patrons

Case 3:14-cv-03616-LB   Document 239-1   Filed 02/11/22   Page 216 of 270



- 14 -
COMPLAINT

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

who desire exotic dance entertainment and provide the workers who conduct the exotic dance services

on behalf of Defendants. Defendants retain pervasive control over the nightclub operation as a whole,

and the dancers’ duties are an integral part of the operation.

56. Thus, whether analyzed according to the FLSA’s economic reality test or California’s

more rigorous “ABC test,” it is clear that Defendants miscast Plaintiffs and the Class as independent

contractors.

A. Degree Of Control – Plaintiffs And The Other Dancers Exercise No Control Over
Their “Own” Or Their Employers’ Business’

57. Plaintiffs and the other members of the Class do not exert control over a meaningful

part of the nightclub business and do not stand as separate economic entities from Defendants.

Defendants exercise control over all aspects of the working relationship with Plaintiffs and the other

dancers in the nightclubs.

58. Class members’ economic status is inextricably linked to those conditions over which

Defendants have complete control. Plaintiffs and the other dancers are completely dependent on the

Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs for their earnings. The club controls all of the advertising and promotion

without which dancers like Plaintiffs could not survive economically. Moreover, Defendants create

and control the atmosphere and surroundings at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs, the existence of

which dictates the flow of patrons into the club. The dancers have no control over the customer volume

or the atmosphere at each of the nightclubs.

59. Defendants employ guidelines and rules dictating the way in which dancers like

Plaintiffs must conduct themselves while working at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs. Defendants

dictate: the hours of operation; length of shifts dancers must work; the show times during which a

dancer may perform; minimum dance tips; determine the sequence in which a dancer may perform on

stage during her stage rotation; the format and themes of dancers’ performances (including their

costuming and appearances); theme nights; conduct while at work (i.e., that they be on the floor as

much as possible when not on stage and mingle with patrons in a manner which supports Defendants’

general business plan); tip sharing; paying “tipouts” to employees who do not normally receive tips

from patrons; requirements that dancers help sell drinks or “Déjà Vu ” branded novelties to patrons;
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and all other terms and conditions of employment.

60. Defendants require Plaintiffs and the other dancers in the Class to schedule work shifts.

Defendants require that each shift worked by a dancer be of a minimum number of hours. Further,

Defendants require dancers like Plaintiffs to clock-in and clock-out (or otherwise check in or report)

at the beginning and end of each shift. If late or absent for a shift, a dancer is subject to fine, penalty,

or reprimand by Defendants. Once a shift starts, a dancer, like Plaintiffs, are required to complete the

shift and cannot leave early without penalty or reprimand.

61. Defendants impose other rules on dancers such as those restricting smoking breaks, the

length of breaks, and how many dancers can take such breaks at a time.

62. While working at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs, dancers like Plaintiffs perform

exotic table, chair, couch, lap and/or VIP room dances for patrons offering them “dance tips.”

Defendants, not the dancers, set the minimum tip amount that dancers must collect from patrons when

performing exotic dances. Defendants announce the minimum tip amounts to patrons in the nightclub

wishing to view dances.

63. Defendants dictate the manner and procedure in which dance tips are collected from

patrons and tracked. Each time a dancer performs an exotic dance for a patron and receives a dance

tip, the dancer is required to immediately account to Defendants for their time and any dance tip given

to them by the patron. Additionally, Defendants employ other employees called “checkers,” doormen

and/or floor walkers to watch dancers work, count private dances they perform, and record the amount

of any dance tips received. At the end of a work shift, dancers like Plaintiffs are required to clock out

and account to Defendants for all dances performed for the patrons of the nightclub. Then, in addition

to any base “rent” payment, the dancer is required to pay a portion of each dance tip given to them by

patrons over to Defendants as “rent.” The rent payment typically exceeds 30% of each dance tip.

Alternatively, in clubs where rent is not collected on a per-dance basis, the base “rent” the dancer must

pay the nightclub at the end of a shift is higher and ultimately funded through tip-sharing.

64. The entire sum a dancer receives from a patron in relation to a dance is not given to

Defendants (and/or the nightclubs) and taken into their gross receipts. Rather, the dancers keep their

share of the payment under the tip-sharing policy and only pay over to Defendants and the nightclub
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the portion demanded as “rent” (e.g., $7 from each $20 dance tip received). As a result, there is no pay

out by Defendants to the dancer of any wages. Defendants (and/or the nightclubs) issue no 1099 forms,

W-2 forms, or other documents to any dancers showing any sums being paid to dancers as wages.

65. Defendants establish the share or percentage which each dancer is required to pay them

for each type of dance they receive dance tips for during the work shift. In addition, per-dance amounts

or “tip-outs” must be paid by dancers (e.g. approx. $1 for each dance) to the nightclub manager, dance

checkers, disk-jockey, bouncers/door staff and/or other employees as part of Defendants’ tip-sharing

policy. Dancers are also required to help sell goods (such as t-shirts, videos or hats) bearing the Déjà

Vu logo to patrons as part of their job duties performing table dances. As part of these “special” dances,

goods are sold as a package with a table dance. The foregoing establishes that Defendants control and

set the terms and conditions of all dancers’ work. This is the hallmark of economic dependence and

control.

B. Skill and Initiative of a Person in Business for Themselves

66. Plaintiffs, like all other dancers, do not exercise the skill and initiative of a person in

business for themselves.

67. Plaintiffs, like all other dancers, are not required to have any specialized or unusual

skills to work at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs. Prior dance experience is not required to perform

at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs. Dancers are not required to attain a certain level of skill in order

to work at the Déjà vu Affiliated Nightclubs. There are no dance seminars, no specialized training, no

instruction booklets, and no choreography provided or required in order to work at any of the Déjà Vu

Affiliated Nightclubs. The dance skills utilized are commensurate with those exercised by ordinary

people who choose to dance at a disco or at a wedding.

68. Plaintiffs, like all other dancers, do not have the opportunity to exercise the business

skills and initiative necessary to elevate their status to that of independent contractors. Dancers, like

Plaintiffs, own no enterprise. Dancers, like Plaintiffs, exercise no business management skills. Dancers

maintain no separate business structures or facilities. Dancers exercise no control over customer

volume or atmosphere at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs. Dancers do not actively participate in any

effort to increase the nightclub's client base, enhance goodwill, or establish contracting possibilities.
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The scope of a dancer's initiative is restricted to decisions involving what clothes to wear (within

Defendants' guidelines) or how provocatively to dance which is consistent with the status of an

employee opposed to an independent contractor.

69. Plaintiffs, like all other dancers, are not permitted to hire or subcontract other qualified

individuals to provide additional dances to patrons, and increase their revenues, as an independent

contractor in business for themselves would.

C. Relative Investment

70. Plaintiffs’ relative investment is minor when compared to the investment made by

Defendants.

71. Plaintiffs, like all other dancers, make no capital investment in the facilities,

advertising, maintenance, sound system and lights, food, beverage and other inventory, or staffing of

the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs. Defendants provide all investment and risk capital. Dancers’

investments are limited to expenditures on costumes and make-up which they may choose to wear

while working, and their own labor. But for Defendants' provision of the lavish nightclub work

environment the dancers would earn nothing.

D. Opportunity for Profit and Loss

72. Defendants, not dancers like Plaintiffs, manage all aspects of the business operation

including attracting investors, establishing the hours of operation, setting the atmosphere, coordinating

advertising, hiring and controlling the staff (managers, waitresses, bartenders, bouncers/doormen,

etc.). Defendants, not the dancers, take the true business risks for the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs.

Defendants, not the dancers, are responsible for providing the capital necessary to open, operate and

expand the nightclub business.

73. Dancers like Plaintiffs do not control the key determinants of profit and loss of a

successful enterprise. Specifically, Plaintiffs are not responsible for any aspect of the enterprises' on-

going business risk. For example, Defendants, not the dancers, are responsible for all financing, the

acquisition and/or lease of the physical facilities and equipment, inventory, the payment of wages (for

managers, bartenders, doormen, and waitresses), and obtaining all appropriate business' insurance and

licenses. Defendants, not the dancers, establish the minimum dance tip amounts that should be
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collected from patrons when dancing. Even with respect to any "rent" payments, the dancers do not

truly pay the Club's "rent" for the exclusive use of space. Rather, the term "rent" is a misnomer or

subterfuge for tip sharing as in reality, Defendants simply demand a set portion (approx. 35%) of each

dance tip given to a dancer.

74. The extent of the risk that dancers like Plaintiffs are confronted with is the loss of any

"base rent" fee due to Defendants when the employee clocks out after each shift. Defendants, not the

dancers, shoulder the risk of loss. The dance tips the dancers receive are not a return for risk on capital

investment. They are a gratitude for services rendered. From this perspective, it is clear that a dancer’s

“return on investment” (i.e. dance tips) is no different from that of a waiter who serves food during a

customer's meal at a restaurant.

E. Permanency

75. Certain dancers in the Class have worked at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs for

significant periods of time.

F. Integral Part of Employer’s Business

76. Dancers like Plaintiffs are essential to the success of the Déjà vu Affiliated Nightclubs.

The continued success of the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs depends to an appreciable degree upon

the provision of exotic dances by dancers for patrons. In fact, the primary reason the nightclubs exist

is to showcase the dancers' physical attributes for patrons. The primary "product" or "good"

Defendants are in business to sell patrons that come to their nightclubs are lap dances performed by

the exotic dancers in the Class that Defendants recruit to work in their clubs and instruct to work in a

specific way.

77. Many of the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs do not serve alcohol and therefore, are not

truly in direct competition with other enterprises in the nightclub, tavern, or bar business. Absent the

provision of exotic dances by dancers for patrons, a nightclub serving only non-alcoholic beverages

would have difficulty remaining in business. Moreover, Defendants are able to charge admission

prices and a much higher price for their drinks (e.g., $10 for soft drinks) than establishments without

exotic dancers because the dancers are the main attraction of the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs.

Moreover, dancers in the Class must help sell Defendants' drink products to patrons. As a result, the
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dancers are an integral part of the Déjà vu Affiliated Nightclubs’ business.

78. The foregoing demonstrates that dancers in the Class like Plaintiffs are economically

dependent on Defendants and subject to significant control by Defendants. Therefore, Plaintiffs were

misclassified as independent contractors and should have been paid minimum wages at all times they

worked at any Déjà vu Affiliated Nightclub and otherwise been afforded all rights and benefits of an

employee under federal and state wage and hour laws.

IV. DEFENDANTS’ INTENT

79. All actions and agreements by Defendants described herein were willful, intentional,

and not the result of mistake or inadvertence.

80. Defendants were aware that the FLSA and state wage and hour laws applied to their

operation of the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs at all relevant times and that under the economic

realities test applicable to determining employment status under those laws the dancers were

misclassified as independent contractors. Defendants and their affiliated companies, were aware of

and/or the subject of previous litigation and enforcement actions relating to wage and hour law

violations where the misclassification of exotic dancers as independent contractors was challenged. In

the vast majority of those prior cases, exotic dancers working under conditions similar to those

employed at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs were determined to be employees under the wage and

hour laws, not independent contractors. See e.g., Harrell v. Diamond A Entm’t, Inc., 992 F. Supp. 1343

(M.D. Fla. 1997). Further, Defendants were aware, and on actual or constructive notice, that applicable

law rendered all dance tips given to class members by patrons when working in the Déjà Vu Affiliated

Nightclubs the dancer/Class member's sole property, rendering Defendants' tip-share, rent, and tip-out

polices unlawful. Despite being on notice of their violations, Defendants intentionally chose to

continue to misclassify dancers like Plaintiffs, withhold payment of minimum wages, and require

dancers to share their tips with Defendants and their employees in an effort to enhance their profits.

Such conduct and agreements were intentional, unlawful, fraudulent, deceptive, unfair and contrary to

public policy.

V. INJURY AND DAMAGE

81. Plaintiffs and all Class members suffered injury, were harmed, and incurred damage
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and financial loss as a result of Defendants' conduct complained of herein. Among other things,

Plaintiffs and the Class were entitled to minimum wages and to retain all of the dance tips and other

tips they were given by patrons. By failing to pay Plaintiffs and the Class minimum wages and

interfering with their right to retain all of the dance tips and other tips they were given by patrons,

Defendants injured Plaintiffs and the members of the Class and caused them financial loss, harm,

injury, and damage. Defendants’ conduct causing those injuries was committed in California,

emanated to, and affected Class members across the state and nationwide.

VI. COLLECTIVE AND CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

82. Plaintiffs bring the First Cause of Action (for violations of the FLSA) as an “opt-in”

collective action pursuant to Section 16(b) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) on behalf of themselves

and a proposed collection of similarly situated individuals defined as follows, and hereinafter referred

to as the “FLSA Collective”:

All individuals who have worked for Defendant(s) as an exotic dancer at any Déjà Vu
Affiliated Nightclub identified on Exhibit A at any time during The Relevant Class
Period.

83. The names and addresses of the individuals who comprise the FLSA Collective are

available from Defendants. Accordingly, Plaintiffs herein pray for an Order requiring Defendants to

provide the names and all available locating information for all members of the FLSA Collective, so

that notice can be provided regarding the pendency of this action, and of such individuals’ right to opt-

in to this action as party plaintiffs.

84. Plaintiffs bring the Second through Eighth Causes of Action (the California state law

claims) as an “opt-out” class action pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 23, defined

initially as follows, and hereinafter referred to as the “California Class”:

All individuals who have worked for Defendant(s) as an exotic dancer at any Déjà Vu
Affiliated Nightclub at any time during the Relevant Class Period.

Excluded from the California Class is anyone employed by counsel for Plaintiffs in this action, and

any Judge to whom this action is assigned and his or her immediate family members.

85. Relevant Class Period is Defined as (a) the time period from April 15, 2017 to the

Preliminary Approval Date for Entertainers who Performed at one or more of the San Francisco Clubs;
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and b) the time period from February 8, 2017 to the Preliminary Approval Date for Entertainers who

performed at one or more of the Greater California Clubs. An Entertainer may be subject to both Class

Periods if she Performed at one or more San Francisco Clubs during the San Francisco Class Period

and at one or more of the Greater California Clubs during the Greater California Class Period.

86. Numerosity. Defendants have employed hundreds of individuals as exotic dancers

during the relevant time periods.

87. Existence and Predominance of Common Questions. Common questions of law and/or

fact exist as to the members of the proposed classes and, in addition, common questions of law and/or

fact predominate over questions affecting only individual members of the proposed classes. The

common questions include the following:

a. Whether Defendants’ policy and practice of not paying exotic dancers the minimum
wage and/or at one-and-a-half (1.5) times the regular rate of pay (i.e., time-and-a-half)
for all hours worked in excess of forty hours in a week or eight hours in a day violates
the FLSA and/or California labor laws;

b. Whether Defendants violated the FLSA and/or California wage and hour laws by
classifying all exotic dancers at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs as “independent
contractors,” as opposed to employees, and not paying them overtime and minimum
wages;

c. Whether the monies given to dancers by patrons when they perform table dances are
gratuities;

d. Whether the dancers own the money given to them by patrons when they perform
exotic dances;

e. Whether Defendants unlawfully required Class members to share their tips with
Defendants and Defendants’ employees;

f. Whether Defendants are joint employers of the dancers in the Class;

g. Whether Defendants and certain third parties agreed and conspired to deny Class
members their rights under federal and state wage and hour laws;

h. Whether Defendants failed to keep required employment records;

i. Whether Defendants’ payroll policies and practices violated the California Labor Code
and/or the Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”);

j. Whether the Class members are entitled to unpaid wages, waiting time penalties, and
other relief;

k. Whether Defendants’ affirmative defenses, if any, raise common issues of fact or law
as to Plaintiffs and the Class members; and
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l. Whether Plaintiffs and the proposed classes are entitled to damages and equitable relief,
including, but not limited to, restitution and a preliminary and/or permanent injunction,
and if so, the proper measure and formulation of such relief.

88. Typicality. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the proposed classes.

Defendants’ common course of conduct in violation of law as alleged herein has caused Plaintiffs and

the proposed classes to sustain the same or similar injuries and damages. Plaintiffs’ claims are

therefore representative of and co-extensive with the claims of the proposed classes.

89. Adequacy. Plaintiffs are adequate representatives of the proposed classes because their

interests do not conflict with the interests of the members of the classes they seek to represent.

Plaintiffs have retained counsel competent and experienced in complex class action litigation, and

Plaintiffs intend to prosecute this action vigorously. Plaintiffs and their counsel will fairly and

adequately protect the interests of members of the proposed classes.

90. Superiority. The class action is superior to other available means for the fair and

efficient adjudication of this dispute. The injury suffered by each member of the proposed classes,

while meaningful on an individual basis, is not of such magnitude as to make the prosecution of

individual actions against Defendants economically feasible. Individualized litigation increases the

delay and expense to all parties and the court system presented by the legal and factual issues of the

case. By contrast, the class action device presents far fewer management difficulties and provides the

benefits of single adjudication, economies of scale, and comprehensive supervision by a single court.

91. In the alternative, the proposed classes may be certified because the prosecution of

separate actions by the individual members of the proposed classes would create a risk of inconsistent

or varying adjudication with respect to individual members of the proposed classes that would

establish incompatible standards of conduct for Defendants; and Defendants have acted and/or refused

to act on grounds generally applicable to the proposed classes, thereby making appropriate final and

injunctive relief with respect to members of the proposed classes as a whole.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
VIOLATION OF THE FLSA

(Failure to Pay Statutory Minimum Wages and Overtime)
(By the FLSA Collective)

92. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate all of the preceding paragraphs by reference as if fully set
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forth herein, unless inconsistent.

93. At all relevant times, Defendants jointly employed Plaintiffs and all Class members

within the meaning of the FLSA.

94. 29 U.S.C. § 206 requires that Defendants pay all employees minimum wages for all

hours worked. 29 U.S.C. § 206(a) provides in pertinent part:

Every employer shall pay to each of his employees who in any workweek is engaged
in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce, or is employed in an
enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce, wages at
the following rates:

(1) except as otherwise provided in this section, not less than--

(A) $5.85 an hour, beginning on the 60th day after May 25, 2007;

(B) $6.55 an hour, beginning 12 months after that 60th day; and

(C) $7.25 an hour, beginning 24 months after that 60th day;

95. 29 U.S.C. § 207 requires that Defendants pay all employees overtime wages for all

overtime hours worked. 29 U.S.C. § 207(a) provides in pertinent part:

... no employer shall employ any of his employees who in any workweek is engaged in
commerce or in the production of goods for commerce, or is employed in an enterprise
engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce for a workweek
longer than forty hours unless such employee receives compensation for his
employment in excess of the hours above specified at a rate of not less than one and
one-half times the regular rate at which he is employed.

96. Like other dancers working at the Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs, Defendants failed to

pay Plaintiffs the minimum and overtime wages set forth in 29 U.S.C. §§ 206-207, or any wages

whatsoever. In fact, Defendants required that dancers like Plaintiffs actually pay them in order to work.

97. Defendants failed to pay dancers like Plaintiffs a minimum or overtime wage

throughout the relevant time period because Defendants misclassified them as independent

contractors.

98. The amounts paid to exotic dancers, like Plaintiffs, by patrons in relation to dances

performed were tips, not wages. Those monies were not the property of Defendants. The entire amount

collected from patrons in relation to dances performed by exotic dancers was not made part of any of

Defendants’ gross receipts at any point.
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99. As a result, the amounts paid to dancers like Plaintiffs by patrons in relation to exotic

dances were tips, not wages or service fees, and no part of those amounts can be used to offset

Defendants’ obligation to pay dancers, like Plaintiff, minimum wages due. See e.g., Hart v. Rick's

Cabaret Int'l, Inc., 967 F. Supp. 2d 901, 934 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (granting summary judgment to exotic

dancers on the issue of whether dance fees offset a nightclub's wage obligations under the FLSA).

100. Further, no tip credit applies to reduce or offset any minimum wages due. The FLSA

only permits an employer to allocate an employee's tips to satisfy a portion of the statutory minimum

wage requirement provided that the following conditions are satisfied: (1) the employer must inform

the tipped employees of the provisions of § 3(m) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(m); and (2) tipped

employees must retain all the tips received except those tips included in a tipping pool among

employees who customarily receive tips. 29 U.S.C. § 203(m).

101. Neither of these conditions was satisfied. Defendants did not inform dancers like

Plaintiffs of the provisions of § 3(m) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(m); and Plaintiffs did not retain

all the tips received except those tips included in a tipping pool among employees who customarily

receive tips. 29 U.S.C. § 203(m). Defendants never notified any dancers that their dance tips were

being used to reduce the minimum wages otherwise due under FLSA's tip-credit provisions and that

they were still due the reduced minimum wage for tipped employees. Rather, Defendants maintained

that no dancers were ever due any minimum wages due to their classification as independent

contractors and were paid none.

102. Further, Defendants’ requirement that dancers like Plaintiffs share their tips and: (i)

pay Defendants a portion of all dance tips as "rent"; and (ii) also pay a percentage of their tips as "tip-

outs" to other employees who do not customarily receive tips, such as managers, checkers, DJs and

bouncers/doormen/floor walkers, was not part of a valid tip-sharing arrangement.

103. Based on the foregoing, Plaintiffs are entitled to the full statutory minimum wages set

forth in 29 U.S.C. §§ 206 and 207 for all periods in which they worked at the Déjà Vu Affiliated

Nightclubs, along with all applicable penalties, liquidated damages, and other relief.

104. Defendants’ conduct in misclassifying dancers like Plaintiffs as independent

contractors was intentional, willful, and done to avoid paying minimum and overtime wages and the
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other benefits that they were legally entitled to.

105. The FLSA provides that a private civil action may be brought for the payment of federal

minimum and overtime wages and for an equal amount in liquidated damages in any court of

competent jurisdiction by an employee pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) (“Any employer who violates

the provisions of section 206 or section 207 of this title shall be liable to the employee or employees

affected in the amount of their unpaid minimum wages, or their unpaid overtime compensation, as the

case may be, and in an additional equal amount as liquidated damages.”). Moreover, Plaintiffs may

recover attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in enforcing their rights pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).

106. 12 U.S.C. § 21 l(c) provides in pertinent part:

(c) Records

Every employer subject to any provision of this chapter or of any order issued under
this chapter shall make, keep, and preserve such records of the persons employed by
him and of the wages, hours, and other conditions and practices of employment
maintained by him, and shall preserve such records for such periods of time, and shall
make such reports therefrom to the Administrator as he shall prescribe by regulation or
order as necessary or appropriate for the enforcement of the provisions of this chapter
or the regulations or orders thereunder.

107. 29 C.F.R.§ 516.2 and 29 C.F.R. § 825.500 further require that every employer shall

maintain and preserve payroll or other records containing, without limitation, the total hours worked

by each employee each workday and total hours worked by each employee each workweek.

108. To the extent Defendants failed to maintain all records required by the aforementioned

statutes and regulations, and failed to furnish Plaintiffs comprehensive statements showing the hours

that they worked during the relevant time period, it also violated the aforementioned laws causing

Plaintiffs damage.

109. When the employer fails to keep accurate records of the hours worked by its employees,

the rule in Anderson v. Mt. Clemens Pottery Co., 328 U.S. 680, 687-688 (1946) is controlling. That

rule states:

...where the employer's records are inaccurate or inadequate ... an employee has carried
out his burden if he proves that he has in fact performed work for which he was
improperly compensated and if he produces sufficient evidence to show the amount
and extent of that work as a matter of just and reasonable inference. The burden then
shifts to the employer to come forward with evidence of the precise amount of work
performed or with evidence to negative the reasonableness of the inference to be drawn
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from the employee's evidence. If the employer fails to produce such evidence, the court
may then award damages to the employee, even though the result be only approximate.

110. The Supreme Court set forth this test to avoid placing a premium on an employer's

failure to keep proper records in conformity with its statutory duty, thereby allowing the employer to

reap the benefits of the employees’ labors without proper compensation as required by the FLSA.

Where damages are awarded pursuant to this test, “[t]he employer cannot be heard to complain that

the damages lack the exactness and precision of measurement that would be possible had he kept

records in accordance with ... the Act.” Id.

111. Based on the foregoing, Plaintiffs seek unpaid minimum wages at the required legal

rate for all working hours during the relevant time period, back pay, restitution, damages,

reimbursement of any base rent and tip-sharing, liquidated damages, prejudgment interest calculated

at the highest legal rate, attorneys’ fees and costs, and all other costs, penalties, and other relief allowed

by law.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of Calif. Labor Code §§ 1194, 1197, 1198, and 1199

Failure to Pay Minimum Wage as Required by State Law
(By the California Class)

112. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein.

113. Defendants’ conduct, as set forth above, in failing to pay their dancers minimum wage

for all hours worked as required by California law, violates Cal. Lab. Code §§ 1197 and 1194.

114. California Labor Code § 1194(a) provides for a private right of action for nonpayment

of wages, and further provides that a plaintiff may recover the unpaid balance of the full amount of

such wages, together with costs of suit, as well as liquidated damages, interest thereon, and the

attorneys’ fees and costs incurred. California Labor Code § 1194.5 further grants courts the authority

to enjoin violations of this statute.

115. At all relevant times, Defendants have willfully failed to pay Plaintiffs and class

members any wages whatsoever. Defendants have required that Plaintiffs and Class members actually

pay Defendants in order to be able to work at Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs.

116. Therefore, Plaintiffs seek, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated,

unpaid wages at the required legal rate, reimbursement of stage fees, liquidated damages, interest,
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attorneys’ fees and costs, and all other costs and penalties allowed by law. Plaintiffs further seek

injunctive relief to compel Defendants to recognize exotic dancers’ employee status, to provide all

payment guaranteed by law, and for this Court’s continuing jurisdiction to enforce compliance.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of Calif. Labor Code §§ 1194, 1198, 510, and 558

Failure to Pay Overtime as Required by State Law
(By the California Class)

117. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein.

118. At all times relevant to the Complaint, Wage Order No. 4 has required the payment of

an overtime premium for hours worked in excess of 8 hours in a workday, 40 hours in a workweek, or

on the seventh day worked in a single workweek.

119. During the relevant time period, Plaintiffs and the class members were employed by

Defendants within California but were not paid overtime wages for overtime hours worked.

120. Plaintiffs request that Defendants be required to pay them, and all those similarly

situated, all overtime wages illegally withheld, penalties as provided under the California Labor Code

including §§ 201-203, 510 and 1194.1(a) et seq., punitive/exemplary damages, and attorneys’ fees and

costs under California Labor Code § 218.5 and 1194(a).

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of Calif. Labor Code § 226 and IWC Wage Order 4-2001

Failure to Provide Itemized Wage Statements in Violation of Cal. Labor Code
(By the California Class)

121. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein.

122. Defendants have failed, and continue to fail, to provide timely, accurate itemized wage

statements to Plaintiffs and California Class members in accordance with California Labor Code § 226

and Wage Order No. 4. The wage statements that Defendants have provided to their exotic dancers,

including Plaintiffs and the proposed California Class members, do not accurately reflect the actual

hours worked and wages earned.

123. Defendants’ failure to provide timely, accurate, itemized wage statements to Plaintiffs

and members of the proposed California Class in accordance with the California Labor Code and the

California Wage Order has been knowing and intentional. Accordingly, Defendants are liable for

damages and penalties under California Labor Code § 226.
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FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of Calif. Labor Code §§ 201-203

Waiting Time Penalties
(By the California Class)

124. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein.

125. California Labor Code § 201(a) requires an employer who discharges an employee to

pay compensation due and owing to said employee upon discharge. California Labor Code § 202(a)

requires an employer to pay compensation due and owing within seventy-two (72) hours of an

employee’s termination of employment by resignation. California Labor Code § 203 provides that if

an employer willfully fails to pay compensation promptly upon discharge or resignation, as required

under §§ 201 and 202, then the employer is liable for waiting time penalties in the form of continued

compensation for up to thirty (30) work days.

126. Certain members of the proposed California Class are no longer employed by

Defendants but have not been paid full compensation for all hours worked, as alleged above. They are

entitled to unpaid compensation for all hours worked, and overtime, for which to date they have not

received compensation, and any applicable overtime.

127. Defendants have failed and refused, and continue to willfully fail and refuse, to timely

pay compensation and wages and compensation to Plaintiffs and members of the proposed California

Class whose employment with Defendants have terminated, as required by California Labor Code §§

201 and 202. As a direct and proximate result, Defendants are liable to all such California Class

members for up to thirty (30) days of waiting time penalties pursuant to California Labor Code § 203,

together with interest thereon.

128. WHEREFORE, pursuant to Labor Code §§ 218, 218.5, and 218.6, Plaintiffs and Class

members are entitled to recover the full amount of their unpaid wages, continuation wages under §

203, interest thereon, reasonable attorneys’ fees, and costs of suit.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of Calif. Labor Code § 204

Failure to Pay all Wages Owed Every Pay Period
(By the California Class)

129. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein.
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130. During the relevant time period, Plaintiffs and Class members have been employees of

Defendants covered by Labor Code § 204 but have been misclassified and not treated as employees.

131. Pursuant to Labor Code § 204, Plaintiffs and Class members were entitled to receive

on regular paydays all wages earned for the pay period corresponding to the payday.

132. Defendants have failed to pay Plaintiffs and Class members all wages earned each pay

period. On information and belief, at all times during the proposed class period, Defendants have

maintained a policy or practice of not paying Plaintiffs and Class members minimum wages for all

hours worked and overtime wages for all overtime hours worked.

133. As a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs and Class members have

suffered damages in an amount, subject to proof, to the extent they were not paid all wages and/or

compensation and/or penalties each pay period. The precise amounts of unpaid wages, compensation,

and/or penalties are not presently known to Plaintiffs but can be determined directly from Defendants’

records or indirectly based on information from Defendants’ records and/or information known by

class members.

134. WHEREFORE, pursuant to Labor Code §§ 218, 218.5 and 218.6, Plaintiffs and class

members are entitled to recover the full amount of their unpaid wages, interest thereon, reasonable

attorneys’ fees, and costs of suit.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of Calif. Labor Code § 226.7 and IWC Wage Orders

Rest Break Violations
(By the California Class)

135. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein.

136. Labor Code §§ 226.7 and paragraph 12 of the applicable IWC Wage Orders provide

that employers must authorize and permit all employees to take rest periods at the rate of ten minutes

net rest time per four work hours.

137. Plaintiffs and Class members consistently worked consecutive four hour periods during

their work shifts. Pursuant to the Labor Code and the applicable IWC Wage Orders, Plaintiffs were

entitled to paid rest breaks of not less than ten minutes for each consecutive four hour shift, or major

fraction thereof.
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138. Labor Code §§ 226.7 and paragraph 12 of the applicable IWC Wage Orders provide

that if an employer fails to provide an employee rest periods in accordance with this section, the

employer shall pay the employee one hour of pay at the employee’s regular rate of compensation for

each workday that the rest period is not provided.

139. Defendants failed to provide Plaintiffs with timely rest breaks of not less than ten

minutes for each consecutive four hour shift. Defendants failed to implement policies and practices

which accounted for and authorized and permitted Plaintiffs and the Class members to timely take all

required rest periods under California law. Defendants have therefore intentionally and improperly

denied rest periods to Plaintiffs and the Class members in violation of Labor Code § 226.7 and

paragraph 12 of the applicable IWC Wage Orders. Consequently, Defendants must pay rest period

wages and penalty premium wages as required under Labor Code § 226.7.

140. Defendants’ practice of not providing rest breaks or requiring employees to perform

work during their legally mandated rest periods without premium compensation is a violation of Labor

Code § 226.7 and the applicable IWC Wage Orders.

141. Additionally, Defendants failed to authorize and permit Plaintiffs and the Class

members to take paid rest periods, as required by the Labor Code, because Defendants failed to pay

an additional piece of compensation to account for the rest breaks. Instead, the only compensation the

Class received was in the form of tips that they earned. As such, no paid rest break was ever provided

under Defendants’ compensation structure. Defendants also did not compensate the Class with an

additional hour of pay at each Class member’s effective hourly rate for each day that Defendants failed

to provide them with adequate rest breaks, as required under Labor Code § 226.7.

142. Therefore, pursuant to Labor Code § 226.7 and paragraph 12 of the applicable IWC

Wage Orders, Plaintiffs and Class members are entitled to damages in an amount equal to one hour of

wages at their effective hourly rates of pay for each day worked without the required rest breaks, a

sum to be proven at trial, as well as the assessment of any statutory penalties against Defendants, and

each of them, in a sum as provided by the Labor Code and/or other statutes.

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of Calif. Labor Code §§ 226.7 and 512

Meal Break Violations
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(By the California Class)

143. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein.

144. Plaintiffs and the Class regularly worked shifts greater than five hours and greater than

ten hours. Pursuant to Labor Code § 512 an employer may not employ an employee for a shift of more

than five hours without providing him or her with a meal period of not less than 30 minutes or for a

shift of more than ten hours without providing him or her with a second meal period of not less than

30 minutes.

145. Defendants failed to provide Plaintiffs and the Class members with meal periods as

required by the Labor Code, including by not providing them with the opportunity to take meal breaks,

by providing them late or for less than 30 minutes, or by requiring them to perform work during breaks.

146. Defendants’ practice of not providing meal breaks or requiring employees to perform

work during their legally mandated meal periods without premium compensation is a violation of

Labor Code §§ 226.7 and 512, and the applicable IWC Wage Orders.

147. Labor Code § 226.7 and paragraph 11 of the applicable IWC Wage Orders also provide

that, if an employer fails to provide an employee a meal period in accordance with this section, the

employer shall pay the employee one hour of pay at the employee’s regular rate of compensation for

each workday that the meal period is not provided. Defendants failed to compensate Plaintiffs for each

meal period not provided or inadequately provided, as required under Labor Code § 226.7.

148. Therefore, pursuant to Labor Code § 226.7 and paragraph 11 of the applicable IWC

Wage Orders, Plaintiffs are entitled to damages in an amount equal to one hour of wages at their

effective hourly rates of pay for each meal period not provided or deficiently provided, a sum to be

proven at trial, as well as the assessment of any statutory penalties against the Defendants, and each

of them, in a sum as provided by the Labor Code and other statutes.

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of Calif. Labor Code § 221, 223 and 351

Collecting and Receiving Earned Tips from the Class
(By the California Class)

149. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein.

150. Labor Code § 221 provides, “It shall be unlawful for any employer to collect or receive

from an employee any part of wages theretofore paid by said employer to said employee.”
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151. Labor Code § 351 prohibits employers and their agents from sharing in or keeping any

portion of gratuity left for or given to one or more employees by a patron.

152. Defendants unlawfully received and/or collected wages from Plaintiffs by making

unlawful deductions from the wages paid to Plaintiffs and the Class by requiring them to “tip out” the

house at the end of their shifts.

153. Labor Code § 223 provides that where any statute or contract requires an employer to

maintain the designated wage scale, it shall be unlawful to secretly pay a lower wage while purporting

to pay the wage designated by statute or by contract. Labor Code § 225 further provides that the

violation of any provision of Labor Code §§ 221 and 223 is a misdemeanor.

154. Additionally, Defendants otherwise withheld and/or failed to pay all wages due and

owing to Plaintiffs and the Class. This includes requiring Plaintiffs and the Class to “tip out” the house

at the end of their shifts, or to otherwise turn their tips over to Defendants.

155. As a direct and proximate cause of the unauthorized deductions from wages, Plaintiffs

have been damaged, in an amount to be determined at trial.

TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Common Law Conversion
(By the California Class)

156. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein.

157. Defendants’ failure to give class members gratuities from customers that were given

and/or left for class members, as alleged above, constitutes common law conversion.

158. Defendants have assumed control and ownership over the above-referenced gratuities,

and applied them to its own use.

159. Plaintiffs and class members had a right of ownership and possession over the above-

referenced gratuities.

160. Defendants’ theft and retention of the above-referenced gratuities, without consent,

have caused Plaintiffs and class members significant financial harm.

161. In failing to pay said monies to Plaintiffs and class members and retaining that money

for its own use, Defendants have acted with malice, oppression, and/or conscious disregard for the

statutory rights of Plaintiffs and class members. Such wrongful and intentional acts, given the number
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of victims and the number of acts and previous claims and/or lawsuits relative to similar acts, justify

awarding Plaintiffs and class members punitive damages pursuant to California Civil Code § 3294 et

seq. in an amount sufficient to deter future similar conduct by Defendants.

ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of California’s Unfair Competition Law, Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 et seq.

(By the California Class)

162. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations of all the foregoing paragraphs by reference, as if

fully set forth herein.

163. Plaintiffs bring this action individually, on behalf of the Class, and on behalf of the

general public pursuant to § 17200 et seq. of the California Business and Professions Code (the “Cal.

Bus. & Prof. Code”), and the Unfair Competition Laws (“UCL”).

164. California Business and Professions Code § 17204 prohibits unfair competition,

defined as “any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice.” On behalf of the Class,

Plaintiffs seek compensation for the loss of their property and the personal financial impacts they have

suffered as a result of Defendants’ unfair business practices. Defendants’ conduct, as described above,

has been and continues to be deleterious to the Class, and Plaintiffs are seeking to enforce important

rights affecting the public interest within the meaning of California Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.5.

165. The conduct of Defendants, as described above, constitutes unlawful, unfair,

unconscionable and/or fraudulent business acts or practices which injured the Class members and

caused them loss of money.

166. The unlawful, unfair, unconscionable and/or fraudulent business acts or practices

adopted by Defendants, which injured the Class members and caused them loss of money, were

conducted by DVS and Mohney in material part in the state of California and emanated to their

business operations in California. Class members, therefore, were harmed and injured as a result of

DVS’s and Mohney’s conduct in California. As such, the UCL applies to the entire Class.

167. Defendants adopted unlawful business and employment policies, entered into

agreements and conspired amongst themselves (and with certain third parties in the enterprise who

own part of other Déjà Vu Affiliated Nightclubs) to engage in the above-described unlawful, unfair,

unconscionable and/or fraudulent business acts and practices in California and that conduct harmed
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Class members and caused them injury and financial loss. As such, the UCL applies to all such

transactions and dealings. All members of the Class have standing to assert UCL claims against DVS

and Mohney.

168. By failing to pay its employees minimum and overtime wages in violation of the FLSA

and California wage and hour laws, Defendants violated the UCL.

169. Violations of the FLSA are unlawful acts which are independently actionable under the

UCL. Wang v. Chinese Daily News (9th Cir. 08-56740 9/27 /1 O); In re Wells Fargo Home Mortgage

Litig., 527 F.Supp.2d 1053, 1066-69 (N.D. Cal. 2007). Such cases are certifiable as class actions under

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 where the unlawful, unfair, unconscionable and/or fraudulent business acts or

practices, which injured the Class, were conducted by DVS and Mohney in material part in the state

of California and emanated to their business operations in this state.

170. Unpaid wages constitute restitution of property earned by the employee.

171. By requiring Class members to share their tips (e.g., dance tips) with Defendants and/or

their employees (tip-outs) in violation of the FLSA and/or any other state or federal law or regulation,

as described above, Defendants engaged in unlawful, unfair, unconscionable and/or fraudulent

business acts or practices in violation of the UCL.

172. By attempting to have Class members waive, abridge or limit their rights under the

FLSA and/or other applicable wage and hour laws in order to work as exotic dancers at the Déjà Vu

Affiliated Nightclubs, Defendants engaged in unlawful, unfair, unconscionable and/or fraudulent

business acts or practices in violation of the UCL.

173. By threatening to retaliate against and penalize Class members for asserting their rights

under the FLSA and/or other applicable wage and hour laws (such as by terminating them, confiscating

their tips, and/or imposing other penalties and discrimination), Defendants engaged in unlawful,

unfair, unconscionable and/or fraudulent business acts or practices in violation of the UCL.

174. By failing to maintain employment records under the FLSA and/or other applicable

wage and hour laws, Defendants engaged in unlawful, unfair, unconscionable and/or fraudulent

business acts or practices in violation of the UCL.

175. The acts complained of herein, and each of them, constitute unfair, unlawful,
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unconscionable and/or fraudulent business practices in violation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et

seq. Defendants’ acts and practices described herein offend established public policies including, but

not limited to, those set forth in the FLSA and/or other applicable wage and hour laws (including Cal.

Labor Code § 356), and involve business practices that are immoral, unethical, oppressive, and/or

unscrupulous.

176. The unfair business practices set forth above have and continue to injure the Class and

the general public and cause injury and the loss of money, as described further within. These violations

have unjustly enriched Defendants at the expense of the Class. As a result, Plaintiffs, the Class and the

general public are entitled to restitution and an injunction.

177. Defendants’ conduct, as set forth above, violates the California Unfair Competition

Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq. Defendants’ conduct constitutes unlawful business acts

or practices, in that Defendants have violated California Labor Codes §§ 210, 226, 1194, 1197, and

2802, among other laws. As a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs and class members

suffered injury in fact and lost money and property, including, but not limited to unpaid wages, unpaid

minimum wages, and business expenses that dancers were required to pay. Pursuant to California

Business and Professions Code § 17203, Plaintiffs and class members seek to recover restitution.

Pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.5, Plaintiffs and class members who worked

for Defendants in California are entitled to recover reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses

incurred in bringing this action.

178. Defendants’ conduct, as set forth above, in failing to permit dancers to retain all

gratuities, including dance fees paid by customers, constitutes a violation of California Labor Code §

351. This violation is enforceable pursuant to the UCL, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq.

Defendants’ conduct constitutes unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent acts or practices, in that Defendants

have violated California Labor Code § 351 in not permitting dancers to retain all gratuities, including

dance fees, paid by customers. As a result of Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiffs and class members

suffered injury in fact and lost money and property, including the loss of gratuities to which they were

entitled. Pursuant to Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203, Plaintiffs and class members seek declaratory

and injunctive relief for Defendants’ unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent conduct and to recover
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restitution.

TWELVETH CAUSE OF ACTION
Private Attorneys General Act (“PAGA”)

Violation of Calif. Labor Code § 2698, et seq.
(By Plaintiffs as Aggrieved Employees)

179. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations of all the foregoing paragraphs by reference, as if

fully set forth herein.

180. Under The Labor Code Private Attorneys General Act (“PAGA”), an aggrieved

employee, on behalf of himself or herself and other current or former employees as well as the general

public, may bring a representative action as a private attorney general to recover penalties for an

employer’s violations of the California Labor Code and IWC Wage Orders. These civil penalties are

in addition to any other relief available under the Cal. Labor Code, and must be allocated 75% to

California’s Labor and Workforce Development Agency (“LWDA”) and 25% to the aggrieved

employee, pursuant to Cal. Labor Code § 2699.

181. Pursuant to Cal. Labor Code § 1198, Defendants’ failure to pay proper compensation

to Plaintiffs and the California Class, and failure to provide the California Class with accurate wage

statements, constitute violations of the Cal. Labor Code, each actionable under PAGA.

182. Plaintiffs allege, on behalf of themselves and the California Class, as well as the general

public, that Defendants have violated the following provisions of the Cal. Labor Code that are

actionable through the Cal. Labor Code and PAGA, as previously alleged herein: Cal. Labor Code §§

201, 202, 203, 221, 223, 226, 226.7, 510, 512, 1174, 1194, 1197, 1197.1, and 1198. Each of these

violations entitles Plaintiffs, as private attorneys general, to recover the applicable statutory civil

penalties on their own behalf, on behalf of all aggrieved employees, and on behalf of the general

public.

Cal. Labor Code § 2699(a), which is part of PAGA, provides in pertinent part:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, any provision of this code that provides
for a civil penalty to be assessed and collected by the Labor and Workforce
Development Agency or any of its departments, divisions, commissions, boards,
agencies, or employees, for a violation of this code, may, as an alternative, be recovered
through a civil action brought by an aggrieved employee on behalf of himself or herself
and other current or former employees pursuant to the procedures specified in § 2699.3.

Cal. Labor Code § 2699(f), which is part of PAGA, provides in pertinent part:
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For all provisions of this code except those for which a civil penalty is specifically
provided, there is established a civil penalty for a violation of these provisions, as
follows: … (2) If, at the time of the alleged violation, the person employs one or more
employees, the civil penalty is one hundred dollars ($100) for each aggrieved employee
per pay period for the initial violation and two hundred dollars ($200) for each
aggrieved employee per pay period for each subsequent violation.

183. Plaintiffs are entitled to civil penalties, to be paid by Defendants and allocated as PAGA

requires, pursuant to Cal. Labor Code § 2699(a) for Defendants’ violations of the Cal. Labor Code and

IWC Wage Orders for which violations a civil penalty is already specifically provided by law. Further,

Plaintiffs are entitled to civil penalties, to be paid by Defendants and allocated as PAGA requires,

pursuant to Cal. Labor Code § 2699(f) for Defendants’ violations of the Cal. Labor Code and IWC

Wage Orders for which violations a civil penalty is not already specifically provided.

184. Plaintiffs provided notice pursuant to California Labor Code § 2699.3. On June 4, 2018,

they informed the LWDA of their intention to file a class action lawsuit for violations of the California

Labor Code, including civil penalties recoverable under PAGA.

185. Sixty-five days have passed since the postmark date of Plaintiffs’ PAGA Notice, and

the LWDA has not provided notice to Plaintiffs regarding its intention to investigate the alleged

violations. As such, pursuant to California Labor Code § 2699.3(a)(2)(A), Plaintiffs have exhausted

the PAGA notice requirement and seek civil penalties under California Labor Code § 2698, et seq.

186. Under PAGA, Plaintiffs and the State of California are entitled to recover the maximum

civil penalties permitted by law for the violations of the Cal. Labor Code that are alleged in this

Complaint, including but not limited to penalties pursuant to Labor Code §§ 210, 225.5, 226.3, 558,

1174.5, 1197.1, and 2699(f).

187. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all California Class members, also request

further relief set forth herein.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for relief as follows:

a) For an order certifying that the First Cause of Action of this Complaint may be maintained
as a collective action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and requiring that Defendants identify
all members of the FLSA Collective and provide all locating information for members of
the FLSA Collective, and that notice be provided to all members of the FLSA Collective
apprising them of the pendency of this action and the opportunity to file Consents to
Become Party Plaintiffs thereto;
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b) For an order certifying that the Second through Eleventh Causes of Action of this
Complaint may be maintained as a class action pursuant to California Code of Civil
Procedure § 382 on behalf of the classes as defined herein and that notice of the pendency
of this action be provided to members of the proposed classes;

c) For an order designating Plaintiffs as class representatives for both the FLSA and
California state law claims and Plaintiffs’ attorneys as counsel for the FLSA Collective and
the proposed classes;

d) For an order awarding Plaintiffs, the FLSA Collective, and the proposed classes
compensatory damages and statutory damages (including liquidated damages on the FLSA
claims), including unpaid wages, overtime compensation, and all other sums of money
owed, together with interest on these amounts;

e) For preliminary, permanent, and mandatory injunctive relief prohibiting Defendants and
its officers and agents from committing the violations of law herein alleged in the future;

f) For a declaratory judgment that Defendants have violated the FLSA, California labor law,
and public policy as alleged herein;

g) For an order imposing all statutory and/or civil penalties provided by law, including
without limitation penalties under the California Labor Code and PAGA;

h) For exemplary and punitive damages, as appropriate and available under each cause of
action, pursuant to California Civil Code § 3294;

i) For all unpaid minimum and overtime wages due to Plaintiffs and each class member;

j) For an order enjoining Defendants from further unfair and unlawful business practices in
violation of the UCL;

k) Disgorgement of profits;

l) For an order awarding restitution of the unpaid minimum, regular, overtime, and premium
wages due to Plaintiffs and class members;

m) For pre- and post-judgment interest;

n) For an award of reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses and costs as provided by the FLSA,
29 U.S.C. § 216(b); California Labor Code §§ 218.5, 226(e) and (h), 1194, and 2699;
California Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.5; and/or other applicable law;

o) For all costs of suit; and

p) For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

JURY TRIAL DEMAND

Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury for all of the claims asserted in this Complaint so triable.

DATED: [INSERT] Respectfully submitted,
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By: /s/ Trenton R. Kashima

Trenton R. Kashima, Esq. (SBN 291405)
tkashima@sommerspc.com
402 West Broadway, Suite 1760
San Diego, California 92101
Telephone: (619) 762-2126
Facsimile: (619) 762-2123

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
and the Putative Classes
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CLASS ACTION/COLLECTIVE ACTION SETTLEMENT NOTICE

Jane Roes 1-2 et al. v. SFBSC Management, LLC, et al.
United States District Court for the Northern District of California

Case No. 3:14-cv-03616-LB

Jane Roe, et al. v. Deja Vu Services, et al.,
United States District Court for the Northern District of California

Case No. 19-cv-03960-LB

YOU MAY BE ENTITLED TO RECEIVE MONEY UNDER A PROPOSED
SETTLEMENT

THIS NOTICE MAY AFFECT YOUR RIGHTS

PLEASE READ THE ENTIRE NOTICE CAREFULLY

A court authorized this notice. This is not a solicitation.
This is not a lawsuit against you and you are not being sued.

However, your legal rights are affected whether you act or not.

<<Class Member Name>>
<<Street Address>>
<<City, State Zip>>

You are receiving this Class Action/Collective Action Settlement Notice (the “Notice”)
because you are entitled to participate in a class action/collective action Settlement; you
are what is referred to as a “Class Member.” The purpose of this Notice is to provide a
brief description of the claims alleged in the case, inform you about the proposed
Settlement, and advise you of your rights and options with respect to the Settlement.

If you take no action and the Court approves the Settlement, you will automatically be
mailed a settlement check (or series of checks) for your share of the Settlement. You will
be bound by the Settlement unless you take action to exclude yourself in the manner
described in this Notice.

WHY IT IS IMPORTANT TO READ THIS NOTICE:

The United States District Court for the Northern District of California has approved the
sending of this Notice regarding the proposed Settlement of the class action/collective
action known as Jane Roes 1-2 et al. v. SFBSC Management, LLC, et al. United States
District Court for the Northern District of California Case No. 3:14-cv-03616-LB, and the
related case of Jane Roe, et al. v. Deja Vu Services, et al., United States District Court
for the Northern District of California Case No. 19-cv-03960-LB (collectively, the
“Action”).

Because your rights may be affected by this Settlement, it is extremely important that you
read this Notice carefully. You are a “Class Member” in this Action.
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SUMMARY OF YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS AND OPTIONS IN THIS SETTLEMENT

(SEE PAGE [INSERT] FOR MORE DETAILS)
DO NOTHING If you do nothing, you will automatically be issued a Cash Payment in

the form of a mailed check, or a series of checks over time, for your
share of the Settlement funds, which will release all of your claims
under California state law and under the Fair Labor Standards Act
(“FLSA”).

SUBMIT A

DANCE FEE

PAYMENT

ELECTION

FORM

You may choose to receive Dance Fee Payments in lieu of a Cash
Payment by performing at one of the Clubs subject to this Settlement.
To do so, you must complete, sign, and date the Dance Fee Payment
Election Form that is enclosed, as described below. If you select to
receive Dance Fee Payments you will release all claims brought in this
Action, or that could have been pleaded based upon the factual
allegations set forth in this Action, including claims under the FLSA.
The amount of compensation that you will receive as part of the
Settlement WILL BE THE SAME regardless of whether you do
nothing and are then issued a check (or a series of checks) for a Cash
Payment, or whether you select to obtain Dance Fee Payments.

EXCLUDE

YOURSELF

(“OPT OUT”)

You may exclude yourself from the Settlement by submitting a letter as
described below. If you request to be excluded, you will not be
releasing any claims, except that claims for penalties authorized under
the California Private Attorney’s General Act (“PAGA”) will be
released regardless of whether you exclude yourself or not. If you
exclude yourself, you may not object to the Settlement.

OBJECT You can object to the Settlement as described below and ask the Court
to reject the Settlement. You may also appear at the Final Approval
Hearing, either in person or through your own attorney. If you submit
an objection, you do not need to come to Court to discuss it. So long as
it is a timely and valid objection, the Court will consider it. You cannot
object to the Settlement if you have excluded yourself from the
Settlement.

[INSERT TABLE OF CONTENTS]

WHAT THE CASE IS ABOUT:

The United States District Court for the Northern District of California is presiding over
the Action. The Plaintiffs are individuals who have worked, pursuant to a dancer contract,
at one or more of the nightclubs listed on Exhibit A to this Notice (referred to in this
Notice as the “Clubs”) during the time period from August 8, 2010 to November 16,
2018 for entertainers who performed at one or more of the “San Francisco Clubs” and the
time period from February 8, 2017 to November 16, 2018 for entertainers who performed
at one or more of the “Greater California Clubs” (collectively, the periods of time
referred to as the “Class Periods”). The Defendants are SFBSC Management, LLC, Deja
Vu Services, Inc., Harry Mohney, and all of the Clubs and other entities listed on Exhibit
A(collectively, the “Defendants”). Plaintiffs allege that the Defendants are responsible for
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alleged violations of certain labor laws in regard to their operation of the Clubs.
Defendants have denied any wrongdoing of any kind with respect to the Action and assert
that they have complied with all applicable laws at all times.

Through the Action, Plaintiffs have alleged claims against Defendants for: (1) failure to
pay minimum wages and overtime wages in violation of the FLSA; (2) failure to pay
straight time for hours worked in violation of California Labor Code §§ 1194, 1194.2,
1197, 1197.1, 1198 and IWC Wage Order Nos. 4, 5, and/or 10; (3) failure to pay
minimum wage for all hours worked in violation of the San Francisco Minimum Wage
Ordinance; (4) failure to pay overtime as required by California state law in violation of
California Labor Code §§ 510, 558, 1194, and 1198 and Wage Order Nos. 4, 5 and/or 10;
(5) failure to provide itemized wage statements in violation of California Labor Code
§ 226 and IWC Wage Orders; (6) waiting time penalties under California Labor Code §§
201, 202, and 203, and seeking remedies pursuant to Labor Code §§ 203, 218, 218.5, and
218.6; (7) failure to pay all wages owed every pay period under California Labor Code §
204, and seeking remedies pursuant to Labor Code §§ 218, 218.5 and 218.6; (8) common
law conversion; (9) failure to reimburse for expenses in violation of Cal. Labor Code §§
450, 2802; (10) violation of California’s Unfair Competition Law, Bus. & Prof. Code §§
17200 et seq.; (11) for violation of several provisions of the California Labor Code for
which Plaintiffs are seeking recovery of civil penalties under the Labor Code Private
Attorneys General Act of 2004, California Labor Code § 2698 et seq. (“PAGA”),
including but not limited to Labor Code §§ 201, 202, 204, 210, 223, 226, 226.3, 226.8,
245-249, 351, 353, 432.5, 450, 510, 558, 1174, 1194, 1194.2, 1194.5, 1197, 1197.1,
1198, 1199, 2753, 2802, 3700, 3700.5, 3712, 3715, and Wage Order Nos. 4, 5, and/or 10.
Plaintiffs have sought various forms of relief, including but not limited to: wages,
overtime pay, minimum wage, premium pay, penalties, interest, liquidated damages,
attorneys’ fees and costs, and equitable relief. Plaintiffs have claimed that the alleged
violations of law occurred during the Class Periods.

If you wish to learn more details regarding the claims at stake in the Action, please
review the complaints for the Action, which are available at [insert settlement website].
In addition, certain capitalized words and phrases in this Notice, which are not defined in
this document, are defined in the Settlement Agreement, which can also be found on that
website.

Plaintiffs have contended that this Action is suitable for class treatment. Defendants have
vigorously denied that they violated any laws and have denied that they engaged in any
wrongdoing. Defendants contend that they have complied with all applicable laws at all
times and also dispute Plaintiffs’ ability to maintain the case as a class or collective
action, arguing that, among other things, each of Plaintiffs’ claims arise from very
individualized and unique circumstances which would require numerous individualized
inquiries.

In an effort to resolve their disputes, the parties mediated this case with the assistance of
an impartial mediator. The mediation resulted in this Settlement. The Court has not ruled
on the merits of Plaintiffs’ claims or Defendants’ defenses. Although Defendants deny all
of the Plaintiffs’ allegations, deny that they violated the law, and deny that the Action
should be maintained as a class action, they have chosen to resolve this matter based
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upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Settlement Agreement now before the
Court for approval in order to avoid further expenditures of time and money litigating
these matters. By entering into this Settlement, Defendants do not admit any liability or
wrongdoing of any kind.

THE PARTIES AND THE ATTORNEYS IN THIS CASE:

The “Class” for the Settlement is defined as all persons who, during the Class Periods,
have performed as exotic dancers at one or more of the Clubs pursuant to a Dancer
Contract, but does not include those who provided services as “headliner” or “feature”
performers unless such individual was otherwise a party to a Dancer Contract with a
Club. “Dancer Contract” means a contract entered into between a Class Member and a
Club, which permitted the Class Member to engage in personal dance sales for
remuneration at the Club’s premises. The Class is comprised of approximately [insert
number] people.

The lead attorneys for the Settlement Class (the group of Class Members who do not
exclude themselves from the Settlement) are:

Sommers Schwartz, P.C.
Jason Thompson

One Towne Square, 17th Floor
Southfield, MI 48076

Telephone: (248) 415-3176

Pitt, McGehee, Palmer, Bonanni & Rivers, P.C
Megan Bonanni

117 West 4th Street, Suite 200
Royal Oak, MI 48067

Telephone: (248) 939-5081

The Tidrick Law Firm LLP
Steven G. Tidrick, Esq.

Joel B. Young, Esq.
1300 Clay Street, Suite 600

Oakland, CA 94612
Telephone: 510-788-5100

If you do not request exclusion (as explained later in this Notice), the lawyers above will
represent you automatically. The Court has decided that the lawyers listed above, also
known as “Class Counsel,” are qualified to represent you and all Class Members.
However, nothing prohibits you from consulting with or retaining your own attorney at
your own personal expense.

THE SETTLEMENT:

The following is a summary of monetary terms of the proposed Settlement:
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1. Gross Amount of the Settlement

Defendant has agreed to provide five million five hundred thousand dollars ($5,500,000),
consisting of Cash Payments, Dance Fee Payments, Enhancement Payments, PAGA
Payments, Administrative Costs, Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses, and changes to the
Defendants’ business practices.

2. Distribution of the Settlement Funds

The following is a summary of how settlement funds will be distributed, if approved by
the Court:

a. Cash Pool: The sum of $4,000,000 to be paid by Defendants will provide cash
compensation to Class Members who neither exclude themselves from the
Settlement nor select to receive Dance Fee Payments, and to pay the Attorneys’
Fees and Expenses, the Enhancement Awards, the PAGA Payment, and the
Administrative Costs of the Settlement. Because of the impact of the global
pandemic upon the operation of the Clubs, the Settlement Agreement provides for
the Cash Pool to be funded over a period of two years. The earliest that a portion
of your Cash Payment could be sent to you, if you do not decide to obtain your
Settlement Payment in the form of Dance Fee Payments, would be April 1, 2022.
If you want to understand the Cash Pool funding obligations, the conditions that
apply to those funding obligations, and provisions for distributions from the Cash
Pool, review Sections 5.3 - 5.5 of the Settlement Agreement, which can be found
at: [insert settlement website].

b. Dance Fee Pool: Defendants shall make five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000)
available for use as Dance Fee Payments. They are to be made available
immediately upon the Settlement becoming Final.

c. Enhancement Payment: Class Counsel will ask the court to award various Class
Members a service award of up to $35,000 for their service and assistance to the
Class in procuring this Settlement.

d. The PAGA Payment: Defendants shall pay, as consideration for settlement of
alleged civil penalties due pursuant to PAGA, the sum of one hundred twenty-five
thousand dollars ($125,000), which shall resolve all PAGA Claims. Seventy-five
percent (75%) of this, or ninety-three thousand seven hundred fifty dollars
($93,750), shall be paid out of the Cash Pool to the California Labor & Workforce
Development Agency (the “LWDA”). The remaining twenty-five percent (25%),
or thirty-one thousand two hundred fifty dollars ($31,250), shall be distributed out
of the Cash Pool.

e. Administrative Costs: Funds estimated at no more than $90,000 shall be paid to
the Settlement Administrator for the administrative costs of settlement, including
but not limited to the preparation and copying of this Notice, mailing of this
Notice, and other administrative tasks.
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f. Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses: Class Counsel will apply to the Court for an award
of: (1) attorneys’ fees in an amount that does not exceed thirty-five percent (35%)
of the settlement consideration; and (2) up to eighty thousand dollars ($80,000) in
litigation expenses.

g. Changes to Defendants’ Business Practices: As a result of the Settlement, the
Nightclubs agreed to treat all entertainers who would be performing in their
facilities in the future as employees in accordance with applicable law and subject
to various “Enhanced Terms of Employment” (such as certain Dance Fee
commissions) through at least the one-year anniversary after the Final Approval
Date of the Settlement. Such changes to Defendants’ business practices are being
valued at a minimum of $1,000,000.

h. All payments set forth herein, except for the payment to the LWDA in satisfaction
of Plaintiffs’ PAGA claim and the Dance Fee Payments, are payments for which
the Settlement Administrator shall issue IRS Form 1099-MISC statements to you,
the IRS, and to the state taxing authorities (as well as to Class Counsel and
Defense Counsel). Nothing in the Settlement or this Notice shall be construed as
Class Counsel, Defense Counsel, Defendants, or the Released Parties of the
Settlement, providing any advice to you regarding your payment of taxes for, or
the tax consequences of, participating in this Settlement; simply put, nothing in
this Notice or the Settlement is intended to be tax advice of any kind. You should
consult your tax advisor for any tax issues pertaining to this Settlement. In
addition, notwithstanding any payment that you may receive as part of this
Settlement, in the event that you perform at any of the Clubs in the future as an
employee under the terms of this Settlement, you are obligated to report to the
applicable Club all of the tip income that you earn in accordance with applicable
law, as well as to the IRS and state taxing authorities.

The Settlement Administrator shall determine your Settlement Payment and PAGA
Payment as follows:

a. The amount of your Settlement Payment shall be determined on a pro rata basis
by first dividing your Form 1099 Payments earned during the Class Periods into
the amount of Form 1099 Payments earned by all Settlement Class Members
during the Class Periods, and then multiplying that number by the combined sum
of the Net Cash Fund and the Dance Fee Pool. That amount shall then constitute
the Settlement Payment that you are entitled to receive irrespective of whether
you obtain a Cash Payment or decide to receive Dance Fee Payments.

b. The amount of your PAGA Payment shall be determined on a pro rata basis by
first dividing your Form 1099 Payments earned during the Class Periods into the
amount of Form 1099 Payments earned by all Settlement Class Members during
the Class Periods, and then multiplying that number by the Settlement Class
Members’ PAGA Payment.
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c. Based on the information provided to the Settlement Administrator, it has
determined that your total Form 1099 Payments earned during the Class Periods
is: [insert amount].

The description above is a summary. If you wish to review the specific terms of
Settlement in detail, please review the entirety of the Settlement Agreement which, again,
is available at: [insert settlement website].

RELEASES OF CLAIMS:

Because this Action is a class action under Rule 23 of the Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
and a collective action under the FLSA, there are two sets of releases, which are
summarized below.

(1) Even if you do not sign, deposit, and/or cash any of your Settlement Checks,
or if you elect to receive Dance Fee Payments, you will still be a part of the
Settlement Class. You will be bound by the Settlement as summarized below
in the section entitled “Settlement Class Members’ Released Claims,” unless
you have timely excluded yourself in the manner described in this Notice.

(2) If you are issued a check for a Cash Payment, and/or elect to receive Dance
Fee Payments, you will become a party plaintiff pursuant to Section 216(b) of
the FLSA and will be subject to the release summarized below in the section
entitled “Participating Class Members’ Released Claims.”

1. Settlement Class Members’ Released Claims

Even if you do not sign, deposit, and/or cash your settlement check, or if you elect to
receive Dance Fee Payments, and if you do not exclude yourself in the manner described
below, you will release the following claims: Any and all Claims that are based on or
reasonably related to the Claims asserted in the Action, including as are set forth in the
Amended Complaints for Settlement, which are available at [insert settlement website],
with the exception of claims under the FLSA. As detailed in the Settlement
Agreement, this release includes all Claims based on or reasonably related to the Claims
asserted in the Action, including without limitation Claims under state law for unpaid
minimum wage, unpaid overtime, unpaid final wages, unpaid meal and rest period
premium pay, and reimbursement of expenses; to recover unpaid tips; for penalties under
PAGA; as well as all Claims for interest, penalties, liquidated damages, or attorneys’ fees
and costs.

2. Participating Class Members’ Released Claims

If you are issued a check for a Cash Payment and/or elect to receive Dance Fee
Payments, you will release all of the Claims described in the above section entitled
“Settlement Class Members’ Released Claims,” and all Claims that have been or could
have been brought in this Action under the FLSA.

This is a summary of the releases. If you wish to review the releases in detail, please
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review the Settlement Agreement, which is available at: [insert settlement website].

WHAT TO DO IN RESPONSE TO THIS NOTICE:

You have the options described below. Each option has its own consequences, which
you should understand before making your decision. Your rights regarding
each option, and the procedure you must follow to select each option, follow.

1. Do Nothing. If you do nothing and the Court approves the Settlement, you will
automatically be mailed a check (or series of checks) for a Cash Payment and for
your PAGA Payment. You will remain a part of the case and you will release
claims that were or could have been brought in the Action, as set forth more fully
in the section of this Notice above entitled “Settlement Class Members’ Released
Claims” and “Participating Class Members’ Released Claims.”

2. Submit a Dance Fee Payment Election Form. You may complete, sign, and
date the Dance Fee Payment Election Form that is enclosed with this Notice and
submit it to the Settlement Administrator postmarked by [INSERT DATE sixty
(60) calendar days AFTER MAILING OF NOTICE]. By doing this, you will
waive your right for to obtain a Cash Payment and you will, instead, be entitled to
receive Dance Fee Payments from one of the Clubs (in addition to your PAGA
Payment). The Dance Fee Payment Election Form describes both of these options
in more detail. You will release all Claims brought in the Action or that could
have been pleaded based upon the factual allegations set forth in the Action, as is
discussed more fully in the section of this Notice entitled “Participating Class
Members’ Released Claims.”

3. Exclude Yourself. You may exclude yourself from the Settlement by submitting
a letter in accordance with the directions in this paragraph. This is the only option
that could allow you to bring your own lawsuit or claim under California state
law, or to be a part of another lawsuit against the Defendants making such
Claims; however, even if you exclude yourself from the Settlement, you and all
other Class Members will still be bound by a release of Claims under PAGA. To
exclude yourself from the Settlement, you must send your request to be excluded
by mail, email, or submission via the Settlement Website, which includes the
words “I request to be excluded from the Settlement,” to the Settlement
Administrator’s mailing address or email address, or to the Settlement Website,
listed at the end of this Notice. You must sign the letter and include your full
name, address, and telephone number on any submission. If you make this request
by mailed letter, it must be postmarked no later than [INSERT DATE sixty
(60) calendar days AFTER MAILING OF NOTICE]. Similarly, a request for
exclusion submitted by email or via the Settlement Website must be received no
later than [INSERT DATE sixty (60) calendar days AFTER MAILING OF
NOTICE]. Excluding yourself is telling the Court that you don’t want to be part
of the Settlement Class. If you exclude yourself, you have no basis to object
because the Action no longer affects you.
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4. Object. You can ask the Court to deny approval by filing an objection. You
cannot ask the Court to order a larger settlement; the Court can only approve or
deny the Settlement. If the Court denies approval, no Settlement Payments will be
sent out, no settlement benefits will be provided by the Defendants, and the
Action will continue. If that is what you want to happen, you must object. If you
are going to object to the Settlement, you must do so in writing. You may also
appear at the Final Approval Hearing, either in person or through your own
attorney. If you appear through your own attorney, you are responsible for paying
that attorney. All written objections and supporting papers must contain at least
the following: (i) your full name, or, if you wish to preserve your right to privacy,
the name or names under which you performed at a Club or Clubs, and the
location (city) of such Club(s), (ii) you or your legally authorized representative’s
signature, (iii) the address and telephone number at which you or your legally
authorized representative can be contacted; (iv) a clear reference to the Action; (v)
the nature of the objection; and (vi) a statement whether you intend to appear at
the hearing on Plaintiffs’ motion for Final Approval, either in person or through
counsel and, if through counsel, a statement identifying that counsel by name, bar
number, address, and telephone number. Objections must be mailed to the
Settlement Administrator postmarked on or before [INSERT DATE sixty (60)
calendar days AFTER MAILING OF NOTICE]. If you submit an objection,
you do not have to come to Court to talk about it. As long as you submit a timely,
valid written objection, the Court will consider it. If you exclude yourself from
the Settlement, you may not object.

FINAL APPROVAL HEARING ON PROPOSED SETTLEMENT

The Final Approval Hearing on the fairness and adequacy of the proposed Settlement, the
plan of distribution, Class Counsel’s request for attorneys’ fees and costs, and the request
for Enhancement Payments, will be held on [DATE], at [TIME a.m./p.m.], at the United
States District Court for the Northern District of California, San Francisco Courthouse,
450 Golden Gate Avenue, San Francisco, California, 15th Floor, in Courtroom C. The
Final Approval Hearing may be rescheduled to a different date, time, or location without
further notice. It is not necessary for you to appear at this hearing unless you have timely
filed an objection to the Settlement and wish to be heard. The Court will not hear any
objections at such hearing unless such objections have been timely submitted in writing
as detailed in this Notice.

CLASS COUNSEL RECOMMEND THE SETTLEMENT:

The Settlement was reached with the assistance of an impartial mediator. Class Counsel
(the attorneys who were appointed by the Court to represent the Settlement Class)
strongly recommend that you accept the Settlement. The Defendants dispute all of the
Claims and have raised numerous defenses (including that all Claims must be brought by
each Entertainer in an individual arbitration proceeding) and have the ability to raise
numerous other defenses if the Settlement is not approved. In light of the substantial risk
that you might receive less, or nothing at all, if the case proceeds to trial (either in court
or in an arbitration proceeding), Class Counsel believe that the Settlement is in your best
interests and is a reasonable compromise of disputed claims.
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HOW TO OBTAIN ADDITIONAL INFORMATION:

This Notice only summarizes the class action lawsuits that comprise the Action, the
Settlement, and related matters. For the precise terms and conditions of the Settlement,
please see the Settlement Agreement available at [insert settlement website], by accessing
the Court docket in this case through the Court’s Public Access to Court Electronic
Records (PACER) system at https://ecf.cand.uscourts.gov (which may require payment of
a nominal fee), or by visiting the office of the Clerk of the Court for the United States
District Court for the Northern District of California, 450 Golden Gate Avenue, 16th

Floor, San Francisco, CA 94102, between 9:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m., Monday through
Friday, excluding Court holidays. The motion for attorneys' fees, costs, and Enhancement
Payments, will also be available on the websites specified above.

PLEASE DO NOT TELEPHONE THE COURT OR THE COURT CLERK’S
OFFICE TO INQUIRE ABOUT THIS SETTLEMENT, PROCEDURES TO
EXCLUDE YOURSELF FROM THE SETTLEMENT OR TO OBJECT TO IT,
OR THE CLAIMS PROCESS.

IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS ABOUT THIS NOTICE OR THE SETTLEMENT,
PLEASE CALL THE SETTLEMENT ADMINISTRATOR AT:

SFBSC/Deja Vu Services Settlement
c/o Name of Settlement Administrator

Address
City, State Zip

Telephone: [insert phone number]
Email: [insert email address]

Website: [insert settlement website]

You may also call Class Counsel:

The Tidrick Law Firm LLP
Steven G. Tidrick, Esq.

Joel B. Young, Esq.
1300 Clay Street, Suite 600

Oakland, CA 94612
Telephone: 510-788-5100

DATED: [Insert Date of Mailing]
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DANCE FEE PAYMENT ELECTION FORM

If you are a Class Member in Jane Roe v. SFBSC Management, LLC (the “San Francisco Action”) or
Jane Roe 1 and 2 v. Deja Vu Services, Inc. (the “San Diego Action”), you have the option to obtain
your Settlement Payment in the form of increased commissions, or Dance Fee Payments, by
performing at one of the Clubs listed below. Under this option, you will obtain 100% of the Dance
Fees you generate out of your services, up to the amount of your Settlement Payment.

You will have one (1) year from the Effective Date of the Settlement to obtain Dance Fee Payments.
If you do not obtain the full amount of your Settlement Payment during this one-year period, you will
receive a check for the balance. When the Effective Date of the Settlement occurs, the Clubs will
post the instructions, both in the Club dressing rooms and at the website at www. ______________,
of what you must do in order to begin collecting your Dance Fee Payments.

To be entitled to receive Dance Fee Payments you must complete and submit this Dance Fee
Payment Election Form by [insert date]. You have two options:

1. File Online: File online at www.___________.com; or
2. File by Mail: Complete and sign this form below and mail it to:

Settlement Administrator
XXXXXXXXXXXX

If you do not elect to receive Dance Fee Payments, you will be entitled to receive a Cash Payment
as your Settlement Payment (which you will receive in installment payments discussed below). The
amount you will be eligible to receive as a Cash Payment is the same as what you will be eligible to
receive as Dance Fee Payments. Cash Payments will be paid in up to three installments after the
Effective Date of the Settlement, beginning no sooner than April 2022. If there is an appeal from the
Court’s approval of the Settlement, Cash Payments will not start until the appeal is completed and
Court approval has been affirmed. Depending on whether an appeal is filed to the Settlement, you
may be able to obtain your Settlement Payment quicker by collecting Dance Fee Payments than by
receiving a Cash Payment in installment payments.

Please review Articles V, VI, and VII of the Release and Settlement Agreement for details regarding
Dance Fee Payments and Cash Fee Payments, a full copy of which is at www._______________.

COMPLETE FORM BELOW TO SELECT DANCE FEE PAYMENTS

Your Name ____________________________________________________________

Street Address ____________________________________________________________

City ______________________ State _________________ ZIP ________

E-mail Address ______________________________________________

These are the Potential Clubs at Which Dance Fee Payments May be Collected:
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THE PENTHOUSE CLUB & STEAKHOUSE SAN FRANCISCO
NEW CENTURY THEATRE SAN FRANCISCO
DEJA VU CENTERFOLDS SAN FRANCISCO
LITTLE DARLINGS OF SAN FRANCISCO SAN FRANCISCO
GOLD CLUB SAN FRANCISCO
LARRY FLYNT'S HUSTLER CLUB SAN FRANCISCO
CONDOR CLUB SAN FRANCISCO
GARDEN OF EDEN SAN FRANCISCO
ROARING 20'S SAN FRANCISCO
ADULT SUPERSTORE SAN DIEGO
DÉJÀ VU SHOWGIRLS CITY OF INDUSTRY
DÉJÀ VU SHOWGIRLS N. HOLLYWOOD
DEJA VU SHOWGIRLS RANCHO CORDOVA
DEJA VU OF LA - MAIN ST. LOS ANGELES
DEJA VU SHOWGIRLS TORRENCE
DÉJÀ VU SHOWGIRLS BAKERSFIELD
DEJA VU SHOWGIRLS LOS ANGELES
JOLAR CINEMA SAN DIEGO
LITTLE DARLINGS LEMON GROVE
DÉJÀ VU SHOWGIRLS SAN DIEGO
DÉJÀ VU SHOWGIRLS STOCKTON

I understand that by submitting this Dance Fee Payment Election Form, I consent to join, as
applicable to where and when I performed, the collective action(s) known as Jane Roe, et al. v.
SFBSC Management, LLC, Civil Case No. 3:14-cv-03616-LB and/or Jane Roe 1 and 2 v. Deja Vu
Services, Inc., et al., Civil Case No. 19-cv-03960-LB, as a party plaintiff.

________________________________________ ______________________________
Your Signature Date
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DANCE FEE PAYMENT REQUEST FORM

If you are a Settlement Class Member in Jane Roe v. SFBSC Management, LLC (the “San Francisco
Action”) and/or Jane Roe 1 and 2 v. Deja Vu Services, Inc. (the “San Diego Action”) (collectively, the
“Action”), and you elected to receive your Settlement Payment in the form of Dance Fee Payments, use
this form to obtain your Dance Fee Payments.

Dance Fee Payments may only be obtained at one of the Clubs subject to this Settlement, which are listed
on page 3, provided the Club is in operation. You cannot “split” your Dance Fee Payments among Clubs.
To obtain Dance Fee Payments you are required to do the following:

a) Schedule a day at the Club when you want to work to obtain your Dance Fee Payments; and

b) Fully complete, sign, date, and submit this Dance Fee Payment Request Form online at www.
_______________. If you have any questions, you may contact the manager of the Club at
which to intend to obtain your Dance Fee Payments.

You must electronically submit this form at least seven (7) business days before you intend to work
in order to obtain your Dance Fee Payments.

The last day that you can obtain Dance Fee Payments is . If you do not
take the steps above and have not obtained all of your Dance Fee Payments by this date, you will be entitled
to receive a Cash Payment in accordance with the installment payment terms set forth in the Settlement.

YOUR IDENTIFICATION INFORMATION

Settlement Personal ID # ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___

You can find this number on the top of the settlement notice you received. If you no longer have
that notice and need your Personal ID Number, e-mail the Settlement Administrator at:

Full Name:

Stage Name (or Names) used when you performed at any of the Clubs:

Street Address:

City: State: ZIP:

E-mail Address:

Social Security Number:

Club Where You Have Chosen to Obtain Your Dance Fee Payments:

Club Name:
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City and State where Club is located:

EXPLANATION OF YOUR DANCE FEE PAYMENTS

You are entitled to obtain 100% of the Dance Fees (the mandatory charges to customers for the
purchase of personal entertainment performances or sessions) that you generate out of your services
until the total amount of your Settlement Payment is reached. Clubs may limit the number of Dance
Fee Claimants receiving Dance Fee Payments on any one Date of Performance to seven (7) such
Entertainers on a first come/first served basis. Dance Fee Payments will be paid to you as additional
commissions ________________ and are subject to all legal tax withholding requirements.

Additional details regarding Dance Fee Payments and Cash Payments are in Articles V, VI, and VII of
the Release and Settlement Agreement; a copy of which can be reviewed at
www.______________________.

SIGNATURE

By signing this Dance Fee Payment Request Form, you make the following representations and
acknowledgements:

 I have not made a claim for or obtained a Cash Payment under the Settlement; and

 I am not receiving any tax advice from Class Counsel, Defense Counsel, or the Defendants,
and I understand that I should obtain my own tax advice in regard to the compensation I
receive by way of the Settlement.

Date: ________________ Name (Print): ___________________________

Signature: _______________________________
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3

LIST OF CLUBS

THE PENTHOUSE CLUB & STEAKHOUSE SAN FRANCISCO
NEW CENTURY THEATRE SAN FRANCISCO
DEJA VU CENTERFOLDS SAN FRANCISCO
LITTLE DARLINGS OF SAN FRANCISCO SAN FRANCISCO
GOLD CLUB SAN FRANCISCO
LARRY FLYNT'S HUSTLER CLUB SAN FRANCISCO
CONDOR CLUB SAN FRANCISCO
GARDEN OF EDEN SAN FRANCISCO
ROARING 20'S SAN FRANCISCO
ADULT SUPERSTORE SAN DIEGO
DÉJÀ VU SHOWGIRLS CITY OF INDUSTRY
DÉJÀ VU SHOWGIRLS N. HOLLYWOOD
DEJA VU SHOWGIRLS RANCHO CORDOVA
DEJA VU OF LA - MAIN ST. LOS ANGELES
DEJA VU SHOWGIRLS TORRENCE
DÉJÀ VU SHOWGIRLS BAKERSFIELD
DEJA VU SHOWGIRLS LOS ANGELES
JOLAR CINEMA SAN DIEGO
LITTLE DARLINGS LEMON GROVE
DÉJÀ VU SHOWGIRLS SAN DIEGO
DÉJÀ VU SHOWGIRLS STOCKTON

Case 3:14-cv-03616-LB   Document 239-1   Filed 02/11/22   Page 260 of 270



 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit G 

Case 3:14-cv-03616-LB   Document 239-1   Filed 02/11/22   Page 261 of 270



CLASS ACTION/COLLECTIVE ACTION SETTLEMENT NOTICE

Jane Roes 1-2 et al. v. SFBSC Management, LLC, et al.
United States District Court for the Northern District of California

Case No. 3:14-cv-03616-LB

Jane Roe, et al. v. Deja Vu Services, et al.,
United States District Court for the Northern District of California

Case No. 19-cv-03960-LB

 You may be entitled to receive compensation under a proposed settlement if: (1) you
worked at one of the “San Francisco” Nightclubs listed below between August 8, 2010
and November 16, 2018, or (2) you worked as an exotic dancer at one or more of the
“Greater California” nightclubs listed below between February 8, 2017 and November
16, 2018:

 San Francisco Nightclubs
o The Penthouse Club & Steakhouse
o New Century Theatre
o Hungry I
o Deja Vu Centerfolds
o Little Darlings
o Gold Club
o Larry Flynt's Hustler Club
o Condor Club
o Garden of Eden
o Roaring 20's

 Greater California Nightclubs
o Adult Superstore (San Diego)
o Déjà Vu Showgirls (City of Industry)
o Déjà Vu Showgirls (N. Hollywood)
o Deja Vu Showgirls (Rancho Cordova)
o Deja Vu Of La - Main St. (Los Angeles)
o Deja Vu Showgirls (Torrence)
o Déjà Vu Showgirls (Bakersfield)
o Deja Vu Showgirls (Los Angeles)
o Jolar Cinema (San Diego)
o Little Darlings (Lemon Grove)
o Déjà Vu Showgirls (San Diego)
o Déjà Vu Showgirls (Stockton)

 For more information regarding the settlement please visit [insert website].
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YOU MAY BE ENTITLED TO RECEIVE
MONEY OR DANCE FEE PAYMENTS

UNDER A PROPOSED CLASS ACTION
SETTLEMENT

 This club is a party to the settlement of two class and collection action
lawsuits: Jane Roes 1-2 et al. v. SFBSC Management, LLC, et al. (Case No.
3:14-cv-03616-LB) and Jane Roe 1 and 2 v. Deja Vu Services, Inc., et al.
(Civil Case No. 19-cv-03960-LB). Club management supports the
settlement and hopes eligible entertainers will get the benefits of the
settlement.

 The club and club management will not retaliate against you based on your
choice of whether or not to seek the benefits of the settlement or opt-out of
the settlement.

 If you do nothing and do not opt-out of the settlement, you will receive a
cash payment (payable in installments over a period of time). Alternatively,
you have the option to receive dance fee payments for 100% of your total
dance sales on future performance dates, but you must complete the “Dance
Fee Payment Election Form,” a copy of which is posted with this poster.

 Regardless of whether you receive a cash payment or dance fee payments,
the amount you will be entitled to receive under the settlement will be the
same.

 Details and information regarding the Settlement, including a copy of
the Release and Settlement Agreement, are available at
www._____________________.
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